Regulation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Cell Signaling and Endocytosis during Mitosis

by

Ping Wee

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Medical Sciences - Medical Genetics University of Alberta

© Ping Wee, 2018

Abstract

EGFR-mediated signaling has been studied extensively since the 1980s due to its importance in several types of cancers. The majority of the research however has focused on the actions of the EGFR during G0/G1 and has neglected to characterize EGFR outside of this cell cycle phase. In this thesis, I characterized EGFR signaling and endocytosis during the other phases of the cell cycle, mostly during mitosis. I characterized the differential regulation of various EGFR-mediated signaling pathways during mitosis, including the mechanism of ERK inhibition during mitosis. In addition, I showed that EGFR endocytosis during mitosis proceeds exclusively by non-clathrin mediated endocytosis, since EGFR endocytosis during mitosis is unaffected by clathrin knockdown and is much more dependent on the E3 ligase CBL than during interphase. Finally, I assayed for differences in the activation of EGFR and EGFRmediated pathways during the various cell cycle phases, specifically during G1, S, G2, prometaphase, metaphase, and anaphase/telophase. My work has contributed to a fuller understanding of EGFR signaling and endocytosis, which will be important, for example, to better understand modulations to the EGFR for pharmacological purposes.

Preface

Parts of Chapter 1 of this thesis has been published as P. Wee, and Z. Wang, 2017, "Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Cell Proliferation Signaling Pathways," *Cancers*, vol 9, issue 5, 52, doi:10.3390/cancers9050052. I wrote the review. Z. Wang was the supervisory author and was involved in manuscript composition.

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been published as P. Wee, H. Shi, J. Jiang, Y. Wang, Z. Wang, 2015, "EGF stimulates the activation of EGF receptors and the selective activation of major signaling pathways during mitosis," *Cellular Signalling*, vol 27, issue 3, 638-651. I was responsible for data collection and analysis as well as the manuscript composition. H. Shi, J. Jiang, Y. Wang assisted with the data collection. Z. Wang was the supervisory author and was involved with concept formation and manuscript composition.

Parts of Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published as P. Wee, and Z. Wang, 2017, "Cell Cycle Synchronization of HeLa Cells to Assay EGFR Pathway Activation," In: Wang Z. (eds) ErbB Receptor Signaling. Methods in Molecular Biology, vol 1652. Humana Press, New York, NY. I was responsible for manuscript composition. Z. Wang was the supervisory author and was involved in manuscript composition.

All other work in this thesis are my original work.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Zhixiang Wang. Your guidance and support throughout all of the years of my Ph. D program have been vital to my successes. I am extremely thankful that you took the chance to bring me into your lab many years ago and I am grateful for the training and for all our accomplishments along the way. It was a pleasure to learn from your keen eye and attention to detail.

Next, I would like to thank the members of my supervisory committee. Dr. Sarah Hughes, although you may not realize it, your guiding and motivating words, especially in your role as department Graduate Coordinator, have really stuck with me to shape the person I am today. Dr. David Brindley, I am thankful to have learned from your high standard of science. I am also grateful of your role in organizing STRG meetings, where I was able to make many connections, one of which undoubtedly helped me land a job right out of my Ph. D.

Thank you to the members of my Ph.D examining committee. I am especially thankful to Dr. Mary Hitt for not only serving on both my defense and candidacy examining committees, but for being my teaching mentor and giving me the chance to T.A. for such your great course. Thank you to my external examiner Dr. Brian Ceresa for the stimulating in-depth conversations on EGFR endocytosis. I hope that you find that CBL inhibitor!

It is also important for me to acknowledge outside sources of scholarships, including NSERC, FGSR, the Department of Medical Genetics, as well as various travel awards, including from WCHRI and the GSA.

I would also like to acknowledge past and present Wang Lab members. Xinmei Chen, thank you for your technical expertise in the lab, but also for your encouragement. Thanks to Junfeng Tong for your help with many techniques. I would also like to thank my Summer students, Jennifer Jiang and Yuluan Wang, for your hard work and contributions.

Thanks to the professors, staff, and colleagues of the Department of Medical Genetics for making the department a great place to come to work every day. A special thanks to the graduate students in the department and at the University for making grad school a fun time in my life. From discussing our work, to ski trips, to soccer, to paintballing, and wine nights, we truly made the most out of our grad school experience and I'm thankful to have shared many great moments with my friends.

I am also grateful for my support system outside of the lab. Thanks to my parents for making all of this possible. Thanks also to Uncle Sang and Aunt Lin for your support in Edmonton, and for being great friends.

Lastly, I owe my deepest gratitude to my wife and best friend. Your love and support during my graduate studies cannot be understated. I am looking forward to the rest of our lives together, as well as with the little one...

Table of Contents

| Abstractii |
|---------------------------------------|
| Prefaceiii |
| Acknowledgementsiv |
| Table of Contents |
| List of Tablesxii |
| List of Figures |
| List of Abbreviations xv |
| 1 Chapter 1 |
| 1.1 Introduction |
| 1.1.1 Role of EGFR |
| 1.1.2 EGFR Structure and Mutations |
| 1.2 EGFR Signal Transduction |
| 1.2.1 Ligand – EGF |
| 1.2.2 EGFR Dimerization7 |
| 1.2.3 Signaling Pathways7 |
| 1.2.4 EGFR Transautophosphorylation10 |
| 1.2.5 RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK MAPK Pathway 10 |
| 1.2.6 PI3K-AKT-mTOR Pathway12 |

| 1.2.7 | PLC-γ1-PKC Pathway | 15 |
|----------|---|----|
| 1.2.8 | SRC | 16 |
| 1.3 EC | GFR Endocytosis | 17 |
| 1.3.1 | Types of EGFR Endocytosis | 18 |
| 1.3.2 | Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis | 19 |
| 1.3.3 | Non-Clathrin Mediated Endocytosis | 21 |
| 1.3.4 | Ubiquitination | 22 |
| 1.3.5 | CBL | 24 |
| 1.3.6 | Endosomal Sorting | 27 |
| 1.4 Ce | ell Cycle | 28 |
| 1.4.1 | Cell Cycle | 28 |
| 1.4.2 | CDKs and Cyclins: Molecular Drivers of the Cell Cycle | 29 |
| 1.4.3 | Cell Cycle Checkpoints | 30 |
| 1.4.4 | EGFR and Cell Cycle | 32 |
| 1.5 H | ypothesis and Aims | 36 |
| 2 Chapte | er 2 | 38 |
| 2.1 Cl | hapter Abstract | 40 |
| 2.2 In | troduction | 41 |
| 2.3 M | aterials and Methods | 43 |
| 2.3.1 | Antibodies and Chemicals | 43 |

| | 2.3 | .2 | Cell Culture and Treatment | 4 |
|---|-----|------|---|----|
| | 2.3 | .3 | Immunoblotting | 5 |
| | 2.3 | .4 | RAS Activation Assay | 5 |
| 2.3.5 2.3.6 | | .5 | Indirect immunofluorescence | 6 |
| | | .6 | Immunoprecipitation | 6 |
| | 2.3 | .7 | Cell survival assay 4 | 6 |
| 2.4 R | | Re | sults 4 | 7 |
| | 2.4 | .1 | Collection of mitotic cells | 7 |
| | 2.4 | .2 | EGF-induced EGFR activation during mitosis 4 | 7 |
| 2.4.32.4.42.4.52.4.6 | | .3 | The effects of activated EGFR on PI3K/AKT pathway in M phase 4 | 9 |
| | | .4 | The effects of activated EGFR on PLC-y1, Cbl and c-Src in M phase 5 | 0 |
| | | .5 | The effects of activated EGFR on ERK activation in M phase | 2 |
| | | .6 | The mechanisms underlying the inactivation of ERK by EGF during mitosis | 5 |
| | | | 53 | |
| | 2.5 | Dis | scussion | 6 |
| | 2.6 | Co | nclusions | 51 |
| | 2.7 | Fig | gures 6 | 52 |
| 3 | Cha | ptei | r 3 8 | ;4 |
| | 3.1 | Ch | apter Abstract | 6 |
| | 3.2 | Int | roduction | ;7 |

| | 3.3 M | aterials and Methods | 89 |
|---|---------|---|-------|
| | 3.3.1 | Antibodies and chemicals | 89 |
| | 3.3.2 | Plasmid construction | 89 |
| | 3.3.3 | Cell Culture, transfection, and treatment | 90 |
| | 3.3.4 | Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting | 91 |
| | 3.3.5 | Indirect immunofluorescence | 92 |
| | 3.4 Re | esults | 93 |
| | 3.4.1 | CBL interaction with EGFR during mitosis | 93 |
| | 3.4.2 | Effects of altering CBL activity during mitosis | 94 |
| | 3.4.3 | Role of EGFR C-terminal domains for mitotic endocytosis | 95 |
| | 3.4.4 | Low EGF doses activate mitotic EGFR NCE | 96 |
| | 3.4.5 | Endocytic trafficking of mitotic EGFR | 98 |
| | 3.5 Di | iscussion | 99 |
| | 3.5.1 | The role of CBL in mitotic EGFR endocytosis | . 100 |
| | 3.5.2 | Mitosis and EGFR | . 102 |
| | 3.5.3 | Conclusion | . 105 |
| | 3.6 Fig | gures | . 105 |
| 4 | Chapte | er 4 | . 121 |
| | 4.1 Cł | napter Abstract | . 123 |
| | 4.2 In | troduction | 124 |

| 4.3 M | aterials and Methods126 |
|--|---|
| 4.3.1 | Antibodies and Chemicals |
| 4.3.2 | Cell Culture and Treatment |
| 4.3.3 | Immunoblotting127 |
| 4.3.4 | Indirect immunofluorescence |
| 4.3.5 | Flow Cytometry |
| 4.3.6 | Cell Synchronization |
| 4.4 Re | esults |
| 4.4.1 | Interphase Synchronization |
| 4.4.2 | Mitotic Synchronization |
| | |
| 4.4.3 | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi 5 Chapte | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion 137 gures 138 r 5 |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi 5 Chapte 5.1 Si | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion 137 gures 138 r 5 151 gnificance 152 |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi 5 Chapte 5.1 Si 5.1.1 | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion 137 gures 138 r 5 151 gnificance 152 Pharmacological Benefits 153 |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi 5 Chapte 5.1 Si 5.1.1 5.2 Fu | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion 137 gures 138 r 5 151 gnificance 152 Pharmacological Benefits 153 ture Directions 154 |
| 4.4.3 the Cell Cycl 4.5 Di 4.6 Fi 5 Chapte 5.1 Si 5.1.1 5.2 Fu 5.2.1 | Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout e 134 scussion 137 gures 138 r 5 151 gnificance 152 Pharmacological Benefits 153 ture Directions 154 ERMs 155 |

| 5.2.3 CDK Inhibitors | |
|-------------------------|--|
| 5.2.4 Protein Synthesis | |
| 5.3 Figures | |
| References | |

List of Tables

N/A

List of Figures

| Figure 1.1. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling pathways leading to G1/S cell |
|--|
| cycle progression activated by EGF activation9 |
| Figure 1.2. Model of EGFR-Ub threshold. EGFR ubiquitination is dependent on CBL-binding to |
| EGFR |
| Figure 2.1. Expression of Cyclin B1 and Cyclin E in interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP |
| cells |
| Figure 2.2. Characterization of EGFR phosphorylation following EGF stimulation in Hela H2B- |
| GFP cells |
| Figure 2.3. Characterization of EGFR phosphorylation following EGF stimulation in Cos7 and |
| CHO-EGFR, and Hela H2B-GFP cells |
| Figure 2.4. EGF-induced activation of PI3K-AKT pathway and the effects on cell survival |
| during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP cells |
| Figure 2.5. EGF-induced activation of PLC- 1, c-Cbl, and c-Src during interphase and mitosis |
| in Hela H2B-GFP cells |
| Figure 2.6. EGF-induced activation of ERK1/2 and their substrates RSK and Elk-1 during |
| interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells72 |
| Figure 2.7. Activation of ERK signaling pathways during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B- |
| GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells74 |
| Figure 2.8. EGF-induced activation of Ras and MEK during interphase and M phase in Hela |
| H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells |
| Figure 2.9. EGF-induced activation of Raf-1 during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP |
| cells |

| Figure 2.10. Schematic illustration of EGFR signaling pathways during mitosis and interphase.79 |
|---|
| Figure 3.1. CBL is activated by EGF-stimulation during mitosis |
| Figure 3.2. siRNA downregulation CBL inhibits mitotic endocytosis |
| Figure 3.3. The effects of downregulation and overexpression of CBL |
| Figure 3.4. The role of EGFR kinase activation in EGFR endocytosis |
| Figure 3.5. Necessity of EGFR's CBL-binding domains for EGFR endocytosis 114 |
| Figure 3.6. Effects of low EGF dose on mitotic EGFR endocytosis |
| Figure 3.7. Effects of low EGF dose on endocytosis in cells with CBL alterations |
| Figure 3.8. Ubiquitination and CBL-binding of EGFR during low EGF doses 118 |
| Figure 3.9. Mitotic EGFR is sorted to early endosomes119 |
| Figure 3.10. Model of EGFR endocytosis during mitosis |
| Figure 4.1. Cell synchronization protocols |
| Figure 4.2. Cell cycle analysis of interphase-synchronized HeLa cells |
| Figure 4.3. Western blotting of EGFR, ERK, and AKT during G1, S, G2, and M 142 |
| Figure 4.4. Western blotting of other EGFR-mediated proteins during G1, S, G2, and M 144 |
| Figure 4.5. Synchronization of cells in the phases of mitosis |
| Figure 4.6. Figure 6. Flow cytometry assessment of asynchronous culture of HeLa cells 147 |
| Figure 4.7. Example of imaging flow cytometry results |
| Figure 4.8. Imaging flow cytometry of HeLa cells stained for pEGFR Y1086 149 |
| Figure 4.9. p-Histone 3 Ser10 as a marker for mitotic cell |
| Figure 5.1. Effect of EGF stimulation and PLC-γ1 activation on ERM proteins |

List of Abbreviations

| Akt or PKB | protein kinase B |
|------------|--|
| ATP | adenosine triphosphate |
| BAD | Bcl-2-associated death promoter |
| Bcl-2 | B-cell lymphoma 2 |
| CBL | casitas B-lineage lymphoma |
| CME | clathrin-mediated endocytosis |
| c-Src | cellular sarcoma |
| DMSO | dimethyl sulfoxide |
| DNA | deoxyribonucleic acid |
| EGF | epidermal growth factor |
| EGFR | epidermal growth factor receptor |
| ErbB | erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene homolog |
| ERK | extracellular signal-regulated kinase |
| FBS | fetal bovine serum |
| GAP | GTPase activating protein |
| GEF | guanine nucleotide exchange factor |
| GFP | green fluorescent protein |
| GPCR | G protein-coupled receptor |
| GRB2 | growth factor receptor bound protein 2 |
| GTP | guanine triphosphate |
| GTPases | guanine triphosphatases |
| IB | immunoblot |
| IF | immunofluorescence |
| IP | immunoprecipitation |
| kD | kilo Daltons |
| МАРК | mitogen-activated protein kinases |
| MEK | MAPK kinase |
| NCE | non-clathrin mediated endocytosis |
| PBS | phosphate buffered saline |
| PI | phosphoinositide |
| PI3K | phosphatidyl-inositol 3-kinase |
| РКС | protein kinase C |
| PLC-y1 | phopholipase C- γ1 |
| PM | plasma membrane |
| pY or pTyr | phosphorylated tyrosine |
| Ras | rat sarcoma |
| RTKs | receptor tyrosine kinase |
| SF | serum free |
| SH2 | Src homology 2 |
| SH3 | Src homology 3 |
| SHC | Src homologous and collagen like protein |
| SOS | son-of-sevenless |

transmembrane

ТМ

1 Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Introduction

Epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor (EGFR), also known as ErbB1/HER,1 is the prototype of the EGFR family that also includes ErbB2/HER2/Neu, ErbB3/HER3, and ErbB4/HER4 [1]. Driven largely by its role in promoting cell proliferation and opposing apoptosis, the EGFR has been vilified as a proto-oncogene. New facts regarding the complex signaling network activated by the receptor tyrosine kinase and its endocytosis are continuously emerging, highlighting the fact that there is still much to discover about the EGFR before we can optimally fine-tune effective EGFR-targeting therapies.

EGFR activation often leads to cell progression through the cell cycle. In this thesis, I characterized the signaling pathways and the endocytic route mediated by the EGFR throughout the cell cycle, primarily during mitosis. Prior to my research, little was known about the mechanisms regulating these processes throughout cell cycle phases other than interphase, more specifically, the G0/G1 phases. It was clear however that both the signaling and endocytosis of the EGFR are differentially regulated throughout the cell cycle [2–4]. Therefore, the research presented in this thesis not only helps gain a fuller understanding of the role of the receptor tyrosine kinase, but the characterization of the differences between cell cycle phases may lead to new exploitable options for drug treatment.

1.1.1 Role of EGFR

The main role of the ErbB receptors is to convey information from the outside of the cell into a cellular response: signal transduction. Following activation, usually by one of its ligands, ErbB receptors can promote a multitude of biological processes, many of which being prooncogenic processes, including cell proliferation, angiogenesis, inhibition of apoptosis, cell motility, adhesion, and metastasis.

Almost all cell types possess ErbB family members, with the exception of hematopoietic cells [5]. EGFR family genes are critical to the normal embryogenesis of vertebrates [6]. Null mutations of any of the ErbB genes in mice cause embryonic or perinatal lethality [7,8]. The lethality of EGFR null mice have been shown to be due to abnormalities in organs including in the brain, skin, lung, and gastrointestinal tract, as well as to the renewal of stem cells [9,10]. EGFR also plays roles in rat embryonic skin maturation, hair follicle development, hair cycling [11], and corneal development [12]. In adolescence, EGFR family genes play key roles in mammary ductal development. Female mice with a T743G substitution that impairs tyrosine kinase activity fail to develop proper mammary glands, due to defective ductal growth, causing their pups to die from malnutrition [13–15]. EGFR activity remains high in most parts of mature CNS [16]. However, in mouse and rat astrocytes, EGFR is present in high levels in developing astrocytes, but becomes absent in mature astrocytes [17,18].

The EGFR's link to cancer was first recognized when the transforming v-ErbB oncogene of the avian erythroblatosis virus was found to be a mutant homolog of human EGFR [19,20]. The v-erbB oncogene was found to contain recombinations of the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains of the EGFR [21], implicating EGFR aberrations to cancer. In addition to mutations, overexpression of EGFR was associated with cancer progression, first in carcinomas [22,23], and later on in sarcomas [24], non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [25], and malignant gliomas [26]. The levels of EGFR would soon be found to predict tumor grade, patient prognosis, and relapse in cancer [27,28].

1.1.2 EGFR Structure and Mutations

The EGFR is synthesized as a 1210 residue precursor that is cleaved at the N-terminal to result in the mature 1186 residue transmembrane EGFR [20]. From N-terminal to C-terminal, the

EGFR consists of (1) an extracellular ligand binding and dimerization arm (exons 1–16), (2) a hydrophobic transmembrane domain (exon 17), and (3) the intracellular tyrosine kinase and C-terminal tail domains (exons 18–28) [7]. Here, we will describe the structure and function of each domain in the EGFR.

The extracellular region of the EGFR is composed of 621 amino acids and is subdivided into four domains, I (amino acids 1–133, exons 1–4), II (amino acids 134–312, exons 5–7), III (amino acids 313–445, exons 8–12), IV (amino acids 446–621, exons 13–16). Domains I and III are leucine-rich fragments that participate in ligand binding. Domain II forms homo- or hetero-dimers with the analogous domain of family members. Domain IV can form disulfide bonds to domain II, and links to the TM domain. Domains II and IV do not make contacts with the ligand, and are cysteine-rich regions.

The TM domain is a 23 amino acid long hydrophobic single pass membrane structure, that anchors the receptor to the membrane [29]. It is 23 amino acids long, from Ile622 to Met644 [30]. The EGFR TM domain has been suggested to play a role in dimerization, as the N-terminal region of the TM helices have been hypothesized to contact during dimerization [31].

The intracellular domain is 542 amino acids long, and includes the flexible juxtamembrane segment (~40 aa), the tyrosine kinase domain (amino acids 690–953, exons 18– 24), and the C-terminal tail (amino acids 954–1136, exons 25–28) [32]. The tyrosine kinase domain can be divided into an N-lobe (a mainly β -sheet structure) and a C-lobe (a mainly α helical structure), with an ATP-binding site located between the two lobes [33]. Transautophosphorylation relies on the interaction of the N-lobe of one receptor to the C-lobe of the other [34]. The kinase domain also contains lysine residues that are the primary sites of receptor ubiquitination. The C-terminal tail includes various tyrosine residues, which when phosphorylated, allow the anchoring of a variety of intracellular proteins to the activated receptor. These proteins then participate in the signal transduction relay.

EGFR mutations occur at mutational "hotspots" in the extracellular region, the kinase domain, and the C-terminal tail [1]. EGFR ectodomain oncogenic alterations often cause the loss of the inhibitory regulatory domains for dimerization. The most famous EGFR ectodomain mutant is the viral EGFR homologue, v-ERBB, which completely lacks the ectodomain, and exists primarily in dimers [19]. In addition, the EGFR variant EGFRvIII arises from the genomic deletion of exons 2–7, and occurs in approximately 20% of glioblastomas [35,36]. Interestingly, EGFRvIII displays ligand-independent signaling, but has low constitutive activity. The low constitutive activity is enough to impart cancer cells with increased signaling, however its growth advantage is due to the fact that these receptors are not downregulated by endocytosis [36,37]. In the kinase domain, the most commonly seen EGFR point mutation is L858R, and makes up approximately 45% of mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain [38,39]. Termed a "classical" activating mutation, the L858R mutation of the activation loop confers 50-fold more kinase activity and higher K_M for ATP than wild type EGFR [40,41]. Another kinase domain mutant, T790M, is often referred as the "gatekeeper residue," and is notorious for conferring resistance to pharmacological EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in addition to increasing EGFR phosphorylation levels [42,43].

1.2 EGFR Signal Transduction

The first studies on the EGF in animals showed that it stimulated epidermal proliferation and keratinization [44]. We now know that the EGF can stimulate cell proliferation, cell differentiation, cell growth, migration, and inhibit apoptosis. It has been shown that the addition of EGF to HeLa cells activates the EGFR to cause the global phosphorylation of 2244 proteins at 6600 sites [45]. Furthermore, it was shown that EGF stimulation causes significant differences in expression of 3172 genes and 596 proteins in human mammary epithelial cells (HMEC) [46]. Even without factoring in other types of post-translational modifications, it is clear that the effects of the EGF on the cell are profound and wide-ranging. The signal transduction mediated by the EGFR is extremely complex. It begins with the EGFR being activated by one of its ligands, leading to receptor dimerization, the transphosphorylation of the C-terminal tail, and finally the propagation of the signal through various intricate signaling pathways to induce the expression of new genes. EGFR mutations and truncations can impart the EGFR with ligand-independent signaling, which lead to the upregulation of various pro-oncogenic processes, including chronic cell cycle proliferation. In this section, we will review EGFR signal transduction as it relates to the contents of this thesis.

1.2.1 Ligand – EGF

Human EGF is a 6 kDa protein made up of 53 amino acids. Physiologically in humans, various organs regulate their innate EGF concentrations [47]. For example, EGF is found at high concentrations (50–500 ng/mL) in bile, urine, milk, and prostate fluid, at medium concentrations (3–50 ng/mL) in tears, follicular fluid, sperm, and seminal plasma, and at low concentrations (1–2 ng/mL) in plasma, serum, and saliva (mice differ in that their saliva are high in EGF) [47,48]. The sources of EGF from the human body have been documented previously [49]. EGF is implicated in the morphogenesis of teeth, brain, reproductive tracts, skin, gastrointestinal tracts, in cardiovascular differentiation and function, epithelial regeneration, and corneal epithelia (reviewed in [50]). However, no disorders arising from EGF deficiency have been identified, likely due to the presence of other EGFR ligands [51].

1.2.2 EGFR Dimerization

For full EGFR activation, ligand binding and EGFR dimerization are crucial. EGF binding to the EGFR monomers at domains I and III promotes a domain rearrangement to expose the dimerization arm in domain II, leading to a stabilized "open" or "extended" conformation. [52,53]. Two receptors interact through domain II and form an asymmetric EGFR dimer pair, in that the C-terminus of the activating kinase inserts into the active site of the receiving kinase, so that this allosteric interaction can activate the receiving kinase, resulting in transautophosphorylation [34].

1.2.3 Signaling Pathways

The signal transduction pathways activated by the EGFR comprise the most important reasons the EGFR has been studied to such lengths. The powerful capacity of each of the multitude of pathways under the control of the EGFR to drive cell proliferation and resist apoptosis has formed a strong motivation for their cancer-related researches. Large strides have been accomplished in elucidating the pathways involved in mediating EGFR activity. Ligand binding and dimerization of EGFR leads to its transautophosphorylation, which initiates intracellular signaling (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling pathways leading to G1/S cell cycle progression activated by EGF activation. Depicted are the RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK MAPK and PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathways. EGF activation of the EGFR induces receptor dimerization and transphosphorylation of the C-terminal domain. The phosphorylated C-terminal domain binds SHC and GRB2, along with PLC-y1 at Y992 (not pictured). The GRB2 SH3 domain recruits the proline-rich domains of SOS or GAB1 to initiate ERK MAPK or AKT signaling respectively. SOS is also recruited to the plasma membrane (PM) by the interaction of its PH (pleckstrin homology) domains with PIP₂ (phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate) and PA (phosphatidic acid). SOS catalyzes the conversion of GDP to GTP of RAS. Active RAS uses its RAS RAF-binding domain (RBD) to recruit RAF-1. RAF-1 is activated by dephosphorylation and phosphorylation events, and activates MEK1/2. Activated MEK1/2 activates ERK1/2. ERK1/2 has various cytoplasmic and nuclear targets, which aid in the transcription and translation of Cyclin D1. For example, ELK-1 transcribes the c-FOS gene (not pictured), and the protein product together with c-JUN make up the AP-1 complex. The AP-1 complex as well as c-MYC induce the transcription of CYCLIN D1. On the other hand, the receptor-bound GRB2 also binds GAB1. GAB1 recruits the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K, which binds the p110 catalytic subunit. PI3K converts PIP₂ into PIP₃ (phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate). PIP₃ recruits AKT, and is phosphorylated and activated by PDK1 and mTORC2. AKT has many phosphorylation substrates, including various inhibitory phosphorylations to proteins that negatively regulate CYCLIN D1 activity such as GSK-3ß (normally induces CYCLIN D1 degradation) and FOXO (normally represses CYCLIN D1 transcription). Furthermore, AKT inhibition of TSC2 allows the activation of mTOR, which inhibits the inhibitor of translation 4E-BP, thus allowing eIF4E-mediated translation of CYCLIN D1. Increased levels of CYCLIN D1 correlates with increased CDK4/6 activity, which phosphorylates RB. Phosphorylated RB releases the E2F transcription factor, which participates in the transcription of Cyclin E and leads to G1/S progression. The CDK inhibitor protein p27 inhibits CYCLIN D-CDK4/6 activity. However, activated ERK, c-MYC, AKT, all inhibit p27 activity. Importantly, the activated ERK MAPK and AKT pathways also inhibit various pro-apoptotic proteins, including BIM, Caspase-9, and BAD.

1.2.4 EGFR Transautophosphorylation

Binding of EGF to the EGFR leads to the transphosphorylation of various tyrosine residues on the intracellular C-terminal tail. The tyrosine residues phosphorylated by EGF addition to cells include Y703, Y920, Y992, Y1045, Y1068, Y1086, Y1148, and Y1173. In addition to these autophosphorylated sites, there are also residues that are phosphorylated by other kinases, which interestingly appear downstream in the EGFR-activation cascade. For example, Y845 is phosphorylated by c-SRC [54], and T654 is phosphorylated by PKC [55]. Regardless, the newly phosphorylated tyrosine residues serve as docking sites for proteins harboring phosphor-tyrosine-binding residues, such as those with Src Homology 2 (SH2) and phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domains [56]. Other important domains in the EGFR's signal transduction include SH3 (binds proline-rich), 14-3-3 (binds phosphoserine), bromo (binds acetylated lysine), and PH domains (binds phosphorylated inositides).

Of the four family members, the EGFR signals to the largest number of unique signaling pathways, including the ERK MAPK, PI3K-AKT, SRC, PLC- γ 1-PKC, JNK, and JAK-STAT pathways. As these pathways are inter-linked, the activation of the EGFR actually stimulates an entire signaling network associated with a wide number of outcomes, such as cell proliferation, growth, differentiation, migration, and inhibition of apoptosis. Many proteins within the EGFR's signal transduction network have been the subject of pharmaceutical targeting in malignancies, illustrating the potency of the receptor.

1.2.5 RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK MAPK Pathway

Following receptor transphosphorylation, the activated EGFR's Y1068 and Y1086 residues bind directly to GRB2 (growth factor receptor binding protein 2), by its SH2 domain from residues 60–158 [57–59]. Additionally, the activated EGFR Y1148 and Y1173 residues can

also recruit SHC (Src homology and collagen) [60–62] preferentially through it PTB domains, but also through its SH2 domain [63]. These two adaptors link the ligand-activated EGFR to complex intracellular biochemical pathways. Upon binding to the EGFR, SHC is phosphorylated at Y317, which becomes a binding site for GRB2 [61,64]. GRB2's two flanking SH3 domains bind to the proline rich carboxy-terminal tail in SOS1 (son of sevenless 1), which includes residues 1069 to 1138 [65-69]. SOS is a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) for RAS small guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase), and activates RAS by inducing it to exchange GDP to GTP [70]. RAS can then interact with the RAF-1 Ras-GTP-binding domain (RBD), which contains amino acids 55–131 [71]. RAF-1 is a complex protein, but phosphorylation of its Ser338 and Tyr341 residues have been shown to be important binding sites for MEK1/2 [72–75]. The phosphorylation of two other sites of RAF-1, S259 and S621 is inhibitory. Both pS259 and pS621 are bound by 14-3-3, which keeps RAF-1 in an inactivate conformation [76,77]. The phosphorylation of S259 is catalyzed by AKT [78]. RAF-1 directly activates MEK1/2 by phosphorylation at serine residues 217 and 221 [79]. MEK (mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-MAPKK) 1/2 are a rare class of tyrosine and threonine/serine dual-specificity kinases that activate ERK1/2. MEK1/2 phosphorylates the Thr-Glu-Tyr motif in the ERK1/2 activation loop, at T202 and Y204 [80]. ERK1/2 then phosphorylates multiple substrates to induce various biological response. ERK1 and ERK2 are serine/threonine kinases that always appear to be activated together [81]. Unlike the narrow substrate specificity of RAF and MEK, ERK has over one hundred downstream cytoplasmic and nuclear substrates [82]. In the cytosol, it can activate RSK1 (p90 ribosomal S6 kinase 1) by phosphorylation at T573 [83]. Activated ERK itself also translocates to the nucleus to activate ternary complex factor (TCF) transcription factors, which play a major role in the induction of immediate early genes (IEGs) [84]. IEG products include cFOS and c-MYC, which induce late-response genes, to promote various phenotypes associated with ERK signaling [85]. Moreover, nuclear ERK can activate ELK-1, ETS, SP-1, and c-JUN [86–88].

Interestingly, in HeLa cells, the concentrations of RAS, RAF, and downstream proteins MEK and ERK have been estimated at 400, 13, 1400, and 960 nM respectively, and revealed that RAF inhibition could be mostly effective in inhibiting this signaling pathway [89].

1.2.6 PI3K-AKT-mTOR Pathway

The PI3K-AKT-mTOR signaling cascade controls metabolism, proliferation, cell size, survival and motility. In cancer, this pathway is often hyper-activated due to activating mutations to EGFR family members, PI3K, AKT, and downregulation of the famous tumour suppressor PTEN, which antagonizes PI3K activity. The PI3K-AKT-mTOR pathway is also dysregulated in diabetes, autism, and aging [90].

PI3K was discovered in the 1980s by the Cantley group [91]. It was shortly found to be activated by EGF stimulation [92]. There are three classes of PI3K, Class I, II, and III, which differ in structure, regulation, and function [93]. Here, we will only discuss Class I PI3K, the major downstream effector of EGFR. Class I PI3K are further subdivided by subclass: subclass IA (PI3K α , β , and δ) is activated by receptor tyrosine kinases, and subclass IB (PI3K γ) is activated by G protein coupled receptors [94]. PI3K is comprised of a regulatory p85 subunit that mediates binding to the receptor, and a catalytic p110 domain that phosphorylates the 3-OH group of the membrane lipid phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) to generate phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PIP₃) [91,95,96]. The newly formed PIP₃ is a potent secondary messenger and is the predominant mediator of PI3K activity [97]. The strong signaling potential of PIP₃ is highlighted by the fact that the PI3K antagonist PTEN, which dephosphorylates and limits the activity PIP₃, is frequently inactivated in cancer [98]. PIP₃ links the lipid kinase activity of PI3K to the network of downstream signaling pathways, including the PH (pleckstrin homology) domain-containing serine/threonine kinase AKT/PKB. PI3K also indirectly stimulates the production of phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate (PtdIns(3,4)P₂), which can also recruit PH domain-containing proteins, including AKT. Other than AKT, cells contain 50–100 downstream effectors of PI3K [99]. Once localized at the PM, AKT is phosphorylated at T308 and S473. T308 phosphorylation is necessary and sufficient for AKT activation, however maximal activation is achieved by phosphorylation at S473 [100,101]. PDK1 phosphorylates AKT at T308, a residue located in the kinase domain [102]. Phosphorylation at the tail domain residue S473 is mediated by mTORC2, through a little understood process that involves PI3K activity [90,103].

There are three members of the AKT family: AKT1, AKT2, and AKT3. AKT2 and AKT3 have 81% and 83% amino acid homology to AKT1 respectively [99]. AKT isoform protein and mRNA levels have been characterized in various cell lines [104]. AKT1 and AKT2 are broadly expressed, whereas AKT3 is only expressed in the brain, heart, and kidney [105,106], which may explain why AKT3 is less well studied than the first two isoforms. There is no consensus on the distinct role of each isoform in cells, due to the controversial pool of data regarding their function. AKT1 has been found localized to the cytoplasm and nucleus, AKT2 to mitochondria, and AKT3 to the nucleus and nuclear membrane [104], although their localization may differ based on the cell type [107]. AKT2 appears to be the main AKT responsible for glucose metabolism and the induction of apoptosis, which supports its mitochondrial role. Regarding the regulation of AKT isoforms under the EGFR, all isoforms appear to be under the

control of PI3K upon EGF stimulation in various esophageal cancer cells [108]. However, depending on the cell line, the AKT isoforms are differentially activated in a little understood RAS-dependant manner. EGF stimulation does not appear to change AKT expression levels [104].

AKT (also known as Protein Kinase B, or PKB) is a serine/threonine kinase with a wide variety of substrates that impact cell survival, proliferation, metabolism, protein synthesis, growth, and migration. It is activated by a dual regulatory mechanism, requiring its translocation to the PM and phosphorylation at two conserved residues. Activated EGFR stimulates AKT translocation to the PM by activating the PI3K-induced formation of PIP₃. AKT binds to PIP₃ through its PH domain [109]. AKT mediates its wide range of physiological responses through the activation or deactivation of several downstream proteins.

In terms of cell survival, AKT functions in an anti-apoptotic manner by directly phosphorylating components of the cell death machinery. AKT phosphorylates the pro-apoptotic BAD (Bel-2-associated death promoter) protein at S136, which inactivates BAD and prevents it from binding and inhibiting the anti-apoptotic BCL-X_L protein [110]. AKT also inhibits the catalytic activity of caspase-9 by phosphorylation at S196 [111], as well as the activity of FOXO1 by phosphorylation at T32 and S253 [112]. FOXO1 downstream gene targets include pro-apoptotic proteins BIM and the FAS ligand [113]. AKT also phosphorylates MDM2 at S166 and facilitates its translocation to the nucleus, where it ubiquitinates and downregulates p53, the well-known tumour suppressor [114–116].

One of the most important AKT pathways is to signal to mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin). mTORC1 is well known to regulate cell growth and autophagy. The mTOR receives

stimulatory signals from growth factors through RAS and PI3K, as well as from nutrient inputs through amino acids, glucose, and oxygen availability [117].

1.2.7 PLC-y1-PKC Pathway

Prior to the discovery of PI3K, interest on PIP₂ focused on the results of receptormediated PIP₂ hydrolysis by phospholipase C (PLC) [99]. The PLC isotype PLC-γ1 has been shown to upregulate cell migration and invasion in vitro and in vivo, including upregulating metastasis in cancer [118,119]. Of relation to this thesis, PLC-γ1 binds directly to phosphorylated EGFR at Y992 and Y1173 using its SH2 domain [120–123]. PLC-γ1 can also be recruited to the PM using its PH domain by binding PIP₃ formed by PI3K in response to EGF stimulation [124,125]. Phosphorylation of PLC-γ1 at Y472, Y771, Y778, Y783, and Y1254 have been shown to be important for its activity [126,127]. Once recruited to the vicinity of the PM and activated, PLC-γ1 hydrolyzes PIP₂ into free intracellular 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG), two important secondary messengers. IP₃ binds to IP₃-receptors at the endoplasmic reticulum to induce intracellular calcium release. Calcium release converges with the DAG pathway, as both DAG and Ca²⁺ activate protein kinase C (PKC) family proteins.

PKC has a host of cellular substrates, including EGFR, RAF-1, H-RAS, p21, GSK-3β, RHOA, BAD, and BCL-2 [128]. Interestingly, PKC-dependent phosphorylation of EGFR T654 blocks EGF-induced EGFR activation [129]. Another substrate is phospholipase D (PLD). PKC phosphorylates PLD at S2, T147, S561, which mediates a large signaling network within the EGFR network [130–132]. Elevated PLD activity has been shown to contribute to fibroblast transformation by synergizing with EGFR and SRC [133,134]. Phospholipase D hydrolyzes phosphatidylcholine to form phosphatidic acid (PA) and choline [135]. PA can interact with proteins such as SOS, RAF, RAC, PIP5K, mTOR, and S6K (reviewed in [136]).

1.2.8 SRC

The first virus ever identified to cause cancer encoded a viral isoform of c-SRC (also known as pp60src). The isoform, discovered in 1911 by Francis Peyton Rous, was named v-SRC, as it induced sarcomas in chickens [137]. v-SRC lacks an important Y527 (Y530 in human c-SRC) inhibitory site. In inactive c-SRC, Y527 is phosphorylated and induces an inhibitory intramolecular loop between itself and the SRC SH2 domain [138–140]. Furthermore, auto-phosphorylation at Y416 (Y419 in human c-SRC) displaces the pY416-containing activation loop from the catalytic cleft, thereby allowing SRC to gain access to substrates [141].

c-SRC is widely implicated in various aspects of EGFR signaling. For example, it can directly phosphorylate EGFR Y845, RAF Y341, SHC1, clathrin, and CBL [142]. It is not clear how EGFR-mediates c-SRC activation, however EGF stimulation indeed leads to c-SRC activation [143]. EGFR and ERBB4 both possess binding sites for SRC [144]. EGFR and SRC have been reported to functionally synergize to form more aggressive cancers [143,145,146]. c-SRC may help activate STAT (signal transducer and activator of transcription) transcription factors in a JAK-independent manner [147]. c-SRC phosphorylates EGFR at Y845, which is not an autophosphorylation site [148]. However, Y845F mutation does not prevent c-SRC interaction to EGFR, nor does it affect ERK MAPK signaling [141,143]. Rather, Y845 has been suggested to regulate the autonomous lateral propagation of EGFR signals, which is the propagation of EGFR signals from one EGFR molecule to another without requiring binding of the ligand, potentiating EGFR kinase activity [149]. Phosphorylation of Y845 has been suggested as a diagnostic marker for various cancer treatments, including for NSCLCs [150,151]. Interestingly, pY845 is targeted by two phosphatases, PTP1B and TCPTP [152,153].

Since SRC and EGFR appear to cooperate to increase tumorigenicity, dual inhibition of SRC and EGFR has been proposed, such as in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and colorectal cancer [154,155]. However, as mentioned in Section 2.3.2, SRC negatively regulates RAS by phosphorylation at Y32, therefore SRC inhibition leads to increased RAS activity. In fact, EGF stimulation of SRC/YES/FYN triple knockout MEFs does not induce the phosphorylation of RAS as Y32, and as such exhibit increased RAS-RAF-1 interactions [156].

1.3 EGFR Endocytosis

Endocytosis is the process by which extracellular cargo enters the cell through nascent plasma membrane invaginations that pinch off as intracellular vesicles. The endocytosis of the EGF-bound EGFR is of huge consequence to the cell. EGF-activated EGFR at the plasma membrane (PM) is a major site of origin for many signaling pathways. Endocytosis removes this signaling complex from the PM, ending the signaling from this location. This endocytosis however, begins a complex series of physiologically-relevant actions by the EGFR. Firstly, the endocytosed EGFR travels as an intracellular vesicle to fuse to an endosome. Endosomal EGFR retains the ability to signal, and due to its relocation, can access substrates that were once inaccessible at the PM [157]. This leads to distinct "endosomal EGFR" signaling pathways with different biological responses to "PM EGFR" signaling [158]. Moreover, at the endosome, the fate of the receptor is determined, where the EGFR is targeted for either degradation or recycling depending on the internalization pathway. The outcome of this decision thus regulates total EGFR levels, which plays a key role in subsequent EGFR activation and signaling.

Evidently, endocytosis adds another layer to the already complex signaling pathways, controlling signaling temporally and spatially. As EGFR signaling also controls its endocytosis, the interplay between the two thus critically regulates cellular activity. Here, I will discuss the molecular pathways of EGFR endocytosis, and their consequences to the cell. We will focus significant attention on differentiating between clathrin-dependent and –independent endocytosis, and discuss the role of ubiquitination and CBL to EGFR endocytosis.

1.3.1 Types of EGFR Endocytosis

In general, the endocytosis of membrane-bound receptors can occur by two mechanisms: constitutive endocytosis or ligand-induced endocytosis. The foremost example of constitutive endocytosis is of the transferrin receptor, which is continuously recycled between the PM and the cytoplasm. In constitutive endocytosis, the presence of the ligand does not affect the internalization and recycling cycle. In ligand-induced endocytosis, as for the EGFR, the membrane receptor can control its own internalization by activating downstream signals following ligand activation.

Ligand binding to the EGFR is necessary to strongly stimulate its endocytosis. Unliganded EGFR undergoes background levels of endocytosis at a 10-fold slower rate than EGF-stimulated EGFR ($t_{1/2} \sim 30$ minutes), though they also recycle back to the PM at a fast speed [159–161]. Here, we will focus on ligand-induced EGFR endocytosis, particularly as a response to EGF.

Generally, ligand-induced EGFR endocytosis occurs through two molecular mechanisms. The first and most major route is clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME), where the EGFR is internalized inside clathrin-coated pits. CME is by definition inhibited by molecular knockdown

of clathrin. The second type of endocytosis is non-clathrin mediated endocytosis (NCE) (or also called clathrin-independent endocytosis (CIE)). NCE is a broad term used to encompass all pathways of endocytosis insensitive to clathrin ablation.

The major difference between CME and NCE is that CME appears to mostly target the EGFR for recycling, whereas NCE functions to target the EGFR for degradation [48,162–164]. It was shown that low EGF concentrations appear to only activate CME, whereas high EGF concentrations are needed to activate NCE (along with CME). Importantly, ubiquitination appears to be required for NCE, but not for CME [48,165]. Therefore, it appears that these two endocytic pathways confer cells the ability to sense the amount of EGF ligand in the extracellular environment, so to accordingly downregulate the levels of plasma membrane EGFR to prevent its overactivation. The CME pathway is also easily saturated, which could explain why NCE was evolutionarily necessary to compensate in situations of excess ligand [166,167]. Lastly, NCE appears to progress slower than CME, although it is much faster than constitutive endocytosis [168].

1.3.2 Clathrin-Mediated Endocytosis

CME is the most researched and best-characterized endocytic pathway [47], as it is used not only for the internalization of receptors, but also for pathogen entry and synaptic transmission. Here, clathrin, adaptor proteins, and accessory proteins are recruited to the site at the plasma membrane that is to be endocytosed. EGFR CME, as with other types of receptors, occurs in four major steps: nucleation, budding, scission, and uncoating. Nucleation occurs when EGFR activation causes clathrin to accumulate at the intracellular side of the PM. Budding is the process by which the clathrin-coated patches invaginate continuously to form deep clathrincoated pits (CCPs). Here, invagination is mediated by the connection of clathrin triskelions to

form a rounded lattice that resembles the panels on a soccer ball, with each connection progressively pulling and molding the CCP into a clathrin-coated bud. Scission then pinches off the invaginated bud from the cell membrane, releasing what is called the clathrin-coated vesicle (CCV) into the cytosol. The scission process is mediated by the large GTPase dynamin. The CCV is then shuttled to the endosome, a heterogeneous collection of PM-derived vesicles whose function is to sort cargo to the lysosome or for recycling back to the PM. Prior to fusion with the endosome, the coat is dissociated from the vesicle, releasing clathrin and adaptor proteins that can engage in a new round of endocytosis.

It should be stated that the important modules on the EGFR itself that initiate the internalization of CME has been full of controversy. It has been difficult to obtain a clear consensus on the molecular determinants and important components of the EGFR endocytic machinery because many early works attempted to isolate single factors that could completely influence CME, although it is becoming evident that many factors work inter-connectedly to bring about CME. Furthermore, the contributions of ligand concentration and of EGFR expression levels were not well understood, leading to conclusions on CME that may have included processes based in NCE, largely based on the use of high EGF concentrations.

Recent works from the Sorkin lab have attempted to clarify which motifs and proteins are actually important to EGFR CME. By performing progressive mutations of various EGFR amino acids, the Sorkin group had proposed that four redundant and cooperative mechanisms could mediate EGFR CME [169]: 1) through the clathrin adaptor AP-2; 2) by the acetylation of three different lysine residues (K1155, K1158, and K1164) at the EGFR C-terminal; 3) through GRB2, and; 4) by the ubiquitination of the receptor kinase domain. These conclusions were based on an EGFR mutant, 21KRΔAP2, which lacked ubiquitination and acetylation sites, through the
mutation of 21 lysine sites, and also lacked AP-2 binding sites (mutations to the Y⁹⁷⁴RAL and ¹⁰¹⁰LL¹⁰¹¹ sites). However, as the 21KRΔAP2 mutant was found to still internalize at relatively high rates of 25-30% that of WT EGFR when treated with 2 ng/mL, this model was more recently expanded to account for newly identified ubiquitination sites identified by mass spectrometry, including Lys851. The residual internalization could be strongly inhibited by depletion of GRB2 and components of the ubiquitination process, including CBL, UbcH5b/c (an E2 ligase), and ubiquitin-binding adaptors [170]. The authors concluded that EGFR CME is in fact mediated by only two redundant mechanisms, ubiquitination and interaction with AP-2, and that they mediate CME stochastically. It must be noted that this model is based strongly on a heavily mutated EGFR, for which a difference they showed was its weaker ability to maintain AKT activity.

The actin machinery has been shown to be important for CME of EGFR. Actin accumulation at EGFR-containing clathrin coated pits sites is likely important to generate the force necessary for the budding pit to overcome membrane tension from the cell [171]. N-WASP and the ARP2/3 have been shown to be recruited to these sites following EGF stimulation [172].

1.3.3 Non-Clathrin Mediated Endocytosis

NCE (also CIE for clathrin-independent endocytosis) is a broad term used to encompass all types of endocytosis insensitive to clathrin ablation. The types of mechanisms of EGFR NCE are still being elucidated, as the heterogeneity of the pathway complicates the research. Additionally, new forms of EGFR NCE continue to be discovered. researchers have generally classified the pathways based on the following features [173]. First, whether the process appears to be of small-scale, or of large scale. Large scale NCE resembles pinocytosis, typically involving actin cytoskeleton rearrangement and membrane ruffling that does not appear to specifically target receptors into endocytic vesicles. Small scale NCE includes processes that are smaller than 200 nm, and are further subdivided into three classes. 1. their dependence on dynamin; 2. the type or presence of a coat-like protein, and; 3. their dependence on small GTPases. To date, types of NCE identified include caveolin-mediated endocytosis, flotillin-mediated endocytosis, CLIC/GEEK, and FEME pathway [47].

For the EGFR, high ligand concentrations and/or conditions of high receptor expression activate NCE, whereas low or high levels of each condition can activate CME [174–177]. For example, the ablation of clathrin by siRNA only inhibits endocytosis when low EGF concentrations are used [48]. Also, downregulation of clathrin or the α -adaptin subunit of AP-2 by siRNA does not abolish internalization or sorting in HeLa cells treated with high EGF dosages [162,178]. NCE frequently depends on the formation of lipid rafts, which are cholesterol-rich PM microdomains that are sensitive to cholesterol ablation, such as by the agent filipin [48,179,180]. Also, NCE appears to occur more slowly than CME [166]. Functionally, NCE appears to target EGFR for degradation rather than recycling to the PM [163,165]. Ubiquitination appears to be dispensable for CME, but required for NCE [48]

1.3.4 Ubiquitination

Ubiquitin is ubiquitously expressed in mammals, and is a post-translational modification that is well known to regulate proteasomal degradation. However, ubiquitination can also regulate receptor trafficking, sorting, and downregulation. Ubiquitination of a substrate involves the sequential action of three classes of enzymes, E1, E2, and E3 proteins. CBL is the main E3 ligase for EGFR ubiquitination [181,182]. Here, we will focus on the role of ubiquitination for EGFR endocytosis, and we will discuss CBL in the following section.

Treatment of high EGF concentrations induce a rapid increase in EGFR ubiquitination. This ubiquitination is dependent on EGFR phosphorylation [163,183]. EGFR ubiquitination is minimal in cells treated with 1 ng/mL EGF, and nearly maximal a 10 ng/mL [47].

The correlation between NCE and EGFR ubiquitination was first reported in the seminal paper by Sigismund and colleagues [48]. Low EGF concentrations caused EGFR to localize predominantly to clathrin-coated pits, whereas high EGF led to near equal distributions of EGFR to clathrin- and non-clathrin-coated pits. Furthermore, an EGFR mutant fused to ubiquitin (EGFR/Ubmut) was constitutively internalized, and co-localized almost exclusively in nonclathrin-coated pits.

Ubiquitination of the EGFR is mainly through both mono- and poly-ubiquitination, and mainly through Lys63 chains, although Lys48 and Lys11 polyubiquitin chains have also been observed. Lys63 polyubiquitination, rather than multi-ubiquitination, has been suggested to be important for sorting to degradation [184]. Monoubiquitination is thought to signal for receptor internalization and sorting, whereas polyubiquitination targets proteins for degradation.

In one study, mass spectrometry has identified lysine residues 692, 713, 730, 843, 905, and 946 as EGF-dependent ubiquitination sites. A further study from the group recently identified lysines 851 and 855 as ubiquitination sites [170]

Ubiquitination appears to be unnecessary for EGFR CME. Mutation of 15 major lysine residues, including 6 major ubiquitin-acceptor sites that abolished receptor ubiquitination did not affect EGFR internalization rates [185]. However, mutation of 16 major lysine residues resulted in slower internalization, attributed to lower EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation. Interestingly, add-back of two major ubiquitin-acceptor sites to this mutant could promote EGFR CME (although

EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation of this add-back mutant also increased, but below that of WT EGFR), which was taken to mean ubiquitination could promote CME.

Ubiquitination of the EGFR appears to target it for lysosomal degradation [47], although the molecular mechanism is not known. In other words, how ubiquitination mediates EGFR trafficking from PM, to vesicles, to endosomes, to multivesicular bodies, and then to lysosomes is unclear. Proteins with ubiquitin interacting motifs (UIMs), including EPS15 and EPSIN have been shown to be important [48]. The elucidation of this pathway would be of wide-ranging impact.

1.3.5 CBL

The role of CBL in EGFR endocytosis has been controversial, due to the controversial role of ubiquitination itself. Furthermore, the CBL interactome reveals its key role in many of the EGFR's pathways, highlighting its complexity in the pathway [186].

In the CBL family, the isoform c-CBL is the best studied, followed by Cbl-b and then Cbl-3 (or Cbl-c). CBL-b has been shown to compensate for c-CBL knockdown and could ubiquitinate EGFR at a later time compared to c-CBL [187]. CBL-c is reported to be primarily expressed in epithelial tissues [188]. Here, I will mostly discuss c-CBL (henceforth CBL), as both CBL-b and CBL-c are lowly expressed in HeLa cells [163], the cell line in which most of my experiments were conducted.

CBL can be recruited to activated EGFR directly by interaction at pY1045 [182]. A phospho-deficient pY1045F EGFR mutant is ubiquitination impaired, but ubiquitination can still be observed, as CBL can also bind to the EGFR indirectly through GBR2, which binds to pY1068 and pY1086 [59,189]. The recruitment of CBL to the EGFR is therefore kinase-

dependent. Complex mathematical modelling and experimental validation have shown an EGF dose-response threshold-controlled EGFR-CBL interaction [163] (Figure 1.2). This model takes into account the synergism by which pY1045, pY1068, pY1086, and GRB2 can all contribute to CBL binding, and predicts that ubiquitination of the EGFR rises more quickly compared to EGFR phosphorylation in response to EGF doses between 2-10 ng/mL, effectively setting a threshold effect. As such, EGFR ubiquitination is minimal in cells treated with 1 ng/mL EGF, and nearly maximal a 10 ng/mL, whereas EGFR phosphorylation is maximal at 100 ng/mL.

CBL contains a tyrosine kinase binding (TKB) domain, a proline-rich domain (PRD), and a RING finger domain. The TKB binds to pY sites of the activated EGFR. The PRD can be used to be recruited by SH3-containing proteins such as GRB2, SRC, and CIN85 [186,190]. The RING finger domain importantly catalyzes the transfer of ubiquitin from an E2 ligase to ubiquitinate the EGFR. CBL mutations in the RING finger domain or in the linker between the RING finger and tyrosine kinase-binding domain significantly reduce EGFR ubiquitination and down-regulation [191]. The oncogenic variant 70z-CBL (used in this thesis), originally isolated from a 70Z/3 mouse pre-B-lymphoma cell line, contains a 17 amino acid deletion that disrupts the RING finger motif [192]. Furthermore, mutations in RING and linker domains, deletions and insertion that inhibit receptor ubiquitination can result in malignancies [193,194]. Oncogenic CBL has been observed in AML, and lung cancers [195]. Furthermore, c-CBL overexpression has been shown to inhibit migration, reduce cell proliferation, and inhibit tumour growth in vitro in NSCLC cell lines, and in vivo [196]. The role of various CBL mutations and its effect on cellular transformation, EGFR ubiquitination, internalization, and recycling has been studied in extensively [197], which has unfortunately also led to controversial data. Various publications argue for a role for CBL in endocytosis, whereas others argue that it is dispensable.



Figure 1.2. Model of EGFR-Ub threshold. EGFR ubiquitination is dependent on CBL-binding to EGFR. CBL-binding to EGFR however is dependent on various factors: pY1045, pY1068, pY1086, and GRB2-binding to EGFR. At low doses, increasing EGF concentrations slowly increases EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation, but is not yet sufficient to induce CBL-binding to EGFR. However, with increasing EGF doses toward X_T (half-maximal dose EGF dose for EGFR ubiquitination), the chance of EGFR phosphorylation and GRB2-binding to EGFR continue increasing, however the chance of CBL-binding increases dramatically.

Figure adapted from Polo, S., Di Fiore, P. P., & Sigismund, S. (2014). Keeping EGFR signaling in check: Ubiquitin is the guardian. *Cell cycle*, *13*(5), 681-682.

In CME, GRB2 recruitment of CBL has been shown to be important for endocytosis [198]. GRB2 knockdown by siRNA inhibits endocytosis. This was rescued by GRB2-YFP transfection, as well as with transfection with a chimera of the SH2 domain of GRB2 fused to c-CBL, even if it was fused with only the RING domain of c-CBL. Although EGFR CME appears to require GRB2 and c-CBL, the EGFR ubiquitination sites do not appear to play a significant role. To mediate this discrepancy, two hypotheses have been proposed, that: there exists an unidentified receptor-associated protein that is (1) ubiquitinated by c-CBL or (2) that mediates the internalization of the receptor [199].

The role of CBL in NCE is much clearer. An EGFR/ubiquitin chimera that signals exclusively through its ubiquitin moiety is internalized exclusively by NCE [48]. The ubiquitination of the EGFR is dependent on CBL, and cells downregulated for both CBL and clathrin cannot undergo significant NCE (although low background levels of internalization were still observed) [163].

1.3.6 Endosomal Sorting

Following endocytosis, endocytic vesicles fuse to early endosomes (EEs), a combination of small vesicles and tubules. EGF and EGFR can be detected in early endosomes after 1-5 min of EGF stimulation at 37°C. It is here that the fate of the receptors are determined. To first deactivate the EGFR, endosomes use their mild acidity (pH 6.0-6.8) to dissociate the ligand from the EGFR [200], The free ligand is transferred to the late endosome for degradation, however the free receptor has two choices. Firstly, the EGFR may be recycled to the plasma membrane. This can happen in two ways: by being retrieved from early endosomes and being rapidly recycled back to the PM (~1-3 mins), or by forming recycling endosomes at the perinuclear region before returning to the PM (~10-15 mins) [201]. Secondly, the EGFR may be targeted for degradation,

by sequestering the receptor away into intraluminal vesicles. This gives the endosomes the appearance of a multi-vesicular body (MVB), and become referred to as late endosomes. Late endosomes pour their contents into lysosomes to initiate the degradation of the cargo. This entire process occurs rapidly in the cell: for cells stimulated with EGF at 37°C, EGF and EGFR can be detected in early endosomes after 1-5 min, in late endosomes after 10-20 min, and in lysosomes after 40-60 min [168,202].

EGFR sorting decisions rely on the recruitment of RAB GTPases [203]. This has led to the use of RAB proteins as markers of endocytic trafficking. For example, RAB5 is found in early endosomes, RAB7 destines EGFR late endosomal maturation, and RAB11 targets EGFR for recycling [201].

Unlike the extremely complicated internalization of the EGFR, the lysosomal degradation sorting signal has been attributed to single ubiquitin-based mechanism of EGFR [181,204,205]. The endosomal sorting of the EGFR to the lysosome requires CBL-mediated ubiquitination [191,206–208]. However, the precise molecular mechanism linking ubiquitination to EGFR internalization and degradation is still lacking.

1.4 Cell Cycle

1.4.1 Cell Cycle

Almost all cells of the human body go through the cell cycle. Excluding post-mitotic cells such as neurons and muscle cells, the cell cycle grants cells a way to replenish its numbers so to grow, or balance out the cells lost by cell death. The division of a single parent cell to two perfectly-copied daughter cells is fundamental to life itself. The typical cell cycle is composed of the following cycling phases: G1, S-phase, G2, mitosis, and cytokinesis. Mitosis is also made up of prophase, prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase, and telophase.

1.4.2 CDKs and Cyclins: Molecular Drivers of the Cell Cycle

Progression through the cell cycle is mediated by cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) and their regulatory cyclin subunits. CDKs are major cell cycle serine/threonine kinases with a wide variety of substrates, and include CDK4/6, CDK2, and CDK1 (also known as CDC2). CDKs are activated in large part by the binding to their cyclin partners, whose expression rise and fall throughout the cell cycle to mediate the temporal activation of each CDKs [209–211]. There are four different classes of cyclins, A-, B-, D-, and E-type, and various subtypes of each class, bringing the human cyclin count to ten [212].

Quiescent cells do not express any detectable levels of cyclins, and thus CDKs are not activated. The presence of mitogenic factors, such as EGF, induces the expression of CYCLIN D, which then accumulates throughout G1 and bind to their catalytic partners CDK4 and CDK6. Full activation of CDK4/6 requires dephosphorylation by CDC25A phosphatase. A key phosphorylation target of CYCLIN D-associated CDKs is the retinoblastoma (RB) protein, which normally binds and inhibits E2F family members. Phosphorylation of RB, including at Ser807 and Ser811, releases E2F, and free E2F can help transcribe key genes for the transition of G1/S, including CYCLIN E and CYCLIN A [213,214]. CYCLIN E binds CDK2 and further phosphorylates RB to complete its inactivation [215]. This triggers S-phase by de-repressing the transcription of genes encoding proteins required for DNA synthesis, such as those that drive the assembly of the pre-replication complex [216]. Upon the assembly of the pre-replication complex, CYCLIN A levels rise sufficiently to begin replacing Cyclin E on CDK2, and initiates

DNA replication [217]. During G2, CDK2-CYCLIN A also catalyzes phosphorylations to FoxM1, whose target genes drive mitotic entry, such as regulators of mitosis and components of the spindle assembly checkpoint [218,219]. At the same time, signals activate the CDC25C phosphatase and inhibit the WEE1 and MYT1 kinases, which together activate CDK1-CYCLIN B by dephosphorylating CDK1 at Y14 and Y15 [220]. The CDK1-cyclin B complex, also called the maturation promoting factor (MPF), drive cells through mitosis by inducing nuclear envelope breakdown, a process that coincides with the degradation of CYCLIN A, facilitating the formation of CDK1-CYCLIN B complexes. Further activity of the MPF induces chromosome condensation, and activation of mitotic kinases. Chromosomes line up at the metaphase plate, and once the SAC is satisfied, the chromosomes are pulled apart and CYCLIN B1 is degraded. Cells then complete mitosis, including cellular fission by cytokinesis. The progression of cells through each of these phases is tightly guarded by cell cycle checkpoints.

1.4.3 Cell Cycle Checkpoints

Various cell cycle checkpoints exist to ensure that critical parts are in place prior to cell cycle progression into the next phase. The cell cycle checkpoints are the G1 (restriction) checkpoint, the G2/M DNA damage checkpoint, and the metaphase or spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC). In cancer, components of these checkpoints are often inactivated, so that cell cycle arrest does not occur, and cell cycle progression can proceed unchecked. The family of cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKi) form important mediators of cell cycle arrest, and includes the INK4A family (p16^{Ink4A}) and the Cip1/Kip1 family (p21^{Cip1/Waf1} and p27^{Kip1}). p16 ^{Ink4A} can prevent the activation of CDK4 and CDK6, p21^{Cip1/Waf1} can prevent the activation of CDK4. Furthermore, DNA damage

including single stranded or double stranded breaks can induce cell cycle arrest, often through a p53-dependent mechanism.

G1 arrest occurs when mostly double-strand DNA breaks are sensed by ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated), which phosphorylate CHK2 [221,222]. CHK2 then phosphorylate and induce the degradation of CDC25A, a protein which normally helps activate CDK2-CYCLIN E. The degradation of CDC25A following DNA damage thus inhibits the ability of CDK2-CYCLIN E to cause progression to S-phase [223,224]. Furthermore, ATM can phosphorylate p53, which reduces p53 affinity to its negative regulator MDM2, thus stabilizing p53. Stabilized p53 can activate p21^{WafI/Cip1}, which inhibits both CDK2/CYCLIN A and CDK2/CYCLIN E, further ensuring cell cycle arrest until the DNA damage can be fixed, or if the damage is irreparable, lead to cell apoptosis [225–227].

S-phase arrest occurs in the event of DNA damage arising from stalled replication forks or nucleotide repair processes. ATR (ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 related) senses these mostly at tracts of single-stranded DNA and phosphorylates CHK1, which also induces CDC25A degradation to prevent progression through S phase [223,224,228].

CHK1 is also involved in G2 arrest at the G2/M checkpoint, since it can also inhibit CDC25C and activate WEE1, and prevent entry into mitosis [229–231]. CHK1 phosphorylation of CDC25C forms an inhibitory binding site for 14-3-3 to sequester it [232]. During G2, CHK1 is also able to activate p21^{Waf1/Cip1} [233].

The spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC, also known as the mitotic or metaphase checkpoint) at metaphase ensures that mitotic cells can faithfully divide its chromosomal contents prior to anaphase allocation to each daughter cell. If all chromosomes are not properly

attached to the mitotic spindle, the SAC is not satisfied and mitotic exit is not allowed. In this way, the SAC importantly guards against whole-chromosome gains or losses that may result from uneven distribution of chromosomes. The SAC is an important component to the function of a class of cancer drugs known as anti-mitotics. As cancer cells often undergo cell proliferation more frequently, anti-mitotic drugs slow their growth more specifically than most normal cells. Anti-mitotics prevent cells from proceeding past the SAC through various mechanisms, and induce the mitotic catastrophe of these cells. Mitotic catastrophe is a term more recently defined as a mechanism that senses mitotic failure and results in an irreversible fate, such as apoptosis, necrosis, or senescence [234]. Causes of mitotic catastrophe may range from premature or inappropriate entry into mitosis, to the failure of cell cycle checkpoints to fix cellular damage [235]. Mitotic catastrophe is a potent oncosuppressive mechanism, as it can catch cancer cells that have evaded the previous checkpoints. These cells are usually less potent, since their improperly-managed DNA contents make it more difficult to form viable daughter cells, leading to genomic instability or an uploidy. However, evasion of mitotic catastrophe is considered an advantage to cancer development [235]. Cancer cells that find ways around the SAC often replicate despite having non-normal numbers of chromosomes. This further increases the chances for *de novo* mutations that may be beneficial to cancer cells.

1.4.4 EGFR and Cell Cycle

The Restriction Point (R point) is the instant at G1 at which the cell commits to the completion of the cell cycle and at which the cell no longer requires growth factors to complete the cell cycle [236]. For cell cycle progression, based on the definition of the R point, it would appear that EGFR activation is only necessary from quiescence to the R point. Little is known about the functional significance of EGFR activation in phases other than G1. It is clear

that EGF stimulation can activate the EGFR of cells in all cell cycle phases (our unpublished observations). What then is the role of activated EGFR in S, G2, or mitosis? The EGFR controls a vast array of other physiological functions, such as migration, cell growth, and cell survival. For example, EGF stimulation during G1 also controls cell spreading, and this morphological change has been shown to be important for DNA replication [237]. Does the EGFR play roles in impacting those functions during S, G2, or mitosis?

1.4.4.1 EGFR During G0 to G1

The best described role for the EGFR is to drive cells through G1, largely by inducing the expression of cyclin D. In cancers, activating mutations to the EGFR are correlated with higher expression levels of cyclin D [238–243]. These types of cancers also have poor prognoses. The activation of proteins in the MAPK ERK pathway are crucial to cyclin D induction, as sustained RAS or ERK1/2 activation are sufficient for the accumulation of Cyclin D1 and the inactivation of RB during G1 [244–249]. Furthermore, PI3K-AKT signaling also upregulates Cyclin D1. Active GSK-3β normally causes Cyclin D proteolysis through phosphorylation at T286 [250]. However, activated AKT phosphorylates and deactivates GSK-3β, which inhibits the repression of Cyclin D, thus upregulating Cyclin D levels. Since Cyclin D can activate CDK4, selective CDK4/6 inhibitors have been of intense research, including for cancers driven by HER2 or PI3K [251].

It has been shown that a pulse of EGF stimulation during early G1 and another at late G1 are sufficient to drive cells past the R point [252,253]. Inhibition of EGFR in various cancers with EGFR inhibitors, including monoclonal antibodies or tyrosine kinase inhibitors, lead to G1/S arrest [254]. Interestingly, many researches point that the cause of the G1/S arrest is due to the upregulation of the p27^{Kip1} [255–261]. Upregulation of p27^{Kip1} leads the downregulation of

Cyclin D1 activity and hypophosphorylation of RB. ERK activity is thought to contribute to p27 ^{Kip1} down-regulation [262–264]. Also, p27 ^{Kip1} has been found to downregulate Egfr transcription [265,266]. Interestingly, c-MYC, a downstream effector of ERK, activates Cyclin D1 transcription and inhibits p21^{Cip1} and p27 ^{Kip1} activity, demonstrating the central role of c-MYC in G1/S progression [267,268].

1.4.4.2 EGFR During S phase

Both low and high concentrations of EGF stimulation (1 or 100 ng/mL) of EGFR during S-phase has been shown to promote premature centrosome separation in HeLa cells [269]. This premature centrosome separation further leads to a 44% decrease in the duration of mitosis, and an increase in the accuracy of mitosis [270]. Interestingly, this premature centrosome separation occurred in an AKT-dependant manner through the Mst2-hSav1-Nek2A module, thus putting less dependence on the kinesin-5 motor protein Eg5 for centrosome separation. As such, Eg5 inhibitors did not arrest cells in mitotic if they also had high levels of basal EGFR signaling. Therefore, S-phase EGF response can play a large role in drug resistance.

Interestingly, radiation therapy has been shown to activate EGFR and ERK and induce progression to S phase and cryoprotection [271,272]. A report showed that in EGFR-transfected CHO cells, cell death only occurred to quiescent cells that progressed through the cell cycle (due to EGFR activation), and not to cells that were already proliferating [273]. This difference in radiosensitivity between cell cycle phases is a poignant example of how cell cycle phase can affect therapeutic results.

1.4.4.3 EGFR During G2

There has been more research performed regarding the role of the EGFR during G2, mainly because a requirement for basal EGFR activity has been shown for the G2/M transition. However, the mechanism by which this requirement is mediated is still unknown.

The G2/M DNA damage checkpoint may represent a beneficial point for tumour cells to repair their DNA prior to entering mitosis. Some studies have shown that EGFR inhibition may allow cells to bypass the G2/M checkpoint. If these cells bypass the DNA repair mechanism of the G2/M checkpoint, these cells are more likely to possess DNA unsuitable for proper mitosis, which can lead to mitotic catastrophe. In addition, if these cells are also treated with an anti-mitotic drug, mitotic catastrophe may be more likely.

For example, a study showed that EGFR-targeted hybrid plasmonic magnetic nanoparticles (named 225-NP) could override the G2/M checkpoint by inhibiting CHK1 signaling [274]. In endometrial cancer cells lacking p53, the combination of paclitaxel (arrests cells in mitosis) and gefitinib (EGFR kinase inhibitor) appeared to increased cell death from paclitaxel alone [275]. The authors showed that the combination of paclitaxel and gefitinib for 24h induced a more efficient arrest of cells in G2/M compared to paclitaxel alone. They also showed that this combination somehow increased CDC25C activity and decreased WEE1 activity, which likely helped activate the Cyclin B-CDK1 complex and allowed cells to commence mitosis, although the cells would be arrested before reaching anaphase and undergo mitotic catastrophe. Another study showed that nimotuzumab (a humanised monoclonal antibody against EGFR) sensitized human lung adenocarcinoma A549 to radiotherapy [276]. This combination arrested more cells in G2/M compared to radiotherapy alone, which arrested more cells in G0/G1. A study has shown that nimotuzumab may inhibit radiation-induced activation of DNA-PKcs (DNA-dependent protein kinase, catalytic subunit) by blocking the AKT-PI3K pathway, which are normally required for NHEJ DNA repair [277]. Furthermore, a newer small molecule EGFR inhibitor, WB-308, has been shown to cause G2/M arrest and apoptosis [278].

1.4.4.4 EGFR During Mitosis

The ability of EGFR to be activated and to be endocytosed during mitosis has been somewhat controversial. There are no changes to EGFR expression at the plasma membrane in mitotic cells [4,279,280]. EGF-induced EGFR signaling had been thought to be suppressed during mitosis, and this was explained as due to decreased ligand binding affinity and an inability to induce receptor dimerization, although cells with higher EGFR expression levels could overcome the suppression [2]. However, EGFR dimerization was shown to occur in nocodazole-arrested mitotic HeLa cells following EGF stimulation for 5 min [281]. Another report showed that EGFR, ERK2, and PLC- γ are less phosphorylated in mitosis-arrested cells [282]. Another study showed CDK1 interacted with and inhibited several proteins in the EGFR pathway, including EGFR, GRB2, SOS1, and RAF-1 [3]. EGFR kinase activity was also shown to be necessary for its endocytosis during mitosis [4]. EGFR signaling can also critically affect surrounding mitotic cells. In *D. melanogaster* tracheal placode, EGFR-induced myosin-II contractility was found to help epithelial invagination driven by surrounding cells undergoing mitotic cell rounding [283].

1.5 Hypothesis and Aims

The EGFR's role in stimulating cell cycle progression is well known. The role of the EGFR has been intensely studied mostly during the G0 and G1 phase of the cell cycle. However, the signaling and endocytosis of the EGFR have not been extensively studied during mitosis. This is because the majority of the interest in the EGFR is regarding its ability to stimulate cell

cycle progression past the G1. Moreover, interphase cells make up the majority of cells in cell cultures and animal models, meaning mitotic cells are often disregarded.

Since it was clear that the EGFR signals and is endocytosed differently between cell cycle phases, here, I studied the function and role of the EGFR throughout the cell cycle, primarily during mitosis. I first characterized EGFR signaling during mitosis to find the molecular mechanisms behind the differential signaling outputs of the EGFR between mitosis and interphase (Chapter 2) [279]. Second, I studied the endocytosis of the EGFR during mitosis, to uncover the molecular mechanism behind the slower endocytosis previously observed as compared to interphase cells [4] (Chapter 3). Lastly, I characterized EGFR signaling throughout the other phases of the cell cycle (Chapter 4). Therefore, my research has contributed to the most in-depth characterization of the EGFR during mitosis. This knowledge may be used to fine-tune the pharmacological targeting of the EGFR.

2 Chapter 2

Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor cell signaling during mitosis

This chapter was published in:

Wee P, Shi H, Jiang, J, Wang Y, Wang Z. EGF stimulates the activation of EGF receptors and the selective activation of major signaling pathways during mitosis. Cellular Signaling. 27(3): 638-651 (2015).

Note: All experiments were carried out by Ping Wee, except for the work on CHO and Cos7 cell lines conducted by H. Shi. J. Jiang and Y. Wang contributed to data collection.

2.1 Chapter Abstract

Mitosis and epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor (EGFR) are both targets for cancer therapy. The role of EGFR signaling in mitosis has been rarely studied and poorly understood. The limited studies indicate that the activation of EGFR and downstream signaling pathways are mostly inhibited during mitosis. However, we recently showed that EGFR is phosphorylated in response to EGF stimulation in mitosis. Here, we studied EGF-induced EGFR activation and the activation of major signaling pathways downstream of EGFR during mitosis. We showed that EGFR was strongly activated by EGF during mitosis as all the five major tyrosine residues including Y992, Y1045, Y1068, Y1086, and Y1173 were phosphorylated to a level similar to that in interphase. We further showed that the activated EGFR is able to selectively activate some downstream signaling pathways while avoiding others. Activated EGFR is able to activate PI3K, AKT2, but not AKT1, which may be responsible for the observed effects of EGF against nocodazole-induced cell death. Activated EGFR is also able to activate c-SRC, c-CBL and PLC- γ 1 during mitosis. However, activated EGFR is unable to activate ERK1/2 and their downstream substrates RSK and ELK-1. While it activated RAS, EGFR failed to fully activate RAF-1 in mitosis due to the lack of phosphorylation at Y341 and the lack of dephosphorylation at pS259. We conclude that contrary to the dogma, EGFR is activated by EGF during mitosis. Moreover, EGFR-mediated cell signaling is regulated differently from interphase to specifically serve the needs of the cell in mitosis.

2.2 Introduction

EGFR plays important roles in initiating cell signaling to produce specific effects on cell growth and development [284]. The activated EGFR forms signaling complexes with many signaling proteins including GRB2, SHC, phospholipase C- γ 1 (PLC- γ 1), the p85 α subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), SRC, and CBL [285,286]. The formation of the receptorsignaling protein complexes then initiates the activation of various signaling pathways. For example, the interaction between EGFR and SHC/GRB2 results in the recruitment of SOS to the plasma membrane to activate RAS. Activated RAS mediates RAF activation, which then phosphorylates and activates mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK), leading to the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK). Activated ERK phosphorylates RSK that in turn translocates into the nucleus to activate transcription factors such as c-FOS and SRF. Activated ERK may also translocate into the nucleus to activate transcription factors such as ELK1 and c-FOS[158,285–287]. The activation of PLC-y1 by EGFR regulates cell mitogenesis and migration [158,288,289]. The activation of PI3K by EGFR stimulates AKT/PKB activity, which protects the cell from undergoing apoptosis [108,290,291]. The activation of CBL results in the ubiquitination and downregulation of EGFR [181,182,187].

However, all of the above knowledge regarding EGFR may only reflect its activation and function during interphase, especially G1 phase as these studies were conducted with the cells mostly in G1 phase. The cell cycle is a series of events leading to cell replication. When plated at low cell densities in serum-containing medium, cultured cells start to proliferate, moving through the four phases of the cell cycle: G1, S, G2, and M. Progression through each phase and transition from one phase to the next is regulated by the coordinated action of kinases and proteases. When deprived of serum, cells continue to cycle until they complete mitosis,

whereupon they exit from the cell cycle into the G0 state. These cells can re-enter the G1 phase of the cell cycle by the addition of serum or growth factors [292,293]. Growth factors, including EGF, regulate cell cycle progression, especially the G0 to G1 transition and G1-S progression. Growth factors must be present until the restriction point (R point) in G1 phase to stimulate entry into the cell cycle and proliferation. After the R point, growth factors are not required to complete the other stages of the cell cycle [292]. We and others also showed that two pulses (30 min) of growth factors including platelet-derived growth factor and EGF, separated by 8 hours, are also able to drive the cell cycle [252,253]. While it has been proposed that the G0 to S interval is the only portion of the cell cycle that is regulated by growth factors [292], there have been sporadic publications showing a minor role for growth factor-mediated cell signaling in S and G2 phase [270,294–298].

The role of growth factor-induced cell signaling in mitosis has been rarely and poorly studied. Mitosis (M phase) is the most dynamic period of the cell cycle, involving a major reorganization of many cell components. A hallmark of cancer involves the cancer cell's ability to sustain chronic proliferation [299]. A major difference between cancer cells and normal cells is that the cancer cells are much more mitogenic and show a higher frequency of mitosis. Therefore, most cancer drugs are designed to specifically target mitotic cells [300]. It has been reported that while there is no change in the number of cell surface EGFR between interphase and M phase of the cell cycle, EGF-induced activation of EGFR and downstream signaling is tightly suppressed in M phase due to a decrease in ligand binding affinity and the inability of EGF to induce receptor dimerization [2]. It has also been shown that EGFR, ERK2, GTPase-activating protein (GAP) and PLC- γ 1 are less phosphorylated in M-arrested cells than they are in interphase[282]. A further study showed that CDC2 (also known as CDK1) inhibits EGFR-

stimulated ERK activation during mitosis by primarily targeting signaling proteins that are upstream of MEK1 including EGFR [3]. These studies suggest that inhibition of EGFR activity and its downstream signaling pathways underlie the importance of keeping the cell sheltered from extracellular signals when it undergoes division, and is beneficial for preventing gene expression so to preserve the energy needs that are required for mitotic structural changes [2,3,282].

However, in a recent study of EGF-induced EGFR endocytosis during M phase, we have shown that at M phase, EGFR is expressed at the same level as in interphase and is also activated by EGF to the same level as in interphase as shown by pY992[4]. Here we further studied EGFinduced activation of EGFR and the major downstream signaling pathways during cell mitosis. We showed that EGFR was strongly activated by EGF during mitosis as all five major tyrosine residues including Y992, Y1045, Y1068, Y1086, and Y1173 were phosphorylated to a level similar to that in interphase. We further showed that the activated EGFR selectively activated some downstream signaling pathways while avoiding others. Activation of EGFR resulted in the activation of AKT2, but not AKT1, which may be responsible for the observed effects of EGF against nocodazole-induced cell death. Activated EGFR also activated c-CBL and PLC-y1, two signaling protein with multiple cellular functions, during M phase. However, activated EGFR is unable to activate ERK1/2 and their downstream substrates RSK and Elk-1. While it activated RAS, EGFR failed to fully activate RAF-1 in mitosis due to the lack of phosphorylation at Y341 and the lack of dephosphorylation at pS259. These studies suggest a differential activation of EGFR-pathway genes during mitosis, for which targeted drug therapy should consider.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Antibodies and Chemicals

Mouse monoclonal anti-PLC-γ1 antibody was from Upstate Biotechnology, Inc. (Lake Placid, NY). All of rest primary antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotech (Santa Cruz, CA). The horseradish peroxidase (HRP) - conjugated secondary antibodies were from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA) and the fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Jackson ImmunoResearch (West Grove, PA). The cell culture reagents were from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (M-Per) was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. (Rockford, IL USA). Vybrant MTT Cell Proliferation Assay Kit were from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY). Unless otherwise specified, all other chemicals were from Sigma (St. Louis, MO)

2.3.2 Cell Culture and Treatment

The cell lines that were used include HeLa cell line stably expressing H2B-GFP (HeLa H2B-GFP), Cos7 fibroblasts and CHO cell lines stably expressing a YFP-tagged, wild-type EGFR (CHO-EGFR) [301]. The HeLa H2B stable cell line is a generous gift from Dr. Wahl (The Salk Institute for Biological Studies). It has been shown that the H2B-GFP fusion protein is incorporated into nucleosomes without affecting cell cycle [302].

All cells were grown at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% FBS and were maintained in a 5% CO2 atmosphere. For CHO cell lines, G418 was added to a final concentration of 500 μ g/ml. For the HeLa H2B-GFP cell line, blasticidine was added as a supplement to a concentration of 2 μ g/ml to maintain the trans-gene expression. EGF was used at a final concentration of 1 to 50 ng/ml. To inhibit EGFR kinase activity, cells were incubated with AG1478 at 1 μ M for 30 min.

To collect lysates for mitotic cells, cells were arrested in prometaphase by treating with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h. The nocodazole-arrested cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/ml, except indicated otherwise) for 5, 15, 30 min, 1 or 2 h. Mitotic cells in serum-free media were

dislodged by gently tapping the plates on ice. The cells were washed with PBS and centrifuged at 1000 rpm. The obtained mitotic cells were then lysed with M-Per in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors including 100 mm NaF, 5 mM MgCl2, 0.5 mM Na3VO4, 0.02% NaN3, 0.1 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin, and 1 μ M pepstatin A. To collect lysates for interphase cells, cells were serum starved for 16 h and then treated with EGF for 5, 15, 30 min, 1 or 2 h. The cells were collected by scraping on ice in cold M-per buffer in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors.

2.3.3 Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting was performed as previously described [158]. Briefly, protein samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and then were transferred onto nitrocellulose and probed with primary antibodies. The primary antibodies were detected with a HRP conjugated secondary antibody followed by enhanced chemiluminescence development (Pierce Chemical, Rockford, IL) and light detection on Fuji Super RX Film (Tokyo, Japan). For graphical analysis, sub-saturated band exposures were scanned using a GS-800 calibrated densitometer. Quantification of band intensity was finished by using ImageJ software. For the quantification of the phosphorylation of various proteins, the band intensity of phosphorylated proteins is normalized against the band intensity of non-phosphorylated proteins. Two-tailed student t-tests were completed using MedCalc software. ** indicates p<0.01 and * indicates p<0.05.

2.3.4 RAS Activation Assay

Glutathione S-transferase (GST) fused to the RAF RAS binding domain (GST-RBD), precoupled to glutathione-agarose beads in BOS buffer (50 nM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 200 mM NaCl, 1%, Nonidet P-40, 10% glycerol, 10 mM NaF, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM. EDTA), was added, and the lysates were incubated at 4°C for 1 h. Beads were collected by centrifugation and washed three

times with BOS buffer, and then loading buffer was added. RAS was detected with the monoclonal anti-RAS antibody (Santa Cruz, cat: sc-166691), followed by a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-coupled anti-mouse antibody.

2.3.5 Indirect immunofluorescence

Indirect immunofluorescence was performed as described previously [4]. Briefly, cells were grown on glass coverslips and serum starved for 16 h. After treatment, the cells were fixed by methanol and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100. Next, the cells were incubated with primary antibody at room temperature for 1 h followed by rhodamine-labeled secondary antibody for 1 h.

2.3.6 Immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitation experiments were carried out as described previously [4]. Cells were lysed with immunoprecipitation buffer (20 mM Tris, pH7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 100 mM NaF, 0.5 mM Na3VO4, 0.02% NaN3, 0.1 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 10 µg/ml aprotinin, 1 µM pepstatin A) overnight at 4°C. Cell lysates were then centrifuged at 21 000 x g for 30 min to remove debris. The supernatants, containing 1 mg of total protein, were used to incubate with 1 µg of mouse anti-EGFR antibody Ab1 and sheep anti-EGFR antibody to immunoprecipitate EGFR from Cos7 cells. For control experiments, primary antibodies were substituted with normal mouse or sheep IgG (Sigma), and no EGFR was precipitated by normal IgG.

2.3.7 Cell survival assay

Hela H2B-GFP Cells were plated onto 96-well plates, 10,000 cells/well. Forty-eight hours later, the culture medium was replaced by fresh medium containing 10% FBS, nocodazole, EGF (50 ng/ml), or EGF/nocodazole as indicated for 36 h. The percentages of viable cells were then determined by the conversion of the water soluble MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2yl)-2,5-

diphenyltetrazolium bromide) to an insoluble formazan, relative to drug-free controls, using the Vybrant MTT Cell Proliferation Assay Kit. After incubation for 4 h, the formazan crystals were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide and the absorbance intensity was measured by a microplate reader (Bio-RAD 680, USA) at 540 nm. All cell survival data shown are the means of at least three independent experiments.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Collection of mitotic cells

To study EGF-induced EGFR signaling during mitosis, we used nocodazole to arrest the Hela H2B-GFP cell at prometaphase and collected these mitotic cell by shaking as we previously described [4]. Cells without nocodazole treatment were used as interphase cells. By checking under the microscope, the non-treated cells only contained less than 5% mitotic cells. After shaking to remove most of these mitotic cells, the rest of the cells were used as interphase cells. To determine whether we had well separated mitotic cells from interphase cells, we examined the cell lysates by using cyclin B1 and cyclin E as markers for mitosis and interphase, respectively. It is well established that cyclin E is only expressed in interphase and cyclin B is only expressed in M phase [303]. We showed that our lysates of M phase cells express high levels of cyclin B1, but not cyclin E, and our lysates of interphase cells express high levels of cyclin E, but not cyclin B1 (Figure 2.1).

2.4.2 EGF-induced EGFR activation during mitosis

We previously showed that EGFR is activated by EGF in M phase [4]. Given the dogma that EGFR and downstream signaling is tightly suppressed in mitosis [2,3,282], we examined whether EGFR is fully activated by EGF addition during mitosis. We examined the phosphorylation of five

tyrosine residues within EGFR C-terminus including Y992, Y1045, Y1068, Y1086, and Y1173 that are known to be strongly phosphorylated by EGF during interphase by using specific antibodies in Hela H2B-GFP cells (Figure 2.2A-F). We showed that all these five major tyrosine residues were strongly phosphorylated by addition of EGF in M phase. The phosphorylation levels at the peak were similar in M phase as in interphase cells (Figure 2.2A-F). However, in M phase, EGF-induced EGFR phosphorylation reached its peak more slowly (at 15 min) than in interphase (at 5 min). Moreover, while the phosphorylation of EGFR in interphase is quickly diminished after reaching its peak, the EGFR phosphorylation level remained high for much longer time in M phase. For Y1068 and Y1086, the phosphorylation reduced sharply 30 min after addition of EGF in interphase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition in M phase. For Y992, Y1148 and Y1173, the phosphorylation reduced sharply 1 h after addition of EGF in interphase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition in M phase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition of EGF in interphase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition of EGF in interphase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition of EGF in interphase, but remained high 1 h after EGF addition in M phase.

To confirm these results and to examine EGFR activation during mitosis in the absence of nocodazole, EGFR phosphorylation at all five pY sites was examined by indirect immunofluorescence. As show in Figure 2.2G, following EGF stimulation for 5 min and 30 min, pY992, pY1068, pY1086 and pY1173 were all as strongly phosphorylated in mitotic cells as in interphase cells. The localization of the phosphorylated EGFR were also in consistence with its pattern of endocytosis as previously described [4]. The antibody to pY1045 did not work for indirect immunofluorescence.

We also examined EGF-induced EGFR activation in other cells including Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. CHO-EGFR cells are a selected cell line that stably expresses YFP-tagged EGFR [301]. As shown in Figure 2.3A&B, during mitosis, EGF stimulated EGFR activation to a level very similar to interphase in both Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. When we examined the individual pY sites, we also found that all of the major pY sites on EGFR C-terminus including pY992, pY1045, pY1068, pY1086 and pY1173 were phosphorylated during mitosis in response to EGF stimulation (Figure 2.3C&D)

Finally, we examined the dose-response of EGFR to EGF treatments. We treated Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells with EGF of various concentrations as indicated and examined the overall phosphorylation of EGFR during interphase and mitosis. As shown in Figure 2.3E, although the higher dosage of EGF (10 and 50 ng/ml) stimulated stronger EGFR phosphorylation, the low dose of EGF (5 and 1 ng/ml) also stimulated strong EGFR phosphorylation for the cells in either interphase or mitosis in all these three cell lines. These results indicate that during mitosis, EGFR is activated by addition of EGF to a similar level as in interphase.

2.4.3 The effects of activated EGFR on PI3K/AKT pathway in M phase

We next examined whether the activated EGFR stimulates the major signaling pathways during mitosis. We first examined the PI3K/AKT pathway that is known to be activated by EGF during interphase. Although no specific pY site at EGFR C-terminus has been shown to bind to the p85α subunit of PI3K, PI3K has been shown to co-immunoprecipitated with activated EGFR and was phosphorylated by EGF addition [158]. Here we showed that EGF-stimulated the phosphorylation of p85α subunit of PI3K during mitosis (Figure 2.4A&B). However, the pattern of p85α phosphorylation during mitosis was different from interphase. EGF-induced p85α phosphorylation in mitosis was delayed and the intensity was lower when compared with interphase (Figure 2.4A&B). We next examined EGF-induced phosphorylation of AKT during mitosis. We showed that two AKT isoforms including AKT1 (60 kDa) and AKT2 (56 kDa) were detected in both interphase and mitosis (Figure 2.4C). While EGF stimulated the phosphorylation of AKT2 in the phosphorylation of AKT2 i

mitosis (Figure 2.4C-E). We further showed that treatment of the Hela H2B-GFP cells with AG1478 to inhibit EGFR activation blocked EGF-induced AKT phosphorylation in both interphase and mitosis (Figure 2.4F). Similarly, inhibition of PI3K activity by treatment of Hela H2B-GFP cells with wortmannin also blocked EGF-induced activation of AKT in both interphase and mitosis (Figure 2.4G).

The functional differences among AKT isoforms are not well defined, however, activation of AKT in general is critical to activate the cellular anti-apoptotic pathways to support cell survival. To examine whether the activation of AKT2 helps cell survival during mitosis, we examined whether addition of EGF during mitosis protects cells from nocodazole-induced apoptosis. It has been shown that treatment of the cells with nocodazole arrests cell at mitosis and the prolonged arrest at mitosis leads to cell apoptosis. Indeed, we showed by using a MTT assay that treatment with nocodazole for 24 h strongly reduced the number of living cells, possibly through apoptosis (Figure 2.4H). However, addition of EGF increased the number of surviving cells (Figure 2.4H), which suggests that EGF protects cell from apoptosis during mitosis.

2.4.4 The effects of activated EGFR on PLC-γ1, Cbl and c-Src in M phase

We also examined whether EGF was able to stimulate the activation of other important signaling proteins during mitosis. The signaling proteins examined include PLC- γ 1, CBL and c-SRC. As shown in Fig. 8A&B, PLC- γ 1 was expressed in mitosis at a level similar to interphase in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Moreover, EGF stimulated strong PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation during mitosis. When compared with interphase, PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in mitosis is at similar intensity but lasts much longer. For the cells in interphase, PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation peaked at 5 min of EGF addition and dropped to a very low level at 30 min; however, during mitosis, PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation mintained at high level even 1 hour after EGF addition (Figure 2.5A&B). We further showed that

inhibition of EGFR activation by treating Hela H2B-GFP cells with AG1478 blocked EGFinduced PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in both interphase and mitosis (Figure 2.5C), which indicates that the observed PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation was due to the activation of EGFR. When we examined EGF-induced PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in M phase in Cos7 cells, we got very similar results (Suppl Figure 2.1A-C). We showed that EGF stimulated PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in mitosis (Suppl Figure 2.1A). The activation of PLC- γ 1 occurred at various EGF dosages ranging from 5 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml and EGF concentration of 1ng/ml stimulated very little PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation (Suppl Figure 2.1B). Moreover, inhibition of EGFR kinase activity by AG1478 blocked EGF-induced PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in both interphase and mitosis (Suppl Figure 2.1C). We also examined whether EGF stimulates PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in mitotic CHO-EGFR cells. We showed that at the concentration ranging from 1 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml EGF stimulated PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation (Suppl Figure 2.1D).

We next examined whether the activated EGFR is able to phosphorylate c-CBL in mitotic Hela H2B-GFP cells. We showed that c-CBL was well expressed in M phase, although it was slightly lower than interphase (Figure 2.5D). EGF strongly stimulated c-CBL phosphorylation in the cells of both interphase and mitosis. Again, c-CBL phosphorylation in mitotic cells lasted longer than the cells in the interphase (Figure 2.5D&E). Similar results were obtained in Cos7 cells (Suppl Figure 2.1E). In Cos7 cells, EGF stimulated strong c-CBL phosphorylation in the cells of both interphase and M phase (Suppl Figure 2.1E) and the c-CBL phosphorylation was inhibited when cells were treated with AG1478 to block EGFR activation (Suppl Figure 2.1F).

We also examined c-SRC activation in Hela H2B-GFP cells during mitosis. We showed that c-SRC was well expressed in M phase (Figure 2.5F). EGF strongly stimulated c-SRC phosphorylation at its Y418 site in the cells of both interphase and mitosis. c-SRC phosphorylation

in mitosis was weaker, but lasted longer than the cells in the interphase (Figure 2.5F&G). It is interesting to notice that the c-SRC band is upshifted in mitotic cells, which suggests additional phosphorylation on the other sites.

2.4.5 The effects of activated EGFR on ERK activation in M phase

We next examined the effects of activated EGFR on ERK pathway in M phase. It has been reported that the ERK1/2 is not activated by EGFR activation during mitosis [2,3,282]. We showed here that indeed ERK1/2 was little phosphorylated by addition of EGF in M phase, although ERK1/2 was expressed in a level similar to interphase (Figure 2.6A-C). As a positive control, we showed that ERK1/2 were strongly activated by EGF in interphase (Figure 2.6A-C). We further showed that in interphase ERK1/2 were strongly phosphorylated even at the EGF dosage of 1 ng/ml (Figure 2.6D), which is consistent with our previous results [158]. However, ERK1/2 were little activated at the EGF dosage from 1ng/ml to 50 ng/ml during mitosis (Figure 2.6D). We then verified our results in other cell lines including Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. As shown in Fig. 3E, ERK1/2 were expressed at the same level during mitosis as in the interphase in both Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. While ERK1/2 were strongly phosphorylated by EGF during interphase, ERK1/2 were barely phosphorylated in response to EGF during mitosis in both Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells (Figure 2.6E).

We also examined the phosphorylation of two ERK substrates, RSK and ELK1. We showed that RSK was also little activated in response to EGF in M phase as compared to interphase, although RSK expression levels were similar in mitotic cells as compared with interphase cells (Figure 2.6F). Similar results were obtained for ELK1. As shown in Figure 2.6G&H, ELK was well expressed in M phase as in interphase in Hela H2B-GFP cells. EGF stimulated strong phosphorylation of ELK1 during mitosis (Figure 2.6G&H). Although EGF

stimulated some phosphorylation of ELK1 during mitosis, the level of ELK1 phosphorylation was much lower in M phase than in interphase (Figure 2.6G&H). Together our results indicate that during M phase EGF was unable to stimulate activation of ERK1/2 and the ERK substrates RSK and ELK1.

2.4.6 The mechanisms underlying the inactivation of ERK by EGF during mitosis

Previous work suggested that the decoupling of EGFR activation from ERK activation was due to the mitotic phosphorylation of multiple ERK activators including SOS-1 and RAF-1 by CDC2. Inhibition of CDC2 activity by the CDK inhibitor roscovitine in mitotic cells restored ERK activation by EGF [40]. To test this, we treated Hela H2B-GFP cells with roscovitine to inhibit CDC2 activity and examined the effects on ERK activation. Interestingly, treatment with roscovitine did not restore the activation of ERK1/2 during M phase (Figure 2.7A). Moreover, roscovitine treatment did not change the phosphorylation of RAF-1 in Hela H2B-GFP cells during mitosis (Figure 2.7B). These results suggest that CdCD2 activity and its phosphorylation of RAF-1 are not responsible for the lack of activation of ERK in mitosis.

To understand why activated EGFR does not activate ERK during mitosis, we examined the activation of signaling proteins downstream of EGFR but upstream of ERK. First we examined the expression level of GRB2 and SHC in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells during mitosis. We showed that in all three cell lines the expression levels of GRB2 and SHC were very similar between interphase and mitosis (Figure 2.7C). We next examined the interaction between EGFR and SHC in response to EGF stimulation in both Cos7 cells. The interaction between EGFR and SHC were determined by the co-immunoprecipitation (IP). As shown in Figure 2.7D, following EGF stimulation, SHC was co-IPed with EGFR in response to EGF in both mitotic cells and the cells in interphase.

We next showed that the SOS was also well expressed in mitosis at a level similar to that in interphase (Figure 2.8A). To examine RAS activation by EGF during mitosis, we first examined the expression and localization of RAS by indirect immunofluorescence. As shown in Figure 2.8B, RAS was properly localized to the plasma membrane at similar intensity with or without EGF stimulation in both interphase and M phase. We also showed by immunoblotting that in M phase RAS expressed at a level similar to that in interphase (Figure 2.8C). The RAS activity was determined by its interaction with RBD. With GST-tagged RBD pull-down experiment followed by immunoblotting, we showed that RAS was well activated in mitotic Hela H2B-GFP cells in response to EGF stimulation (Figure 2.8D).

We also checked MEK, the direct activator of ERK. We showed that while MEK was well expressed in mitosis at a level similar to that in interphase, MEK was not phosphorylated in response to EGF in mitotic Hela H2B-GFP cells (Figure 2.8E&F), which was consistent with the early results regarding EGF-induced ERK activation during mitosis (Figure 2.6). We further showed that in interphase ERK1/2 were strongly phosphorylated even at the EGF dosage of 1 ng/ml (Figure 2.8G), which is consistent with our previous results [158]. However, ERK1/2 were little activated at the EGF dosage from 1 to 50 ng/ml (Figure 2.8G). Moreover, we showed that inhibition of EGFR activation by AG1478 blocked EGF-induced MEK activation during interphase (Figure 2.8H), which suggests that the MEK activation observed during interphase is indeed due to the activation of EGFR. However, there was very little MEK activation observed for mitotic cells (Figure 2.8H). The effects of EGF on MEK activation during mitosis were also examined in Cos7 cells (Suppl Figure 2A-C). We showed that in Cos7 cells, EGF stimulated strong MEK activation during interphase, but did not activate MEK during mitosis (Suppl Figure 2A). Furthermore, the activation of MEK during interphase occurred through a wide range of EGF concentration from 1 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml, and the activation of MEK during interphase was inhibited by AG1478 (Suppl Figure 2B&C). However, under all these conditions we did not observe MEK activation during mitosis (Suppl Figure 2B&C).

Finally, we examined the activation of RAF-1, which sits between RAS and MEK in the EGFR-ERK signaling cascade. It has been suggested that RAF-1 activation requires several steps: recruitment to the plasma membrane by activated RAS, de-phosphorylation of pS259 by PP2A, and phosphorylation of S338 and Y341 by various kinases at the plasma membrane [304]. Both S338 and Y341 must be phosphorylated to synergistically activate RAF-1 [305]. Thus, to assess EGF-induced RAF-1 activation during mitosis we examined the phosphorylation of RAF-1 at Y341, S338 and S259 with site-specific antibodies. We first examined RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation. We showed that RAF-1 was well expressed during mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP cells (Figure 2.9A). Interestingly, RAF-1 S338 was phosphorylated following EGF stimulation during mitosis at a similar level to interphase (Figure 2.9A&B). Moreover, RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation was abolished if we treated cells with AG1478 to inhibit EGFR activation (Figure 2.9C). We also examined EGF-induced RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. We showed that RAF-1 was well expressed in mitosis and EGF stimulated RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation in M phase to a level similar to interphase in both Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells (Suppl Figure 2D). Moreover, the RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation occurred through a wide range of EGF concentrations from 1 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml, although the phosphorylation level was much lower at the low concentration of EGF (1ng/ml) for mitotic cells in both Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells (Suppl Figure 2E). We also showed that EGF-induced RAF-1 S338 phosphorylation was inhibited in both interphase and mitosis when Cos7 cells were treated with AG1478 to inhibit EGFR activation (Suppl Figure 2F).

We next examined whether RAF-1 Y341 was phosphorylated by EGF during mitosis. We showed that in Hela H2B-GFP cells, EGF only stimulated RAF-1 Y340/341 phosphorylation of the cells in interphase, however, RAF-1 Y341 was only slightly phosphorylated by EGF during mitosis (Figure 2.9D&E). Finally, we determined the phosphorylation status of RAF-1 S259 during mitosis. Interestingly, RAF-1 S259 was very little phosphorylated during interphase and very strongly phosphorylated during mitosis, independent of EGF treatment (Figure 2.9F&G). Together, our data suggest that RAF-1 was not activated by EGF during mitosis as RAF-1 Y341 was not phosphorylated and S259 was highly phosphorylated. The inactivity of RAF-1 may explain the lack of activation of MEK and ERK1/2.

2.5 Discussion

The role of EGFR signaling in M phase has been rarely studied and poorly understood. The limited studies indicate that EGFR signaling is mostly inhibited during M phase. These studies suggest that inhibition of EGFR activity and its activation of downstream signaling pathways underlie the importance of keeping the cell sheltered from extracellular signals when it undergoes division, and is beneficial for preventing gene expression so to preserve the energy needs that are required for mitotic structural changes [2,3,282]. However, we recently showed that contrary to the dogma, EGF stimulates strong EGFR phosphorylation at Y992 during mitosis [4]. Here we further studied EGF-induced EGFR activation and the activation of various downstream signaling pathways. A model of mitotic EGFR signaling is presented in Figure 2.10.

To obtain large number of mitotic cells, we used nocodazole to arrest the cells at prometaphase. Nocodazole is the chemical most commonly used to arrest cells at prometaphase [4,305]. We showed that treatment with nocodazole for 16 hours arrested more than 80% of the cells at prometaphase. Treatment with nocodazole for 16 hours did not result in detectable cell
death, although longer exposure to nocodazole (>24 h) did increase cell death, probably by apoptosis (Figure 2.4h). By using cyclin B1 and cyclin E as markers for M phase and interphase, respectively [303] (Figure 2.1), and by examining the cells under microscope (data not shown), we showed that our fraction of M phase cells and interphase cells are very specific. Although nocodazole may have some other effects on cell, it is still the choice for studying mitotic cell in almost all of the research [2,3,282,305]. When it was possible, we also used indirect immunofluorescence to confirm our findings in the absence of nocodazole (Figure 2.2G & Figure 2.8B)

Our first major finding is that EGF could fully activated EGFR in M phase. We showed that all the five major tyrosine residues including Y992, Y1035, Y1068, Y1086, and Y1173 were as strongly phosphorylated in response to EGF in M phase as in interphase (Figure 2.2 and Figure 2.3). This finding is confirmed by both immunoblotting in the presence of nocodazole and indirect immunofluorescence in the absence of nocodazole. The peak intensity of the phosphorylation in M phase is similar to that in interphase. An interesting difference is that in M phase, EGFR phosphorylation lasts longer. This longer phosphorylation may be related to its delayed endocytosis and degradation as we reported previously [4]. We further showed that EGF-induced EGFR phosphorylation occurred at a wide range of EGF concentrations from 1 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml. Our observation is consistent among three different cell lines including Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. Together, our results indicate that in M phase, EGFR is strongly activated by EGF. These results challenged the existing dogma that EGFR activation is strongly inhibited in M phase [2,3,282] and highlight the importance to study EGFR-mediated cell signaling in mitosis.

The second finding of this research is that activated EGFR actively regulates its downstream signaling pathways. We showed that during mitosis, EGFR is able to activate most of the major

signaling pathways, including PI3K/AKT, PLC-y1, c-CBL, and c-SRC as in interphase. We showed that EGF stimulated the activation of PI3K and AKT-2 in mitosis and this activation is dependent on the activation of EGFR (Figure 2.4). It is interesting to notice that EGF is able to activate both AKT-1 and AKT-2 in interphase. The functional differences among AKT isoforms are not well defined, however, activation of AKT in general is critical to activate the cellular antiapoptotic pathways to support cell survival. We showed that in mitosis PLC-y1 phosphorylation has the similar peak intensity (at 5 min) and lasts much longer. The EGF-induced PLC- γ 1 phosphorylation in M phase is also dependent on the activation of EGFR. PLC-y1 has been implicated in various growth factor (GF)-induced cell signaling including cell proliferation, differentiation, receptor endocytosis, cell motility, membrane ruffle formation and branching tubulogenesis [306–312]. Although need to be elucidated, the strong phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 in response to EGF in M phase suggests that EGFR- PLC-y1 signaling cascade is important in regulating cell functions in mitosis. EGF also stimulated strong c-CBL phosphorylation during mitosis. CBL plays important roles in regulating EGFR ubiquitination and endocytosis [181,182,187]. We also showed that EGF stimulated c-SRC phosphorylation at Y418. SRC plays diverse functions in cell signaling such as cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, migration, and metabolism [151].

The third finding of this research is that the activation of EGFR during mitosis plays important roles in regulating cell functions. We showed that addition of EGF during mitosis protected cells from apoptosis induced by prolonged exposure to nocodazole (Figure 2.4H). It is well established that in interphase, EGF promotes cell survival by activating PI3K/AKT pathway and other pathways [108,290,291]. We also showed that EGF activated PI3K and AKT-2 through the activation of EGFR in this study (Figure 2.4A-G). Thus, it is possible that during mitosis, EGF

protects cells from apoptosis by activating PI3K/AKT pathways, although this needs to be confirmed by further experiments. Further research is also need to determine why activated EGFR is able to activate AKT-2, but not AKT-1, in mitosis and what is the functional significance of this selective activation. Moreover, we have shown previously that EGFR activation is required for EGF-induced EGFR endocytosis during mitosis [4]. It was reported that stimulation of cells with high concentration of EGF results in the activation of CBL and the ubiquitination of EGFR, which stimulate EGFR endocytosis through the caveolar pathway in interphase [48,162]. Interestingly, we showed here that c-CBL was strongly phosphorylated by EGF during mitosis (Figure 2.5). Thus, we hypothesized that the activation of c-CBL functions to regulate EGFR endocytosis in mitosis through non-clathrin mediated endocytosis. Its role is explored in depth in Chapter 3

Another important finding of this research is that activated EGFR is able to selectively activate some downstream signaling pathways without activating others. Beside the above mentioned selective activation of AKT-2, but not AKT-1, we also showed here that activated EGFR did not activate MEK/ERK pathway (Figure 2.6-2.9). We showed that EGF did not stimulate ERK1/2 activation during M phase in all three cell lines examined (Figure 2.6). We also showed that the two major ERK substrates, RSK and ELK1 were not activated by EGF stimulation during mitosis (Figure 2.6), which indicates that the ERK signaling pathways were not responsive to EGF stimulation during mitosis. While our finding that ERK was not activated by EGF during M phase is consistent with early reports, the previous reports suggest that the ERK inactivation is due to the inactivation of EGFR during M phase [2,3,282]. It was further reported that during M phase, high CDC2 activity inhibits EGFR-mediated ERK signaling by interacting with and phosphorylating multiple proteins including EGFR, SOS1, GRB2 and RAF-1 [3]. However, in our research, we find that EGFR is strongly activated by EGF during M phase, but the activated EGFR

was unable to activate downstream ERK signaling pathways. We also showed that inhibition of CDC2 activity with roscovitine did not restore EGF-induced ERK activation in Hela H2B-GFP cells (Figure 2.7).

We showed that inactivation of MEK/ERK pathway may be due to the lack of full activation of RAF-1 during mitosis. The major signaling proteins functioning between EGFR and ERK along the EGFR-ERK signaling cascade are well expressed during M phase (Figure 2.6-2.9). These proteins include SHC, GRB2, SOS1, RAS, RAF-1 and MEK. SHC is able to associate with EGFR following EGF stimulation (Figure 2.7). RAS is also strongly activated during M phase in response to EGF (Figure 2.8D). However, MEK, the direct activator of ERK, is not activated by EGF stimulation during M phase (Figure 2.8E-H and Suppl Figure 2A-C). We then focused on RAF-1, the protein between Ras and MEK in EGFR-ERK signaling cascades.

It has been suggested that RAF-1 activation requires several steps, recruitment to the plasma membrane by activated RAS, de-phosphorylation of pS259 by PP2A, and phosphorylation of S338 and Y341 by various kinases at the plasma membrane [304]. Both S338 and Y341 must be phosphorylated to synergistically activate RAF-1 [304]. Thus, to assess EGF-induced RAF-1 activation during mitosis we examined the phosphorylation of RAF-1 at Y341, S338 and S259 with site-specific antibodies (Figure 2.6 and SI Suppl Figure 2D-F). We showed that RAF-1 S338 is strongly phosphorylated in response to EGF during M phase. However, RAF-1 Y341 was not phosphorylated in response to EGF during M phase. Moreover, during M phase RAF-1 S259 was highly phosphorylated when compared with interphase. The strong phosphorylation of RAF-1 was not activated in response to EGF during M phase. Further research is needed to understand what blocks the activation of RAF-1 by activated EGFR. RAF-1 is regulated by complex mechanisms.

Despite intensive studies, the RAF-1 regulation is not completely understood. In the inactive state, RAF-1 is in a closed conformation in which the N-terminal regulatory region folds over and occludes the catalytic region. This conformation is stabilized by a 14-3-3 dimer binding to pS259 in N-terminal domain, and pS621 in C-terminal domain [304,313]. Following stimulation, inactive RAF-1 may be recruited to the plasma membrane by activated RAS and/or by phosphatidic acid (PA). At the cell membrane RAF-1 pS259 will be dephosphorylated by phosphatase PP2A, leading to the release of 14-3-3 and the conformational change that enables RAS binding and the phosphorylation of S338 and Y341. Y341 can be phosphorylated by JAK family kinases. S338 can be phosphorylated by PAK, PKC, and CK2 [304,314,315]. Based on this activation model, our data suggest that there are two pools of RAF-1 during mitosis. The major pool of RAF-1 remains phosphorylated at S259 with or without EGF stimulation and thus is locked in inactivate form. The other pool of RAF-1 is dephosphorylated at S259 and is able to be activated by phosphorylation of S338 and Y341. However, while S338 is phosphorylated in response to EGF, Y341 phosphorylation was blocked by an unknown mechanism. As a result, both pools of RAF-1 are not phosphorylated by EGF stimulation during M phase. We do not know whether the failure to dephosphorylate pS259 is due to failed membrane translocation or due to the lack of PP2A activity during M phase. We also do not know whether the failure to phosphorylate Y341 is due to the low activity of JAK family kinase activities in response to EGF during M phase. Further research is needed.

2.6 Conclusions

Mitosis and EGFR are both the targets for cancer therapy. Mitosis is the most dynamic period of the cell cycle, involving a major reorganization of virtually all cell components. A hallmark of cancer involves the cancer cells' ability to sustain chronic proliferation. Therefore, many cancer drugs are designed to specifically target mitotic cells. On the other hand, EGFR is overexpressed or over-activated in many epithelial tumors and plays important roles in cancer development and progression. EGFR and other EGFR family members such as ErbB2 and ErbB3 have also been targets for cancer therapy. Thus, the understanding of EGFR signaling during mitosis will certainly improve our means to combat cancer.

2.7 Figures



Figure 2.1. Expression of Cyclin B1 and Cyclin E in interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Mitotic cells (M-phase) were obtained by treating the cells with nocodazole for 16 hours and cells without nocodazole treatment were used as the interphase (I-phase) cells. Cells both in I-phase and M-phase were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and the expression of Cyclin B1 and Cyclin E were examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (A) Immunoblotting to show the expression of Cyclin B1 and Cyclin E. (B-C) Quantification of the data from (A) to show the expression of Cyclin B1 (B) and Cyclin E (C). Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error.



Figure 2.2. Characterization of EGFR phosphorylation following EGF stimulation in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Cells in interphase and mitosis were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and phosphorylation of EGFR at various tyrosine residues were examined by immunoblotting (A-F) and indirect immunofluorescence (G) as described in Materials and Methods. (A) The phosphorylation of EGFR was examined with various antibodies specific for the 5 major tyrosine phosphorylation sites as indicated. (B-F) Quantification of the data from (A). Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. **: p<0.01. (G) The phosphorylation of EGFR was examined by indirect immunofluorescence. The red indicates the localization of phosphorylated EGFR and the green indicated the cell cycle stage. Controls used IgG instead of primary EGFR antibodies. Size bar: 20 µm.



Figure 2.3. Characterization of EGFR phosphorylation following EGF stimulation in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR, and Hela H2B-GFP cells. (A-B) The phosphorylation of EGFR was examined with antibody to phosphotyrosine (PY99) and to phosphore EGFR (pEGFR) in Cos7 cells (A) and CHO-EGFR cells (B). (C-D) The phosphorylation of EGFR was examined with various antibodies specific for the 5 major tyrosine phosphorylation sites as indicated in Cos7 cells (C) and CHO-EGFR cells (D). (E) EGFR activation in response to EGF of various concentrations during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentrations for 15 min and phosphorylation of EGFR was examined by immunoblotting as described in Materials and Methods.

А



Figure 2.4. EGF-induced activation of PI3K-AKT pathway and the effects on cell survival during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP cells. (A) I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time, and the expression and phosphorylation of p85 were examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (B) I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time, and the expression and phosphorylation of AKT were examined by immunoblotting. (C-D) Quantification of the data from (B) for pAKT1 (C) and pAKT2 (D). Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (E) Inhibition of EGF-induced AKT phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for indicated time. The phosphorylation of AKT was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (F) Inhibition of EGF-induced AKT phosphorylation by PI3K inhibitor wortmannin. Both Iphase and M-phase cells were treated with wortmannin for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time. The phosphorylation of AKT was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (G) The effects of EGF on nocodazole-induced cell death during M phase as determined by MTT assay. **: p<0.01.



Figure 2.5. EGF-induced activation of PLC-y1, c-Cbl, and c-Src during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP cells. I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1, c-Cbl, and c-Src were examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (A) The expression and the phosphorylation of PLC-γ1 were examined by immunoblotting Hela H2B-GFP cells. (B) Quantification of the data from (A) for p PLC- γ 1. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (C) Inhibition of EGF-induced PLC-y1 phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time. The phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (D) The expression and the phosphorylation of c-Cbl were examined by immunoblotting. (E) Quantification of the data from (D) for p-c-Cbl. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (F) The expression and the phosphorylation of c-Src at Y418 were examined by immunoblotting. (G) Quantification of the data from (F) for p-c-Src. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. **: p<0.01.



Figure 2.6. EGF-induced activation of ERK1/2 and their substrates RSK and Elk-1 during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. Interphase (I-phase) and mitotic (M-phase) cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (pERK44 and pERK42) were examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (A) The expression of ERK1/2 and the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (pERK44 and pERK42) were examined with specific antibodies as indicated in Hela H2B-GFP cells. (B-C) Quantification of the data from (A) for pERK44 (B) and pERK42 (C). Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (D) The phosphorylation of ERK1/2 following the stimulation by EGF of indicated concentrations for 15 min in Hela H2B-GFP cells. (E) The expression of ERK1/2 and the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 (pERK44 and pERK42) were examined with specific antibodies as indicated in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. (F) The expression and the phosphorylation of RSK were examined with specific antibodies as indicated in Hela H2B-GFP cells. (G) The expression and the phosphorylation of Elk-1 were examined with specific antibodies as indicated in Hela H2B-GFP cells. (H) Quantification of the data from (G) for pElk-1. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. **: p < 0.01.



Figure 2.7. Activation of ERK signaling pathways during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. (A-B) Hela H2B-GFP cells in I-phase and M-phase were treated with EGF with or without rosocovitine (Rosco). The phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and Raf-1 was examined by immunoblotting with indicated antibodies as described in Experimental procedures. (C) The expression of SHC and Grb2 during interphase and M phase in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells was examined by immunoblotting with indicated antibodies. (D) Co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) of EGFR and SHC. For Cos7 cells either in interphase or in mitosis, EGFR was immunoprecipitated with specific antibody and the Co-IPed SHC was examined by immunoblotting.



Figure 2.8. EGF-induced activation of Ras and MEK during interphase and M phase in Hela H2B-GFP, Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. (A) The expression of Sos1 and Ras in Hela H2B-GFP cells was examined by immunoblotting with indicated antibodies. (B) The subcellular localization of Ras (red) was examined by indirect immunofluorescence in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Controls used IgG instead of primary EGFR antibodies. (C) The expression of Ras in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells was examined by immunoblotting with antibody to Ras. The loading control (tubulin) is the same as in Fig. 4C. (D) EGF-induced activation of Ras in Hela H2B-GFP and Cos7 cells. Cell lysates were incubated with GST-RBD conjugated with glutathione beads. The glutathione beads were then subjected to immunoblotting analysis with mouse anti-Ras antibody. GST-RBD and total Ras in the lysates were stained by antibodies to show equal loading. (E) EGF-induced activation of MEK during interphase and M phase in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Cells were stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time and phosphorylation of MEK was examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (F) Quantification of the data from (E). Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (G) Activation of MEK in response to EGF of various concentrations in Hela H2B-GFP cells. Both interphase (I-phase) and mitosis (M-phase) cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentration for 15 min and the phosphorylation of MEK was examined by immunoblotting. (H) Inhibition of EGF-induced MEK activation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time. The phosphorylation of EGFR and MEK was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. **: p<0.01 and *: p<0.05.



Figure 2.9. EGF-induced activation of Raf-1 during interphase and mitosis in Hela H2B-

GFP cells. Cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and phosphorylation of Raf-1 was examined by immunoblotting as described in Experimental procedures. (A) The expression of Raf-1 and the phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 were examined with specific antibodies as indicated. (B) Quantification of the data from (A) for Raf1-S338. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. (C) Inhibition of EGF-induced Raf1-S338 phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for indicated time. The phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (D) The phosphorylation of Raf1-Y341 was examined with by immunoblotting. (E) Quantification of the data from (D) for Raf1-Y341. Each value is the average of at least three independent error. (F) The phosphorylation of Raf1-S259 was examined by immunoblotting. (G) Quantification of the data from (F) for Raf1-S259. Each value is the average of at least three independent experiments and the error bar is the standard error. **: p<0.01 and *: p<0.05.



Figure 2.10. Schematic illustration of EGFR signaling pathways during mitosis and interphase. The green color indicates the proteins activated in mitosis and the red indicates the proteins not activated in mitosis, but activated in interphase.



Suppl Figure 2.1. EGF-induced activation of PLC-y1 and c-Cbl during interphase and M phase in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated time and phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 and c-Cbl were examined by immunoblotting as described in Materials and Methods. (A) The expression and the phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 were examined by immunoblotting in Cos7 cells. (B) Phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 in response to EGF of various concentrations in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentration for 15 min and the phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 was examined by immunoblotting. (C) Inhibition of EGF-induced PLC-y1 phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478 in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time. The phosphorylation of PLC-y1 was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (D) EGF-induced phosphorylation of PLC-y1 in CHO-EGFR cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentration for 15 min and the phosphorylation of PLC- γ 1 was examined by immunoblotting. (E) The expression and the phosphorylation of c-Cbl were examined by immunoblotting in Cos7 cells. (F) Inhibition of EGF-induced c-Cbl phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478 in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for indicated time. The phosphorylation of c-Cbl was examined by immunoblotting. Control: M-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min.



Suppl Figure 2.2. EGF-induced activation of MEK and Raf1 during interphase and M phase in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. (A) EGF-induced activation of MEK in Cos7 cells. Cells in I-phase and M-phase were stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time and phosphorylation of MEK was examined by immunoblotting as described in Materials and Methods. (B) Activation of MEK in response to EGF of various concentrations in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentration for 15 min and the phosphorylation of MEK was examined by immunoblotting. (C) Inhibition of EGFinduced MEK activation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478 in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and Mphase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for indicated time. The phosphorylation of MEK was examined by immunoblotting. Control: I-phase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min. (D) EGF-induced phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. Cells in I-phase and M-phase were stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for the indicated time and phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 was examined by immunoblotting as described in Materials and Methods. (E) Phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 in response to EGF of various concentrations in Cos7 and CHO-EGFR cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were stimulated with EGF of indicated concentration for 15 min and the phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 was examined by immunoblotting. (F) Inhibition of EGF-induced Raf1-S338 phosphorylation by EGFR kinase inhibitor AG1478 in Cos7 cells. Both I-phase and M-phase cells were treated with AG1478 for 30 min and then stimulated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for indicated time. The phosphorylation of Raf1-S338 was examined by immunoblotting. Control: Iphase cells treated with EGF (50 ng/ml) for 15 min.

3 Chapter 3

Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor endocytosis during mitosis

Note: All experiments were carried out by Ping Wee.

3.1 Chapter Abstract

The overactivation of EGFR is implicated in various cancers. Endocytosis represents a means of EGFR signaling attenuation, by internalizing and deactivating EGFR. We previously found that EGFR endocytosis during mitosis is mediated differently than during interphase. Here, we sought to study the mechanism of the differential mitotic endocytosis that includes slower endocytosis, independence from clathrin, and dependence on EGFR kinase activity. We found that contrary to interphase cells, mitotic EGFR endocytosis is more reliant on the activation of the E3 ligase CBL for endocytosis. At high EGF doses, inhibition of CBL by siRNA or by transfection with dominant negative CBL inhibited EGFR endocytosis of mitotic cells, but not of interphase cells. Moreover, EGFR receptors with mutations in CBL- and GRB2binding regions also followed a similar pattern. EGF stimulation appeared to induce stronger ubiquitination of mitotic EGFR compared to interphase EGFR. Since EGFR ubiquitination mostly mediates non-clathrin mediated endocytosis (NCE), and CBL mediates this ubiquitination, mitotic EGFR endocytosis appears to occur exclusively through NCE. Low doses of EGF only activates clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) during interphase, however during mitosis, we found that NCE was the only active endocytic pathway. Contrary to interphase, CBL and the CBL-binding regions of EGFR were required for mitotic EGFR endocytosis at low doses. This was due to the mitotic ubiquitination of the EGFR even at low EGF doses. As a result of the exclusive activation of NCE during mitosis, mitotic EGFR is only trafficked toward lysosomal degradation. In summary, we report the molecular mechanisms of mitotic EGFR endocytosis. This work may be used to exclusively target pharmacological agents to be retained in cells, instead of being expunged through recycling endocytic pathways.

3.2 Introduction

The overactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a common occurrence in cancers. It imbues cells with increased cell proliferation, and thus higher mitotic indexes [316,317]. Despite an increase in the number of mitotic cells in cancers, little is known about the functional role of the EGFR during mitosis. In addition, mitotic cells are more abundant in cancers treated with the anti-mitotic class of cancer drugs, which arrests cells in mitosis. Therefore, a better understanding of the differences in EGFR signaling and endocytosis between interphase and mitosis may lead to exploitable features for pharmacological targeting.

Mitosis represents a period where the needs and requirements of the cell differ vastly from interphase cells. EGFR signaling has been shown to be regulated differently between interphase and mitotic cells. We and others previously found that the EGFR of mitotic cells can still be activated during mitosis, but that the signal transduction pathways are regulated differently compared to interphase cells [3,279]. We also previously found that EGFR endocytosis of mitotic cells is regulated differently, in that EGFR is endocytosed at a slower rate [4]. At the time, we did not fully decipher the molecular mechanisms behind the differential kinetics. Therefore, in this report, we further studied this phenomenon.

Endocytosis of the EGFR can lead to two distinct fates for the receptor: recycling back to the plasma membrane or lysosomal degradation. As such, the route taken directly influences the total number of receptors available for a subsequent signal transduction response. EGFR recycling has been shown to be mediated by clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME), whereas nonclathrin mediated endocytosis (NCE) targets receptors for lysosomal degradation [48,163,165]. CME is a mechanism of internalization that is dependent on the recruitment of clathrin to the receptor. Actin polymerization plays a key role in CME [318,319]. During mitosis, CME has been found to be inhibited [320–323]. This may be due to the unavailability of actin for CME, as it is occupied in forming the rigid mitotic cell cortex [171]. Furthermore, multiple components of CME may be occupied in performing mitotic-specific non-endocytic functions, such as clathrin, dynamin, or AP-2 functioning at the spindle apparatus, in centrosomes, or with BubR1 respectively [324–328]. In agreement with this, we previously found mitotic EGFR endocytosis to be clathrin-independent, since siRNA depletion of clathrin heavy chain did not affect mitotic EGFR endocytosis [4]. We therefore hypothesized that mitotic EGFR proceeded exclusively through NCE.

NCE has been described as having potential tumour suppressive characteristics [329]. NCE has also been described as initiating more slowly than CME [48,166,168,205,330,331], which fits with our observed delay in mitotic EGFR endocytosis [4]. Molecularly, EGFR NCE is only activated by physiologically high doses of EGF [48,163,165], which is likely a mechanism evolved to compensate for the easily saturable CME pathway and to prevent excessive EGFR signaling [47]. EGFR NCE has been shown to be mediated by ubiquitination of the receptor, and this ubiquitination has been shown to be limited by the activity of the E3 ligase c-CBL [48,163,165]. Therefore, c-CBL (henceforth CBL) provides a critical negative regulatory control of the EGFR, as it targets the EGFR for endocytosis and degradation. The activation of CBL depends on its binding to the activated EGFR, either by direct interaction with pY1045, or by indirect interaction through the adaptor GRB2, which binds to pY1068 or pY1086 [163,165,190,198]. In this report, we find that EGF-stimulated EGFR endocytosis proceeds exclusively by NCE during mitosis. Since CME is shut down, CBL has a more crucial role in mediating mitotic EGFR endocytosis. Surprisingly, CBL activity appears to be enhanced during mitosis, as even low doses of EGF activate CBL-mediated ubiquitination of the EGFR. As a consequence, during mitosis, activated EGFR may be exclusively trafficked to lysosomes. These findings represent a mechanism by which to target EGFR and endosomes directly to lysosomes, which may be useful for inducing EGFR degradation or the internalization and retention of pharmacological agents into cells [332].

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Antibodies and chemicals

Antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, Calif.), including: mouse anti-EGFR (sc-373746), anti-pY99 (sc-7020), anti-CBL (sc-170), anti-Ubiquitin (sc-8017), anti-Cyclin B1 (sc-245), and anti-β-Tubulin (sc-5274), rabbit anti-GRB2 (sc-8034) and anti-SHC (sc-967), and goat anti pY1068 (sc-16804) and pY1086 (sc-16804). The horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA) and the fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Jackson ImmunoResearch (West Grove, PA). Goat anti-mouse immunoglobulin G (IgG) conjugated with agarose were from Sigma (St. Louis, Mo.). EGF was from Upstate Biotechnology.

3.3.2 Plasmid construction

The EGFR-YFP, EGFR-Y1045F-YFP, EGFR-Δ991-YFP, and EGFR-Δ1044-YFP constructs were described previously [187]. The c-CBL-YFP and 70z-CBL-YFP constructs were generous gifts from the Sorkin Lab.

3.3.3 Cell Culture, transfection, and treatment

HeLa, 293T, and MCF-7 cells were growth at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum and antibiotic/antimycotic solution maintained at 5% CO₂ atmosphere. For transfection, MCF-7 cells in 24-well plates were transfected using LipofectAMINE 2000 reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) as per the manufacturer's protocol, and 293T cells in 24-well plates were transfected using calcium phosphate precipitation with BES (N,N-bis(2-hydroxyethyl)-2-aminoethanesulfonic acid) buffer [333]. MCF-7 and 293T cells were chosen due to their low levels of endogenous EGFR [334,335]. Small interfering RNAmediated silencing transfections were done using Cbl siRNA (sc-29241; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, Calif) in HeLa cells as per the manufacturer's protocol.

Mitotic cells were collected by gentle mitotic shake-off as previously described [279]. Briefly, cells were arrested in prometaphase by treating cells with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) in serum-free media for 16h. The nocodazole-arrested cells were treated with EGF (2 ng/mL or 50 ng/mL) for 5, 30, and 45 min, or not treated with EGF (0 min). The EGF-containing media was then removed and serum-free media was added. Cells were placed on ice and dislodged by gently tapping the plates for 5 min. The mitotic cell-containing media was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min. The obtained mitotic cells were then lysed with cold Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (M-Per) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Rockford, IL USA) buffer in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors including 100 mm NaF, 5 mM MgCl2, 0.5 mM Na3VO4, 0.02% NaN3, 0.1 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 10 µg/ml aprotinin, and 1 µM pepstatin A. To collect lysates for interphase cells, cells were serum-starved for 16h. Cells were then treated with EGFR for 5, 30, and 45 min. To ensure consistency with the mitotic treatment, the cells were also tapped on ice for 5 min to remove mitotic cells and then left on ice for 5 min. The remaining interphase cells were collected by scraping on ice in cold M-Per in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors. For both interphase and mitotic cells, after lysing, the samples were centrifuged at 21,000 ×g and the supernatant was collected for immunoblotting.

3.3.4 Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting

Immunoprecipitation experiments were carried out as described previously [187]. Interphase or mitotic cells were lysed with immunoprecipitation buffer (20 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 100 mM NaF, 0.5 mM Na3VO4, 0.02% NaN3, 0.1 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 10 µg/mL aprotinin, and 1 µM pepstatin A) for 15 min at 4°C. Cell lysates were then centrifuged at 21,000 ×g. The supernatant, containing 1 mg of total protein, were incubated with 0.8 µg of mouse monoclonal anti-EGFR antibody A-10 (Santa Cruz) for 2 h at 4°C with gentle mixing by inversion. Goat anti-mouse IgG conjugated with agarose was added to each fraction and incubated for 2 h at 4°C with gentle mixing by inversion. Next, the agarose beads were centrifuged, washed three times with immunoprecipitation buffer, and 2× loading buffer was added. The samples were boiled for 5 min at 95°C and loaded for SDS-PAGE for subsequent immunoblotting.

Immunoblotting was performed as previously described [158]. Briefly, protein samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and were transferred to nitrocellulose. The membranes were blocked for non-specific binding, and incubated with primary antibody overnight. The membranes were then probed with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody followed by detection

with enhanced chemiluminescence solution (Pierce Chemical, Rockford, IL) and light detection on Fuji Super RX Film (Tokyo, Japan) on MACHINE.

3.3.5 Indirect immunofluorescence

Indirect immunofluorescence was performed as previously described [4]. Cells were grown on glass coverslips and serum-starved for 16 h. After treatment, the cells were fixed with ice cold methanol for 10 min. The cells were then permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 for 10 min on ice. Next, cells were blocked with 1% BSA for 1 h on ice. Cells were then incubated with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Primary antibody anti-CBL was used at 1:50, and antipEGFR-Y1086 and anti-EGFR were used at 1:200. Cells were then washed three times with PBS, and incubated with rhodamine- or FITC-labeled secondary antibody for 1 h at 4°C. Cells were then washed three times PBS, followed by nuclear staining with DAPI (4′6-diamidino-2phenylindole) (300 nM). Finally, cells were washed three times and mounted. Images were taken with DeltaVision deconvolution microscopy (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Buckinghamshire).

Quantification of EGFR internalization was performed using ImageJ as previously described [4]. Briefly, the cells were visualized by differential interface contrast (DIC). For each image, a large polygon (V_L) was drawn along the outer edge of the cell membrane to represent the entire area of the cell. In addition, a small polygon (V_S) was drawn along the inner edge of the cell membrane to represent the cell interior. The V_L and V_S values were calculated for either stains of EGFR, pEGFR, or for YFP (for EGFR-YFP mutants), and membrane EGFR percentage was obtained by the following equation:

Membrane EGFR percentage =
$$\frac{V_L - V_S}{V_L}$$
3.4 Results

3.4.1 CBL interaction with EGFR during mitosis

EGFR expression at the plasma membrane does not change from interphase to mitosis [4,279,280]. Previously, we found that similar to interphase, stimulation of nocodazole-arrested mitotic HeLa cells with high doses of EGF (50 ng/mL) induced the phosphorylation of the EGFR at all major tyrosine residues, including Y992, Y1045, Y1068, Y1086, and Y1173 [279]. Moreover, this also phosphorylated CBL to similar levels.

To confirm mitotic CBL activation by EGF stimulation, we observed CBL localization in mitotic HeLa cells by immunofluorescence microscopy. Immunofluorescence co-staining using anti-EGFR and anti-CBL antibodies revealed that CBL co-localizes to EGFR upon 5 min of 50 ng/mL EGF treatment in both interphase and mitotic cells (Figure 3.1A). Furthermore, immunoprecipitation of EGFR using a monoclonal anti-EGFR antibody of both interphase and mitotic cell lysates showed that mitotic cells stimulated with EGF for 5 mins had higher IPs of CBL with EGFR than interphase cells (Figure 3.1B). Interestingly, CBL IP with EGFR decreased after 30 min EGF in mitotic cells, whereas it increased for interphase cells, and continued increasing at 45 mins EGF. Most surprisingly however, was that ubiquitination of the EGFR was enhanced at all time points studied during mitosis compared to interphase (Figure 3.1B). Since CBL also binds EGFR indirectly through the EGFR adaptor GRB2, we also immunoblotted EGFR immunoprecipitates for GRB2 and SHC. The results showed that during mitosis, GRB2 and SHC also bind to EGFR following EGF stimulation (Figure 3.1B).

In summary, immunofluorescence staining for both EGFR and CBL reveal that both proteins co-localize after EGF stimulation during mitosis. Co-IP experiments also suggest EGFinduced EGFR and CBL interaction. In addition, EGFR is more strongly ubiquitinated by EGF stimulation during mitosis.

3.4.2 Effects of altering CBL activity during mitosis

CME has been shown to be inhibited during mitosis [171,320,321]. Therefore, we sought to discover whether altering CBL activity, the major mediator of NCE, would inhibit EGFR endocytosis. We first silenced CBL in HeLa cells by siRNA transfection and found that transfected mitotic cells had much less EGFR endocytosis following EGF (50 ng/mL) stimulation, as observed by immunofluorescence (IF) staining of activated EGFR (Figure 3.2A). In comparison, transfected interphase cells were little affected. Similarly, MCF-7 cells transfected with EGFR-YFP and the CBL siRNA also inhibited mitotic endocytosis exclusively (Figure 3.2B). To further verify the role of CBL, we used the dominant-negative 70Z-CBL-YFP mutant, which has a deletion of 17 amino acids that disrupts the RING finger structure making it unable to interact properly with ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2 ligases) [330,336]. The 70Z-CBL-YFP protein can still bind to the cytoplasmic tail of activated EGFR [181,189,330,337]. Transfection with 70Z-CBL-YFP significantly inhibited EGF-induced mitotic EGFR endocytosis, but not in interphase cells. (Figure 3.3A). Mitotic cells transfected with 70Z-CBL-YFP retained EGFR at the plasma membrane compared to non-transfected cells, even after 60 minutes of EGF treatment (50 ng/mL). Taken together, downregulating CBL activity decreased mitotic, but not interphase EGFR endocytosis. Therefore, CBL activity appears more important during mitotic EGFR endocytosis than during interphase.

We next sought to see whether CBL overexpression could increase the rate of endocytosis during mitosis. CBL overexpression in HeLa cells did not appear to induce endocytosis at earlier time points, nor increase the rate of EGFR internalization (Figure 3.3B). This is similar to interphase cells, where it was previously reported that overexpression of CBL did not increase the rate of EGFR internalization [181,197].

3.4.3 Role of EGFR C-terminal domains for mitotic endocytosis

We previously showed that mitotic EGFR endocytosis requires EGFR kinase activity [4]. Treatment with the EGFR-tyrosine kinase antagonist AG1418 inhibited mitotic EGFR endocytosis, and washing away AG1478 restored endocytosis [4]. In contrast, interphase EGFR could still undergo endocytosis in the presence of AG1478 [4]. To further explore the role of EGFR kinase activity in the activation of CBL, we blocked EGFR activation with or without AG1478 for 1 h prior to EGF (50 ng/mL) treatment. As before, this treatment prevented EGFR endocytosis during mitosis as visualized by IF [4] (data not shown). We performed Western blots of these samples and blotting with p-CBL antibody showed that similar to interphase cells, AG1478 inhibited EGF-induced CBL tyrosine phosphorylation in mitotic cells. (Figure 3.4A). Therefore, EGFR kinase activity is required for CBL activation.

We next sought to investigate which EGFR domains were important for mitotic endocytosis. We made use of previously constructed YFP-tagged EGFR mutants and truncations: EGFR with Y1045F substitution (Y1045F-YFP, no direct CBL binding), EGFR truncated at 1045 (Δ 1044-YFP, no CBL binding), EGFR truncated at 992 (Δ 991-YFP, no internalization), and WT (EGFR-YFP) (Figure 3.5F). We transfected these constructs into MCF-7 or HEK 293T cells, since they express low amounts of endogenous EGFR, then observed the effects of EGF treatment on their plasma membrane localization using indirect immunofluorescence (Figure 3.4B-E & Figure 3.5A-E).

In non-EGF treated MCF-7 cells, all mutants exhibited high plasma membrane localization and low cytoplasmic localization during both interphase and mitosis (Figure 3.5A-E). Treatment of EGF (50 ng/mL) for 30, 45, or 60 mins significantly increased the internalization of interphasic EGFR-YFP, Y1045F-YFP, and Δ 1044-YFP, but not Δ 991-YFP which never became internalized into the cell. The internalization levels of EGFR-YFP, Y1045F-YFP, and $\Delta 1044$ -YFP during interphase at all three time points were all similar. In contrast, these mutants responded to EGF treatment differently from each other when cells were in mitosis. Similar to interphasic EGFR-YFP, approximately two-thirds of mitotic EGFR-YFP was internalized following 30 min EGF treatment, with more EGFR-YFP becoming internalized at 45 and 60 min. The internalization of both mitotic Y1045F-YFP and Δ 1044-YFP however were impaired when compared to EGFR-YFP. The Y1045F-YFP mutants showed lower levels of mitotic endocytosis compared to EGFR-YFP, but a high proportion of them eventually became endocytosed. However, the $\Delta 1044$ -YFP mutants had significantly inhibited mitotic endocytosis, with little endocytosis after 60 min of EGF treatment. These results were also observed when the experiments were repeated in 293T cells (Figure 3.4B-E).

Taken together, this data shows that the CBL-binding domains of the EGFR are more important for mitotic EGFR endocytosis than interphase. These results also suggest that GRB2 cooperation for indirect CBL-binding to EGFR dramatically increases mitotic EGFR endocytosis.

3.4.4 Low EGF doses activate mitotic EGFR NCE

The above experiments were all performed using high concentrations of EGF (50 ng/mL). During interphase, low doses of EGF only activates CME, whereas high doses activate both CME and NCE [48,163,165]. By this logic, during mitosis, low doses of EGF should not induce mitotic EGFR endocytosis since CME is mitotically inhibited and only high doses of EGF activates NCE. However, we previously saw that low doses TR-EGF (2 ng/mL) could still lead to their internalization in mitotic HeLa and CHO cells. We therefore decided to address this discrepancy.

We hypothesized that NCE was still active during low dose EGF-induced mitotic endocytosis. To test this, we once again interfered with CBL activity using our EGFR and CBL mutants, and observed endocytosis by IF microscopy. In MCF-7 cells transfected with EGFR-YFP, the low EGF dose (2 ng/mL) induced endocytosis in both interphase and mitotic cells (Figure 3.6). Both the Y1045F-YFP and Δ 1044-YFP had impaired mitotic EGFR endocytosis compared to EGFR-YFP. HeLa cells transfected with 70Z-CBL also became impaired for mitotic EGFR endocytosis (Figure 3.7A). As in high dose EGF conditions, low dose EGF and CBL-YFP overexpression in HeLa cells did not appear to induce endocytosis at earlier time points, nor increase the rate of EGFR internalization (Figure 3.7B). Therefore, mitotic EGFR endocytosis stimulated by low dose EGF proceeds similar to high dose EGF.

Since CBL appears to be involved in low EGF dose mitotic EGFR endocytosis, we examined whether this was due to ubiquitination. To this end, we compared the ubiquitination of interphase and mitotic EGFR cells treated with 2 ng/mL or 50 ng/mL EGF for 45 mins (Figure 3.8A). Co-immunoprecipitation of EGFR and immunoblotting for ubiquitin revealed that as before, high dose EGF (50 ng/mL) ubiquitinated mitotic EGFR more than interphase EGFR. Low dose EGF (2 ng/mL) did not induce the ubiquitination of interphase EGFR, as previously

reported [48,163,165]. However, low dose EGF stimulation caused significant EGFR ubiquitination in mitotic cells. Moreover, the binding of CBL to EGFR followed the same pattern as ubiquitination, with CBL again binding to EGFR at low doses during mitosis, but not during interphase.

We also performed similar experiments with different times of EGF stimulation, at 5, 30, and 45 mins (Figure 3.8B). The phosphotyrosine-specific antibody pY99 was used to confirm EGFR phosphorylation. Blotting for ubiquitin revealed that mitotic ubiquitination of EGFR occurs at 5 mins, and is sustained through to 45 mins of low dose EGF stimulation. In contrast, interphase EGFR is less ubiquitinated, especially at later time points. In addition, CBL and SHC are pulled-down with EGFR during both interphase and mitotic. Therefore, it appears that low dose EGF stimulation differentially ubiquitinates mitotic EGFR, and not interphase EGFR.

Since mitotic EGFR is strongly ubiquitinated at low doses of EGF, and ubiquitination has been associated with EGFR degradation, we hypothesized that low EGF doses could lead to EGFR degradation during mitosis. Total cell lysates of interphase and mitotic cells treated with low doses of and total EGFR levels were assayed by Western blot. Whereas interphase EGFR levels remain constant throughout 45 mins of low dose EGF treatment, we found that mitotic EGFR levels drop drastically with time (Figure 3.8C). Taken together, these results suggest that, unlike interphase, low doses of EGF activate CBL-mediated EGFR degradation in mitotic cells. Interestingly, by Western blotting, the CBL band appears smaller in mitotic samples than interphase samples.

3.4.5 Endocytic trafficking of mitotic EGFR

The endocytic pathway that the EGFR takes has been shown to influence the fate of the EGFR. CME has been shown to lead to EGFR, whereas NCE targets receptors for lysosomal degradation [163,165]. Since we observed that mitotic EGFR endocytosis proceeds exclusively in an ubiquitin-mediated manner and that total EGFR levels drop following low dose EGF stimulation (Figure 3.8), we hypothesized that mitotic endocytosis should lead exclusively to lysosomal trafficking. To test this, we examined the co-localization of endocytic route markers with EGFR by IF microscopy. The EGFR of both mitotic and interphase cells showed strong colocalization with EEA-1 and RAB5, indicating that the EGFR is trafficked to early endosomes (Figure 3.9). Importantly, EEA-1 and RAB5 did not co-localize with any EGFR at the plasma membrane of either mitotic or interphase cells. Staining with recycling markers (RAB11) and late endosomal markers (LAMP-1 and RAB7) has thus far been unsuccessful, but a working antibody and fixation method has been identified, and will be performed shortly. However, since Western blotting shows that total EGFR levels during mitosis drop dramatically following low dose EGF stimulation compared to interphase (Figure 3.8), we expect that the EGFR undergoes a lysosomal route.

3.5 Discussion

Our results showed that mitotic EGF-induced EGFR endocytosis proceeds exclusively by CBL-dependent NCE (Figure 3.10). NCE plays a major role in the regulation of EGFR fate by targeting it to lysosomes for degradation. Our research has uncovered a temporal period by which to exclusively target EGFR for degradation. This bypasses the receptor recycling pathway that is undesirable if the goal is EGFR attenuation, or if it is to deliver and keep a pharmacological agent into a cell [332]. Targeting mitotic cells is feasible for EGFR-

overexpressing cancer cells, as these cells intrinsically undergo more cell proliferation. In addition, the population of mitotic cells can be increased by treatment with anti-mitotic drugs, such as the commonly used taxanes and vinca alkaloids. Therefore, mitotic cells of EGFRoverexpressing cells can be targeted more directly. Moreover, the FDA-approved EGFR antibody cetuximab has been shown to initiate receptor endocytosis [338]. Whether mitotic EGFR treated with EGFR antibodies are also internalized by NCE remains to be investigated. However, if it does, nano-conjugation of EGFR antibodies to pharmacological agents may provide a targeted approach to treating these cancers.

The study of EGFR NCE thus far has relied on the inhibition of clathrin, as well as the use of high doses of EGF to activate NCE. Our results suggest that mitotic cells offer an alternate system for studying the NCE of the EGFR, even with low doses of EGF. However, as NCE is composed of various different pathways, including caveolin-mediated endocytosis, flotillin-mediated endocytosis, CLIC/GEEK, and FEME pathway [47], the mitotic activity of these pathways need to be elucidated.

3.5.1 The role of CBL in mitotic EGFR endocytosis

The theory that EGFR ubiquitination is absolutely necessary for endocytosis has been a subject of controversy, as previous publications have opposed this idea [169,339–341]. Our research supports the notion that ubiquitination by CBL is important for NCE [48,163]. Furthermore, our research shows strong support for the requirement of CBL and GRB2 binding to the EGFR in order to cause its ubiquitination [163,165]. Our results argue that GRB2-mediated CBL binding is more important than direct CBL-binding during mitosis, as the Δ 1044 mutant had significantly more inhibited internalization, whereas the Y1045F mutant had a slight inhibition. Overexpression of CBL did not accelerate nor enhance mitotic EGF-induced EGFR

endocytosis. NCE has been reported to initiate more slowly than CME

[48,166,168,205,330,331], and it therefore appears that CBL overexpression is not the limiting factor to the speed of EGFR NCE. Other important mediators of NCE, for example EPS15, EPS15R, and EPSIN [48], or endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-resident protein reticulon 3 (RTN3) and CD147 [329] may warrant investigation. More importantly, the exact mechanism by which the ubiquitination of the EGFR induces internalization is still unknown, and studies to elucidate the precise molecular mechanism would be extremely impactful.

The inactivation of CBL has been shown to display pro-oncogenic features [188,195,196,342,343]. Moreover, common pro-oncogenic EGFR mutations L858R and L858R/T790M have impaired CBL-binding, slower endocytosis, and impaired degradation [344]. EGFRvIII, the most common variant in gliomas, also has a reduced interaction with CBL and thus impaired ubiquitination owing to hypophosphorylation of pY1045 [345,346]. Here, we showed that CBL activity during mitosis is even more important, and its activity is enhanced compared to interphase cells. Evolutionarily, since mitotic cells do not have active CME [320,321], the activation of NCE may have been even more critical during mitosis to suppress EGFR overactivation. A loss of CBL activity, whether by inactivating mutations to CBL or EGFR CBL-binding, would therefore have a more pronounced effect during mitosis, as the EGFR would continue to signal excessively. The functional role of mitotic EGFR activation is still not well known. It is unclear how abnormally sustained EGFR signaling during mitosis affects cellular processes, however, it does appear to help mitotic cancer cells resist nocodazole-mediated cell death [279].

We showed that the EGFR is more strongly ubiquitinated during mitosis at both low and high doses of EGF, suggesting that CBL activity is enhanced during mitosis. How can CBL be

better primed to induce endocytosis, even at low concentrations of EGF during mitosis? It has been shown that CBL also acts as an adaptor in the CME pathway. Since CME is no longer active during mitosis, a possible explanation may be due to increased CBL protein availability, as the cellular pool of CBL no longer needs to divide its time between CME and NCE. Another explanation may be that CBL is modified during mitosis to be better primed for its E3 ligase activity. Interestingly, probing with the CBL antibody revealed that the mitotic CBL band appears smaller compared to interphase (Figure 3.8), although the exact significance is unknown Another alternative possibility may revolve around the DUBs (deubiquitinating enzymes) that deubiquitinate EGFR. Fifteen DUBs have been reported to impact EGFR fate, although some may be deubiquitinating non-EGFR component, such as EPS15 [347]. These DUBs may be shut off during mitosis, causing ubiquitination to persist longer than during the interphase.

3.5.2 Mitosis and EGFR

Mitosis represents a phase of tremendous transition to the cell. It is a critical moment of the cell's life where its genetic material is precisely separated to two daughter cells. To ensure proper chromosome segregation, the mitotic environment must be carefully controlled, as misproper mitosis result in chromosome bridging, lagging, or mis-aggregation, and ultimately aneuploidy [270]. To achieve this, mitotic cells undergo mitotic cell rounding, which is the dramatic transformation of cells from well spread and flattened to spherical and rigid. The mitotic shape is thought to confer cells with a predictable and defined geometry regardless of its external environment so to facilitate chromosome capture and the symmetric segregation of contents [348–350]. The spherical shape and rigid cell cortex however present the EGFR with changes in conditions during mitosis. For example, it is likely that the inhibition of CME during

mitosis is due to the unavailability of actin in participating in endocytosis, as it must form the rigid mitotic cell cortex [171]. Furthermore, mitosis changes the amount of space in the cell, so that they reach a minimal volume during metaphase [351]. It is possible that the molecular interactions necessary for NCE may become facilitated by a smaller cell volume. The more compacted volume does not appear to aid in EGFR activation, as the phosphorylation of the EGFR upon EGF addition is similar between interphase cells and mitotic cells. Therefore, in this situation, the smaller cell volume may aid CBL or GRB2 binding to the EGFR.

Another change to normal interphase EGFR signaling during mitosis is the global phosphorylation of mitotic proteins by mitotic kinases. For example, studies have shown the mitotic phosphorylation of over 1000-6027 proteins, including 14,000-50,000 phosphorylation events depending on the study [352–354]. Interestingly, many phospho-sites overlap between EGF-stimulated cells and mitotic cells [353]. Indeed, various components of the EGFR signaling and endocytic pathways appear to play different roles in mitosis, a phenomenon known as moonlighting [326,355]. This includes important members of EGFR CME, such as clathrin, dynamin, and AP-2 [324–328]. Since these proteins and many others are moonlighting in mitosis-related processes, their availability to participate in EGFR endocytosis during mitosis may be compromised. This may also affect EGFR signaling. It has been shown that EGFinduced AKT activation requires EGFR residence in clathrin coated pits, but not internalization [356,357]. We previously showed that only AKT2, and not AKT1, becomes activated following EGF stimulation during mitosis [279]. Since CME is shut down during mitosis, it can be speculated that the differential activation of AKT during mitosis is a consequence of the inability of clathrin to be involved in mitotic EGFR endocytosis. Therefore, the changes imparted by

global mitotic phosphorylation and mitotic cell rounding cannot be discounted to EGFR signaling, and likely of other signaling receptors as well.

In our study, we made use of the microtubule depolymerizer nocodazole to arrest cells in mitosis. So far, nocodazole is still the most widely used drug for arresting cells in mitosis [353,358–360]. We decided to use nocodazole in our research in order to obtain synchrony between our Western blots, co-IPs, and immunofluorescence experiments, as it has been shown that the sub-stage of mitosis can influence the kinetics of endocytosis [4]. Previous research has showed that factors such as serum starvation, nocodazole, and other mitotic inhibitors could inhibit CME [361]. However, it should be noted that the researchers were evaluating transferrin receptors, which is endocytosed by constitutive endocytosis rather than the ligand-induced mechanism used by EGFR. Furthermore, our previous study that showed that clathrin downregulation by siRNA had no effect on mitotic EGFR endocytosis was performed without the use of nocodazole [4]. We have also previously shown that 16 h nocodazole treatment does not lead to significant cell apoptosis [279].

However, nocodazole is a microtubule depolymerizer, and it is possible that it may interfere with components of the endocytic pathway. It has been reported that nocodazole blocks the transport from early to late endosomes, as this trafficking may involve microtubules. Transport of material from early to late endosomes was shown to be inhibited by nocodazole for fluid-phase endocytosis of dextran and constitutive endocytosis of transferrin in HeLa cells [362,363]. Moreover, in MEK cells, nocodazole reduced the percentage of EGFR colocalizing to LAMP-2-containing vesicles [364]. However, the microtubule stabilizer paclitaxel promotes EGFR degradation to lysosomes in A549 cells, apparently due to a spatially shorter route for the EGFR to lysosomes [365]. However, nocodazole treatment does not change the distribution of lysosomal membranes [366]. Regardless, it may therefore be possible that the stronger ubiquitination seen on the EGFR is due to the inability of ubiquitinated EGFR to be trafficked to lysosomes for degradation. Our results may therefore be more representative of drug-arrested mitosis.

3.5.3 Conclusion

The EGFR uses various signaling pathways to achieve numerous pro-oncogenic cellular outcomes. Endocytosis downregulates EGFR signaling by internalizing active receptors away from the cell surface. In this way, endocytosis controls EGFR signaling, spatially and temporally, making it an indispensable part of receptor signaling. Therefore, the interplay between EGFR signaling and endocytosis critically determines cellular outcome.

Our research showed that mitotic EGFR endocytosis proceeds exclusively by NCE. The inhibition of CBL therefore severely impedes mitotic EGFR endocytosis, as EGFR ubiquitination is necessary for this endocytosis. Furthermore, as mitotic EGFR endocytosis only proceeds by NCE, the cargo becomes targeted for lysosomal degradation. This period of the cell's natural progression may therefore be leveraged to ensure lysosomal trafficking.

3.6 Figures





Figure 3.1. CBL is activated by EGF-stimulation during mitosis. A) Direct

immunofluorescence images of HeLa cells stained with CBL (green), EGFR pY1086 (red), and DAPI (blue). Cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for the indicated times. B) Coimmunoprecipitation of EGFR from asynchronous (interphase) or nocodazole-arrested (mitosis) HeLa cells. EGF (50 ng/mL) was used to treat cells for the indicated times. Immunoblotting was performed with the specified antibodies. Mitotic EGFR is more strongly ubiquitinated than interphase. Total cell lysates (input) are also shown. Results are representative of at least two biological replicates.





Figure 3.2. siRNA downregulation CBL inhibits mitotic endocytosis. Indirect

immunofluorescence to observe EGFR endocytosis in cells treated with CBL siRNA or with scramble siRNA in: A) HeLa cells stained for CBL (green) and EGFR pY1086 (red) and treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 15 mins; and B) MCF-7 cells transfected with EGFR-YFP and treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 45 mins. MCF-7 cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h.





Figure 3.3. The effects of downregulation and overexpression of CBL. Indirect

immunofluorescence to observe EGFR endocytosis in HeLa cells transfected with: A) Dominantnegative CBL (70z-YFP) and B) c-CBL-YFP overexpression. 70z-YFP transfection inhibits mitotic EGFR endocytosis, but not in interphase cells. Cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for the indicated times and were stained for pY1086 (red), and DAPI (blue). The * represents interphase cell, # represents mitotic cell, and ' represents transfected cell. Cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h.



B 293T: EGFR-YFP / EGF: 50 ng/mL



C 293T: Y1045F-YFP / EGF: 50 ng/mL





Figure 3.4. The role of EGFR kinase activation in EGFR endocytosis. A) The effects of AG1478 on EGFR and CBL phosphorylation. Asynchronous (I-phase) and nocodazole-arrested (M-phase) HeLa cells were pre-treated with AG1478 1 hour prior to EGF treatment, then treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for the indicated times. To study the role of EGFR C-terminal domains, 293T cells were transfected with with B) EGFR-YFP (positive control), C) EGFR-Y1045F-YFP (no direct CBL binding), D) EGFR- Δ 1044-YFP (no CBL binding), and E) EGFR- Δ 991-YFP (negative control). Cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for the specified times and observed by indirect immunofluorescence. Cell cycle phase of cells were determined by DNA morphology (not shown). Cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h.



Figure 3.5. Necessity of EGFR's CBL-binding domains for EGFR endocytosis. MCF-7 cells were transfected with A) EGFR-YFP (positive control), B) EGFR-Y1045F-YFP (no direct CBL binding), C) EGFR- Δ 1044-YFP (no CBL binding), and D) EGFR- Δ 991-YFP (negative control). Cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h and with EGF (50 ng/mL) for the specified times and observed by indirect immunofluorescence. Cell cycle phase of cells were determined by DNA morphology (not shown). E) Quantification of plasma membrane retainment of YFP for A)-C) for at least 10 cells (see Materials and Methods). F) Illustration of EGFR mutants used and their ability to bind CBL.



Figure 3.6. Effects of low EGF dose on mitotic EGFR endocytosis. Cells were treated with EGF (2 ng/mL) to only activate CME for the specified times and observed by indirect immunofluorescence. Cell cycle phase of cells were determined by DNA morphology (not shown). MCF-7 cells were transfected with A) EGFR-YFP (positive control), B) EGFR-Y1045F-YFP (no direct CBL binding), C) EGFR-Δ1044-YFP (no CBL binding), and D) EGFR-Δ991-YFP (negative control). Cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h.





Figure 3.7. Effects of low EGF dose on endocytosis in cells with CBL alterations. HeLa cells were transfected with E) Dominant-negative CBL (70z-YFP) and F) CBL-YFP and treated with low dose EGF (2 ng/mL) for the indicated times. Cells were stained with EGFR pY1086 (red) and DAPI (blue). The * represents interphase cell, # represents mitotic cell, and ' represents transfected cell. Cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) for 16 h.



IP: EGFR В Phase I M Interphase Mitosis 45 45 EGF (min) 5 30 45 5 30 45 0 0 2 [EGF] 2 2 2 2 2 50 50 IB: Ub 12 53 B 230-180-230-IB: pY99 180-230-IB: EGFR 180-130-IB: CBL 100-75-And Person name 63-IB: SHC 48kDa



Figure 3.8. Ubiquitination and CBL-binding of EGFR during low EGF doses. Co-

immunoprecipitation of EGFR from asynchronous (interphase) or nocodazole-arrested (mitosis) HeLa cells. A) Cells were treated with EGF for 45 mins using low and high dose EGF (2 and 50 ng/mL). B) Cells were treated with low dose EGF (2 ng/mL) for 0, 5, 30, or 45 mins. High dose EGF treatments for 45 minutes are included for reference. C) Immunoblotting of total cell lysate (TCL) with the specified antibodies. Results are representative of at least two biological replicates.



Green: EGFR

Red: EEA-1

Merge

Figure 3.9. Mitotic EGFR is sorted to early endosomes. HeLa cells were treated with nocodazole (200 ng/mL) and EGF (50 ng/mL) for 30 mins and EGFR co-localization with early endosome markers was observed by indirect immunofluorescence. Cells were stained with EGFR (green), DAPI (blue) and A) RAB5 (red) or B) EEA-1 (red).

Mitosis



Figure 3.10. Model of EGFR endocytosis during mitosis. In interphase cells, low EGF doses (>2 ng/mL) only activates clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME), leading to receptor recycling. High EGF doses (>20 ng/mL) also activates CME, but can also activate non-clathrin mediated endocytosis (NCE) due to the dose-dependent activation of CBL and EGFR ubiquitination. NCE leads to lysosomal degradation of EGFR. In mitotic cells, CME is shut off. Therefore, EGFR endocytosis must proceed by NCE. Both low and high concentrations of EGF activate NCE during mitosis, and this may be because contrary to interphase cells, low EGF concentrations can activate CBL and EGFR ubiquitination. Therefore, mitotic EGFR endocytosis leads exclusively to lysosomal degradation.

4 Chapter 4

Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor cell signaling during the cell

cycle

Note: All experiments were carried out by Ping Wee.

4.1 Chapter Abstract

Progression through the cell cycle causes changes in the cell's signaling pathways that can alter EGFR signal transduction. To fully understand EGFR signaling, it is important to decipher these changes. Here, I performed drug and drug-free assays for EGFR and EGFRmediated pathways during the cell cycle. Using various drugs, I synchronized cells to G1, Sphase, G2, prometaphase, metaphase, and anaphase/telophase. Drug-free assay of EGFR involved the use of imaging flow cytometry. I validated these assays and used them to assay EGFR signaling. S-phase EGFR signaling appeared dampened, compared to G1 and G2 phases. No difference in EGFR signaling was observed between mitotic subphases. This work represents the optimization of methods to study the EGFR during various cell cycle phases, and may be used in to future to find differences in the signal transduction of various proteins during different cell cycle phases.

4.2 Introduction

Cell cycle progression brings about tremendous changes within the cell, complete with different needs and requirements for the cell at that moment. At each step of the cell cycle, kinases including cyclin-dependant kinases (CDKs) phosphorylate their specific but wide-ranging set of substrates, leading not only to changes to their substrate, but also to changes in their pathways. Mass spectrometry studies of the phosphoproteome of cells synchronized to different cell cycle phases reveal massive waves of cell cycle-dependant phosphorylations, especially during mitosis [305,352,367,368]. Whether a protein of interest or one its important downstream effectors are affected by cell cycle progression are important considerations. For example, this cell cycle regulation of a protein can affect the interpretation of results when looking at a total cell population. It can also affect the efficacy of certain targeted therapies, as their intended target may respond differently depending on cell cycle phase. Importantly, a hallmark of cancer, including those with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) overactivation, is their ability to sustain chronic proliferation, therefore continuously dividing cells and their proteins will be more impacted by cell cycle effects.

The EGFR has been heavily studied for its role in affecting the cell cycle. A pulse of EGF stimulation during early G1 and another at late G1 have been shown to be sufficient for driving cells past the Restriction Point of the cell cycle, the point at which the cell must proceed through the cell division program [252,253]. During mitosis, we and others have observed significant changes to EGFR-mediated signaling pathways [2,3,279,352], to EGFR endocytosis kinetics [4], and to EGFR function [270,294]. However, much work remains to be done in characterizing the EGFR function during the entire cell cycle.

Here, I tested methods to evaluate EGFR activation and signaling pathways throughout the different phases of the cell cycle in HeLa cells. The HeLa cell line is the most commonly used mammalian model system for cell cycle research. The entire cell cycle of the HeLa cell lasts approximately 24 hours, with mitosis lasting 40-60 min. A HeLa cell contains 1.4×10^5 EGFR molecules, a number that is close to many transformed and untransformed cells [281]. Pharmacological inhibition was used to arrest cells in the different phases, in order to collect them and assay them by Western blotting. Synchronization in S phase was performed using the widely used double thymidine block. Synchronization in G2 was performed using the CDK inhibitor roscovitine after S phase synchronization release. Mitotic synchronization relied on the use of the popular reversible microtubule depolymerizer nocodazole [369], which synchronized cells in prometaphase. Metaphase cells were obtained by releasing cells from nocodazole block and treating with MG132, a proteasome inhibitor. Anaphase/telophase cells were obtained by prometaphase release followed by treatment with blebbistatin, a myosin II inhibitor [359]. Mitotic cells growing in cell culture were separated from interphase cells using the mitotic shake-off method, which uses mechanical agitation to detach lowly adherent mitotic cells. Synchronization of HeLa cells in G1 was performed by collecting cells that were serum starved. Verification of purity and yield of the synchronization methods was performed by indirect immunofluorescence. Verification was also performed by flow cytometry.

In order to verify these results without the use of pharmacological agents, imaging flow cytometry was used. Imaging flow cytometry combines the quantitative power of flow cytometry together with microscopy. Combined with analysis using the IDEAS software, this allows the measurement of staining intensities while distinguishing between cell cycle phases, and even between the sub-phases of mitosis.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Antibodies and Chemicals

ERK (sc-94), p-ERK Thr202/Tyr204 (sc-7383), AKT (sc-8312), p-AKT Ser473 (sc-

33437-R), pEGFR Tyr1086 (sc-16804), EGFR (sc-03), p-Histone 3 Ser10 (sc-8656-R), β-tubulin (sc-5274) primary antibodies were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). The horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA) and the fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Jackson ImmunoResearch (West Grove, PA). The cell culture reagents were from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (M-Per) was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. (Rockford, IL USA). Unless otherwise specified, all other chemicals were from Sigma (St. Louis, MO)

4.3.2 Cell Culture and Treatment

The cell lines that were used include HeLa, HeLa cell line stably expressing H2B-GFP (HeLa H2B-GFP), and CHO cell lines stably expressing a YFP-tagged, wild-type EGFR (CHO-EGFR) [301]. The HeLa H2B stable cell line is a generous gift from Dr. Wahl (The Salk Institute for Biological Studies). It has been shown that the H2B-GFP fusion protein is incorporated into nucleosomes without affecting cell cycle [302].

All cells were grown at 37°C in growth medium (Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 10% FBS and antibiotics) and were maintained in a 5% CO2 atmosphere. For CHO cell lines, G418 was added to a final concentration of 500 μ g/ml. For the HeLa H2B-GFP cell line, blasticidine was added as a supplement to a concentration of 2 μ g/ml to maintain the transgene expression.

To collect lysates, cells were synchronized as described for their specific phases. Cells were then treated with EGF or left untreated (0 min). EGF was used at a final concentration of 50 ng/ml. For attached cells (G1, S, G2), cells were collected by scraping on ice in cold Mammalian Protein Extraction Reagent (M-Per) (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Rockford, IL USA) buffer in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors including 100 mm NaF, 5 mM MgCl2, 0.5 mM Na3VO4, 0.02% NaN3, 0.1 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 10 µg/ml aprotinin, and 1 µM pepstatin A. For mitotic cells (prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase/telophase), mitotic shakeoff was performed. Briefly, after EGF treatment, cells were washed with cold DMEM and plates were placed on ice and knocked against the sidewall of ice buckets for 5 mins. The cells were then transferred to centrifuge tubes and centrifuged at $1000 \times$ g for 5 minutes. Ice-cold PBS was added to each plate and shaken until centrifugation was complete to collect remaining cells. The media from the centrifuge tube was then aspirated and the remaining were added to the tube and centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 5 minutes. The obtained mitotic cells were then lysed with M-Per in the presence of phosphatase and protease inhibitors. For both interphase and mitotic cells, M-Per was incubated for 5 minutes on ice, and lysis was completed by adding 500 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 10% Nonidet P-40 and incubating for 15 mins at 4°C on a rocker. Cells were then centrifuged at $14,000 \times g$ at 4°C for 15 mins. The supernatant protein samples were then collected.

4.3.3 Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting was performed as previously described [158]. Briefly, protein samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and then were transferred onto nitrocellulose and probed with primary antibodies. The primary antibodies were detected with a HRP conjugated secondary

antibody followed by enhanced chemiluminescence development (Pierce Chemical, Rockford, IL) and light detection on Fuji Super RX Film (Tokyo, Japan).

4.3.4 Indirect immunofluorescence

Indirect immunofluorescence was performed as described previously [4]. Briefly, cells were grown on glass coverslips and serum starved for 16 h. After treatment, the cells were fixed by methanol and visualized by DeltaVision deconvolution microscopy (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Buckinghamshire). Cells were counted based on morphology of the cell and of the DNA.

4.3.5 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry analysis was used to measure DNA content. G0/G1 cells have 2N DNA, S-phase cells have 2-4N DNA, and G2/M cells have 4N DNA. Imaging flow cytometry was used to further distinguish between each stage of mitosis.

To verify yield and purity of pharmacological agents, I performed the described synchronization protocols. For interphase cells, after completing cell cycle arrest, the media was aspirated and washed with PBS. The cells were then trypsinized, PBS was added to a volume of 5 mL, and the cells were detached by spraying with a Pasteur pipette. The cells were collected in a pre-cooled tube, and centrifuged at 1000 × g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated and cells were re-suspended in 0.5 mL PBS. The cells were then transferred into 4.5 mL of ice-cold 100% MeOH. For mitotic cells, after completing mitotic shake-off, the cells were re-suspended in 0.5 mL PBS, then transferred to 4.5 mL of ice-cold 100% MeOH. For both interphase and mitotic cells, fixation was performed for 20 minutes at -20°C. Cells were centrifuged at 1000 × g for 5 mins, and re-suspended in 1 mL of Flow Cytometry Blocking Buffer (TBS, 0.01% Triton
X-100, 4% BSA) and incubated on ice for 10 mins. Cells were again centrifuged at 1000 × g for 5 mins, and re-suspended in 1 mL of Flow Cytometry Blocking Buffer (TBS, 0.01% Triton X-100, 4% BSA) and primary antibody and incubated on ice for 1 hour. Cells were then centrifuged and washed with 1 mL ice cold PBS twice. Cells were again centrifuged at 1000 × g for 5 mins, and re-suspended in 1 mL of Flow Cytometry Blocking Buffer (TBS, 0.01% Triton X-100, 4% BSA) and secondary fluorescent-conjugated antibody and incubated on ice for 1 hour. The cells were again washed twice with PBS, and centrifuged. The cells were then re-suspended in 200 μ L PBS with DRAQ5 (final concentration of 5 μ M). The cells were then processed by flow cytometry.

For non-synchronized cells used for imaging flow cytometry, after EGF treatment of nonserum starved cells, the media was aspirated and washed with PBS. The cells were then trypsinized, PBS was added to a volume of 5 mL, and the cells were detached by spraying with a Pasteur pipette. The cells were collected in a pre-cooled tube, and centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 5 minutes. Staining was performed as above.

4.3.6 Cell Synchronization

4.3.6.1 G1 Synchronization

G1 synchronization was performed by serum starvation for 16 hours prior to EGF treatment and collection.

4.3.6.2 S-Phase Synchronization: Double Thymidine Block

The double thymidine block is a highly effective and widely used protocol for synchronization of cells in early S-phase (see Note 2). Excess thymidine inhibits the formation of dCTP, an essential precursor of DNA, and thus halts DNA replication [370].

For S-phase synchronization, first HeLa cells were seeded at 2.0×10^{6} HeLa cells in 100mm plates and grown overnight to ~40% confluency. The cells were then treated with thymidine (final concentration of 2 mM) in growth media for 16 hours. Cells were washed with PBS and fresh growth media was added to release them back into the cell cycle for 8 hours. Cells were incubated again with thymidine for 16 hours.

4.3.6.3 Late G2 Synchronization: Roscovitine

Roscovitine inhibits CDKs by competing with ATP at the ATP binding sites of various CDKs, including CDK1, CDK2, CDK5, and CDK7 [371]. Here, we release cells from the S phase block, allow them to grow into G2, and use roscovitine to prevent the CDK1/cyclin B1 complex (also known as maturation promoting factor) from activating, which prevents cells from entering mitosis.

For G2 synchronization, first S-phase synchronization by double thymidine block was performed. The cells were then released into the cell cycle by washing with PBS three times and incubated with growth medium for 7 hours. The growth media was then aspirated and incubated with warm DMEM with roscovitine (final concentration of 50 μ M) for 4 hours.

4.3.6.4 Prometaphase Synchronization: Nocodazole

The microtubule depolymerizing agent nocodazole may be the most commonly used agent for inducing mitotic prometaphase arrest. It has a high affinity to tubulin, and prevents tubulin-composed spindle microtubules from interacting properly with the kinetochores of chromosomes [372]. These chromosomes are therefore not brought to metaphase plate, and cannot proceed past the spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) [369]. Here, we used lower concentrations of nocodazole than in those used in Chapter 2 and 3, so that release into metaphase and anaphase/telophase can be more easily performed.

For prometaphase synchronization, first S-phase synchronization by double thymidine block was performed as above. The cells were then released into the cell cycle by washing with PBS three times and incubated with growth medium for 9 hours. The growth media was then aspirated and incubated with warm DMEM with nocodazole (final concentration of 20 ng/mL) for 5 hours.

4.3.6.5 Metaphase Synchronization: MG132

The spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) ensures all chromosomes are properly aligned prior to commencing anaphase [373]. Upon satisfying the requirements of the SAC, the anaphase-promoting complex (APC) is turned on, and initiates the proteasomal degradation of cyclin B and securin [374–376]. This proteasomal activity allows sister chromatids to separate and transition from metaphase to anaphase. To synchronize cells in metaphase, the proteasome inhibitor MG132 is added to cells in prometaphase, allowing chromosomes to proceed past the SAC, but preventing cells from proceeding into anaphase [305].

For metaphase synchronization, first prometaphase synchronization by nocodazole was performed as above. The cells were then released into the cell cycle by washing with PBS three times and incubated with warm DMEM for 70 mins.

4.3.6.6 Anaphase/Telophase Synchronization: Blebbistatin

Anaphase/Telophase are the most difficult phases to synchronize due in part to their short duration (20-30min). There are no drugs known to completely block cells in anaphase or telophase. However, the myosin II inhibitor blebbistatin may be used to extend the duration of anaphase and telophase [359]

For synchronization in anaphase/telophase, first prometaphase synchronization by nocodazole was performed as above. The cells were then released into the cell cycle by washing with PBS three times and incubated with warm DMEM for 20 mins. Blebbistatin was then added to a final concentration of 50 μ M and incubated for 40-55 mins.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Interphase Synchronization

EGFR signaling during the interphase sub-phases has never been studied in detail. Here, we sought to characterize differences in EGFR signaling between G0/G1, S-phase, and G2. We synchronized cells in G1 by serum starvation, in S-phase by double thymidine block, and in G2 using roscovitine (see Materials and Methods) (Figure 4.1). We collected the cells for flow cytometry analysis.

To verify the synchronization efficiency, I used a combination of flow cytometry and immunofluorescence microscopy. Flow cytometry revealed that asynchronized cells results in 50% of cells in G0/G1, 37% of cells in S-phase, and 13% of cells in G2 (Figure 4.2). Serum starvation resulted in nearly 70% of cells in G0/G1 (Figure 4.2A). Double thymidine block resulted in significant enrichment of cells in S-phase of nearly 75% (Figure 4.2B). G2 synchronization also led to enrichment in G2/M of nearly 40% (Figure 4.2C). For G2

synchronized cells, immunofluorescence microscopy performed in parallel with flow cytometry sample collection showed that very few cells were in mitosis (Figure 4.2D&E). This was in contrast with cells that were not treated with roscovitine, which showed an enrichment of cells in mitosis, even 2 hours after thymidine release (Figure 4.2E).

I performed Western blot analysis of cells synchronized in G0/G1, S-phase, G2, and prometaphase to examine the activation of the EGFR as well as the pathways it mediates (Figure 4.3). Interestingly, S-phase EGFR was less phosphorylated at pY1086 compared to G0/G1, G2, and prometaphase cells. Downstream, ERK1/2 was also less phosphorylated at S-phase compared to G1 and G2, although it was more phosphorylated than during prometaphase, which we previously showed to be inhibited. Preliminary data also showed that p-AKT (S473) was less phosphorylated during S-phase. Immunoblotting for p-CBL, p-PLC-γ1, and p-RAF-1 Y341 gave less appreciable differences between G1, S, G2, and mitosis (Figure 4.4). Since p-EGFR and p-ERK1/2 appear to be less phosphorylated during S-phase, these results appear contradictory.

4.4.2 Mitotic Synchronization

Next, to explore EGFR signaling during mitosis, I synchronized cells into prometaphase, metaphase, and anaphase/telophase. In order to determine the efficiency of cell synchronization for the mitotic subphases, I first used IF microscopy. I counted 500 cells per slide for each synchronization condition and determined the efficiency of synchronization by characterizing cells as either in interphase, prophase, prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase, telophase, or cytokinesis, based on chromosome morphology and overall cell morphology (Figure 4.5A&B). The prometaphase synchronization procedure yielded 58% of cells in prometaphase, with the rest of cells mostly in interphase. The metaphase synchronization procedure yielded 42% of cells in metaphase, 12% of cells in prometaphase, and the rest mostly in interphase. Finally, the anaphase/telophase synchronization procedure yielded many cells in anaphase/telophase, however, I have not yet quantified the number. Regardless, cells were either treated or not treated with EGF and collected using the mitotic shake-off method, which leaves interphase cells behind, and were subjected to Western blots.

Western blots showed that EGFR can be phosphorylated by EGF stimulation in artificially arrested prometaphase, metaphase, and anaphase/telophase (Figure 4.5C). ERK however, was never phosphorylated in response to EGF stimulation in any of the mitotic phases (Figure 4.5C).

Although ERK is not activated during the subphases of mitosis, we had previously seen that some mitotic EGFR pathways, along with EGFR itself, were still activated. Interestingly, EGFR endocytosis was previously shown to occur at different rates during different phases of mitosis. I attempted to use live imaging to see whether EGF stimulation of cells at different phases of mitosis caused any observable physiological effects in terms of time for progression through mitosis, spindle assembly, or cell morphology. Unfortunately, cells grown under our live imaging microscope's set-up would not allow them to progress normally through mitosis, despite numerous attempts at optimization (data not shown).

4.4.3 Imaging Flow Cytometry for EGFR Pathway Characterization Throughout the Cell Cycle

The methods discussed above for both interphase and mitotic subphase synchronization are heavily reliant on pharmacological agents, which raises the question as to whether the pharmacological agents used may react with EGFR pathways. In order to perform these

experiments without the use of pharmacological synchronization agents, I chose to use imaging flow cytometry.

Imaging flow cytometry combines both flow cytometry and immunofluorescence microscopy. For every event that is read quantitatively by conventional flow cytometry, a picture is also taken of the cell with all of the qualitative information that can be extracted from traditional IF microscopy. Combining this information together for analysis can provide highthroughput qualitative and quantitative data.

For my purposes, imaging flow cytometry can be used to examine EGFR signaling of a specific cell cycle phase from a population of asynchronized cells (ie. without the use of pharmacological synchronization agents) growing in a dish. A dish of asynchronized HeLa cells at approximately 70% confluency, based on flow cytometric readings of the cells' DNA content, are made up of G0/G1 cells at ~50%, S-phase cells at ~37%, and G2/M cells at ~13% (Figure 4.6). Therefore, each dish of asynchronized samples contains many cells from each cell cycle phase, as we typically collect 10,000 events per sample to obtain statistical significance for analysis. In addition, as an important improvement on conventional flow cytometry, the software can be set up to identify mitotic cells as prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase, or telophase cells based on the aspect ratio/spot count parameters, as described previously [377]. Nuclear aspect ratio (y-axis) measures the aspect ratio (relationship between height and width). If the chromosomes are more spread out (ie prometaphase), it has a higher aspect ratio. If they are more condensed, it has a lower aspect ratio (metaphase). Nuclear spot count (x-axis) measures the number of "big spots." This is used to distinguish ana/telo cells, since they have two spots, compared to one in prometaphase and metaphase. Essentially, based on the IF picture of the cell, the program recognizes the intensity of the chromosomes within an area of the cell. Therefore,

imaging flow cytometry can distinguish between all of the cell cycle phases, and by probing with the appropriate antibody, it can provide quantitative and qualitative data on the expression level or of the localization of specific proteins during each specific cell cycle phase.

I started by using propidium iodide (PI) as a nuclear stain and set up the software to distinguish between G0/G1, S, G2, prometaphase, metaphase, or anaphase/telophase. The parameters set showed a good ability to separate cells based G0/G1, S, and G2/M, as expected from conventional flow cytometry, but also for the mitotic subphases (Figure 4.7). However, when I began to stain with other antibodies, it became apparent that the PI colour had a high bleedthrough into other channels (data not shown). I therefore compared PI with another nuclear stain DRAQ5 and found that DRAQ5 showed minimal bleedthrough into other channels. Using DRAQ5, I was able to successfully co-stain with pEGFR Y1086. I did not have the chance to write the code to distinguish between the mitotic subphases for the DRAQ5 stain, however, I was able to compare the amounts of pEGFR Y1086 between G0/G1, S, and G2/M. In contrast to the results obtained in Section 1.1., this method did not show S-phase EGFR repression (Figure 4.8). Using imaging flow cytometry, the means of FITC-pY1086 intensity increased with the cell cycle, with GO/G1 = 307K, S-phase = 376K, and G2/M = 425K. Although these results are preliminary and still require optimization and repeats, an explanation for the concurrent increase in phosphorylated EGFR with cell cycle progression may be that as the cell grows bigger throughout the cell cycle, it also produces and expresses more EGFR on the cell surface. Other EGFR pathway antibodies should be optimized for the purpose of imaging flow cytometry, with the top priorities being EGFR, p-ERK, and p-AKT. Moreover, the use of the mitotic marker p-Histone 3 Ser10, which distinguishes G2 cells from mitotic cells, can be used as a filter (Figure 4.9).

4.5 Discussion

Here, I performed drug and drug-free assays for EGFR and EGFR-mediated pathways during the cell cycle. The drug-dependent synchronization of cells has the advantage of ensuring cells are specifically at one phase of the cell cycle. It is also useful for obtaining a high yield of the desired cells, and is especially useful or Western blot analysis. However, disadvantages include the potential for drug off-target effects. Furthermore, the purity of the synchronization may still be improved, especially for G2 synchronization. Mitotic cells can be synchronized, however it is not yet possible to synchronize cells in prophase, cytokinesis, and anaphase and telophase separately. The use of imaging flow cytometry removes the limitations of using drugs, and can be used to obtain many replicates of each cell cycle phase at once since many cells are assayed.

For imaging flow cytometry, one of the problems that would need to be overcome would be to find suitable antibodies that properly reflect the phosphorylation of a protein. For example, the global phosphorylation of proteins during mitosis creates many more phosphorylated proteins than during interphase. By Western blot, non-specific phosphorylations can be more easily discounted, based on the size of the protein. However, when visualizing by IF, non-specific staining is much harder to distinguish. For example, by IF, the p-ERK gives a strong signal throughout the cell, even though by Western blot, it is obvious that p-ERK is not present [3,279]. Therefore, the antibodies used would need verification and optimization prior to use.

Another notable possibility for studying EGFR signaling during cell cycle phases would be using the FUCCI (fluorescence ubiquitination cell cycle indicator) system, which expresses certain fluorescent proteins based on the cell cycle phase [378,379]. This allows the easy indication of the cell cycle by immunofluorescence microscopy. Combining FUCCI with imaging flow cytometry may provide even more convincing quantitative measures of proteins.

The data I obtained for the dampened S-phase response is controversial. EGFR and ERK1/2 were less activated, however, p-CBL and p-PLC-y1 were activated similar to G1 and G2 cells (Figure 4.3-4.4). Moreover, imaging flow cytometry did not reveal differences in p-EGFR staining between cell cycle phases. However, if S-phase EGF-induced EGFR activation is in fact inhibited, the next step would be to find out why. For example, the cell may need to prevent the overactivation of transcription factors, which could collide with DNA replication machineries [380]. Specifically inducing a wave of transcription during S-phase and examining the faithfulness of DNA replication would be a potential future experiment to test this.

4.6 Figures



Figure 4.1. Cell synchronization protocols. G1 cells were obtained by serum starvation. Sphase cells were obtained by the often-used and highly efficient double thymidine block. G2 cells were obtained by double thymidine block followed by subsequent CDK inhibition by roscovitine for 3 hours prior to G2 exit. For the mitotic subphases, cells were first synchronized in prometaphase. Prometaphase cells were synchronized first by double thymidine block, released back into the cell cycle for 9h, and nocodazole block for 5h. Metaphase cells were obtained by following the prometaphase synchronization protocol, but adding a release from nocodazole into MG132-containing (a proteosome inhibitor) medium for 20 minutes. Anaphase and telophase cells were obtained again by following the prometaphase synchronization protocol, but released into serum free media for 20 minutes, followed by blebbistatin (myosin inhibitor) treatment for 20 or 50 minutes respectively. Determination of the efficiency of the synchronizations was performed by both flow cytometry and immunofluorescence (IF) microscopy where appropriate.



Figure 4.2. Cell cycle analysis of interphase-synchronized HeLa cells. Flow cytometry revealed the methods for synchronizing cells into G1 (no treatment) (a), S (b), or G2 (c) resulted in significant enrichment of cells in each phase. Nuclei were stained with Propidium Iodide (PI). (d) Quantification of cells by IF reveals roscovitine treatment is effective at preventing cells from entering mitosis. (e) Representative IF pictures of HeLa H2B-GFP cells synchronized by into S or G2.





Figure 4.3. Western blotting of EGFR, ERK, and AKT during G1, S, G2, and M. The activation of (a) EGFR, (b) ERK, and (c) AKT for HeLa cells synchronized in G1, S-Phase, G2, and M-phase (prometaphase) was assessed by immunoblotting using phospho-specific antibodies. Cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 5 or 15 min, or untreated (0 min). Quantification of (a) (n = 3) and (b) (n = 3) are shown in (d)-(f).









p-RAF-1 Y341



Figure 4.4. Western blotting of other EGFR-mediated proteins during G1, S, G2, and M.

The activation of (a) p-CBL, p-PLC-gamma1, p-RAF Y341, and p-Raf S259 for HeLa cells synchronized in G1, S-Phase, G2, and M-phase (prometaphase) was assessed by immunoblotting using phospho-specific antibodies. Cells were treated with EGF (50 ng/mL) for 5 or 15 min, or untreated (0 min). Quantification of (a) are shown in (b)-(e).

16h Thymidine / 9h release / 4h Noco / 70' MG132





a)

Figure 4.5. Synchronization of cells in the phases of mitosis. (a) HeLa H2B-GFP cells were synchronized in prometaphase, metaphase, and anaphase/telophase using the described techniques and confirmed by immunofluorescence microscopy. (b) Quantification of cells from synchronization. 500 cells were counted in each condition and classified based on chromosome morphology. (c) EGFR and ERK activation during various phases of the cell cycle were assessed by immunoblotting using phospho-specific antibodies.



Figure 4.6. Figure 6. Flow cytometry assessment of asynchronous culture of HeLa cells. G0/G1 cells are present at ~50%, S-phase cells at ~37%, and G2/M cells at ~13%. Cells were labeled with propidium iodide.



Figure 4.7. Example of imaging flow cytometry results. Cells were synchronized to metaphase (see Figure 4.1). (a) Profile of cells based on DNA content. (b) Spot count and Aspect Ratio parameters set to identify prometaphase, metaphase, or anaphase/telophase cells. (c) Prometaphase cells automatically retrieved from *White Pro* area in (b). (d) Metaphase cells automatically retrieved from *Blue Met* area in (b). (e) Anaphase/ telophase cells automatically retrieved from *Gold Ana* area in (b).



Figure 4.8. Imaging flow cytometry of HeLa cells stained for pEGFR Y1086. Cells were asynchronous and stained for pEGFR Y1086 (FITC-green) and DNA (PI-red). (a) Profile of cells based on DNA content. (b) Intensity of FITC-pEGFR in G0/G1 cells. (c) Intensity of FITC-pEGFR in S cells. (d) Intensity of FITC-pEGFR in G2/M cells.



p-Histone 3 Ser10

DAPI

Figure 4.9. p-Histone 3 Ser10 as a marker for mitotic cell. p-Histone 3 Ser10 antibody can be used in imaging flow cytometry to rapidly distinguish between G2 cells and mitotic cells.

5 Chapter 5

Discussion and Future Directions

5.1 Significance

This thesis mainly focused on characterizing the differences in EGFR signaling and endocytosis between mitotic and interphase cells. EGFR signaling during mitosis was found to specifically activate some proteins and pathways, while avoiding others. For example, ERK1/2 and AKT1 were not activated by EGF stimulation during mitosis. However, PLC-γ1, RAS, SRC, AKT2, PI3K, and CBL were all activated. I also found that mitotic EGFR endocytosis proceeds exclusively through NCE, unlike interphase cells where CME is the first line of response to EGF stimulation. Lastly, I established methods for examining EGFR signaling and endocytosis during cell cycle phases.

This sustainment of chronic proliferation is arguably the most fundamental trait of cancer cells [299]. Normal cells carefully regulate their entry and progression into the cell cycle through their compliance with checkpoints in the cell cycle. Cancer cells however often deregulate cell cycle control signaling pathways, so to continuously progress through the cell cycle. Overactive EGFR signaling or that of molecules in its signaling network are well known mechanisms by which cancer cells aberrantly propagate mitogenic signaling. The majority of EGFR signaling has been studied in the context of the G1 phase, as these signaling networks are well known for inducing entry into the cell cycle. However, the activities of the EGFR and its signaling network often show dramatic changes in function throughout the cell cycle, and these changes have not been well characterized. My work here helps us grasp a fuller picture of the EGFR throughout the cell cycle. It helps understand how the activation of the EGFR during each cell cycle phase can affect the cell, and conversely how the conditions of each cell cycle phase affect the output of EGFR signaling. Aside from characterizing these changes, this work could potentially be exploited for informing pharmacological choices.

5.1.1 Pharmacological Benefits

After better elucidating the functional significance, whether we can exploit these differences for pharmacological benefits should follow. Several routes are possible to achieve this.

There are many approved and pending pharmacological targets within the EGFR signaling pathway. For example, EGFR, ERBB2, RAF, MEK1/2, ERK1/2, PI3K, AKT1/2, mTOR, JAK2, and PKC are all drug targets [381,382]. In situations of overactive EGFR, the combination of EGFR inhibitors with inhibitors of the above proteins has been suggested, with special interest in the PI3K-AKT-mTOR arm and MEK-ERK arm of signaling [383]. For example, the combination of PI3K inhibitor with EGFR TKIs better restores drug sensitivity to resistant NSLCL cells [384,385]. The differential activation of these pathways would need to be considered for mitotic cells that make up the tumor at any time. For example, according to our research, MEK or ERK inhibitors would do little to increase the cell death of mitotic cells in the context of MEK and ERK signaling, since these proteins are not even activated by EGFR during mitosis [3,279]. For AKT inhibition, the precise role of the AKT isoforms would first need to be explored before understanding the effects of AKT inhibition of mitotic cells with overactive EGFR. However, since we know that AKT2, and not AKT1 is activated during mitosis, we can imagine that the combination of AKT2 inhibition will be more effective for mitotic cells, and will make a more specific treatment, especially with further combinations with mitotic inhibitors. Therefore, this knowledge can help us inform drug treatments.

Another avenue that the work in this thesis could improve pharmacological targeting is that since we found that mitotic cells internalize EGFR exclusively through NCE, this fact could be used to better deliver drugs into the cell. EGFR endocytosis has been hypothesized as a mechanism of drug deliver. For example, targeting overexpressed EGFR with drug-conjugated EGFR monoclonal antibodies creates a more specific target than the drug along. CME, the predominant form of EGFR internalization during interphase, usually results in the recycling of EGFR back to the PM. Through this pathway, the internalization and retainment of the drug is more difficult. However, during mitosis, NCE exclusively internalizes and retains the internalized agent. In addition, the targeting of internalized drugs to lysosome degradation is a desirable event [332]. Therefore, the combination of an anti-mitotic drug together with a drugconjugated EGFR monoclonal antibody may hold promise.

5.2 Future Directions

My research has contributed to the characterization of the signaling and endocytosis of the EGFR during mitosis in higher depth than previously. Next would be to fully understand the functional relevance of all of the differences I have observed between mitosis and interphase. My MTT assay has shown that EGFR signaling during mitosis can contribute to higher cell survival from mitotic arrest-mediated cell death. Precisely how this occurs would need to be investigated. For example, it has been shown that following mitosis, some daughter cells can immediately reenter the cell cycle while others are quiescent. This phenomenon was explained to be due to the daughter cell's "memory" of mitogenic signals in the mother cell, in that any Cyclin D1 mRNA induced by mitogens throughout the cell cycle could be transferred from the mother cell to the daughter cell [386]. Therefore, EGFR signaling during mitosis may make cells more primed to begin cell proliferation in the subsequent G1. The functional significance of mitotic EGFR signaling and endocytosis would also need to be shown in animal models, such as in mice, however, technical complexities to study mitotic cells in animals would need to be addressed. For example, what cells would be studied? How would EGF be delivered? How would we specifically study mitotic cells in these animals? There are indeed many solutions to these questions, however, intensive trial-and-error would likely be needed prior to using mice as a model study system.

In Chapter 2, we saw that many proteins, such as MEK1/2, ERK1/2, and AKT1, could not be activated by EGF stimulation during mitosis. Evolutionarily, the cell must have found it necessary to prevent their mitotic activation. An interesting future avenue would be to observe the effects of constitutively activating these proteins during mitosis. This improper activation may lead to some pro-oncogenic functions during mitosis that have not been studied.

This thesis explored a wide variety of pathways, and as such, many future directions are possible. The following sections describe some specific future directions, with each hypothesis arising from the data generated in this thesis.

5.2.1 ERMs

The plasma membrane lipids have been shown to be important in the proper completion of mitosis [387,388]. The activation of PI3K and PLC- γ 1 by EGFR during mitosis therefore present interesting aspects to explore. Both proteins alter PM phosphoinositides by depleting the pool of PIP₂: PI3K by phosphorylating it to PIP₃, and PLC- γ 1 by hydrolysis to IP₃ and DAG. Therefore, the EGFR may be able to modulate some important mitotic physiological or signaling functions. One family of proteins that is dependent on PIP₂ for proper localization to the cell cortex to function are the ERMs (ezrin, radixin, moesin) [389]. Interestingly, ERM activity has

been shown to be required for proper mitotic cell rounding (MCR), by providing the mitotic cell cortical rigidity [349,390–392] and proper spindle pole orientation, and stability [393]. PLC activity has been shown ERM release from the cell membrane, leading to ERM dephosphorylation and inactivation [394].

A chemical activator of PLC, m-3M3-FBS, was recently shown to stimulate the dephosphorylation of ERM proteins in HeLa cells [395]. Since EGF stimulation appears to activate PLC- γ 1 during mitosis, it may be possible that active PLC- γ 1 could hydrolyze and deplete PIP₂ levels in the plasma membrane of mitotic cells, and that without PIP₂ at the plasma membrane, the ERMs would be unable to localize to the cell cortex to perform their important MCR actions. Conceivably, EGF activation of PLC- γ 1 during mitosis might actually cause defects in mitotic cell rounding, which would seem to defy conventional logic for the role of the EGFR in cancer cells.

To test this theory, I've performed a few preliminary experiments, I treated interphase and mitotic cells with or without EGF, and with or without the PLC- γ 1 inhibitor U71322, and performed a Western blot, blotting with an anti-p-ERM antibody (Figure 5.1A). In nocodazolearrested mitotic cells without U71322, EGF stimulation appeared to cause ERM dephosphorylation. However, in the presence of U71322, the ERMs remained phosphorylated. This suggested that PLC- γ 1 may indeed dephosphorylate ERM proteins during mitosis. In order to examine whether ERM proteins became delocalized from the cell membrane following EGF treatment, I observed cells stained with anti-p-ERM using indirect microscopy. EGF treatment of mitotic cells did not exhibit discernible cytoplasmic ERM proteins by IF, however, the sharpness of the anti-p-ERM stain in their cell membrane appeared to decrease following 5 minute treatment of either EGF or m-3M3-FBS (Figure 5.1B).

This preliminary data shows that PLC- γ 1 activity over the ERMs during mitosis has the potential to affect MCR. In the same vein, PI3K activity may also affect ERM localization. ERM localization during mitosis may be alternatively examined by subcellular fractionation. Physiologically, the effect of mis-localized ERM by EGF, PLC- γ 1, or PI3K during mitosis could also be explored by observing the mitotic spindle, assaying for mitotic rigidity, or the height of mitotic cells.

Aside from the ERM proteins, PLC- γ 1's canonical signaling pathway operates through the formation of IP3 and DAG, which subsequently activate PKC (protein kinase C), an important family of kinases. Future studies could focus on characterizing IP3 and DAG release resulting from EGF treatment in mitotic cells, as well as PKC activation. Whether PLC- γ 1 participates in increasing survival of mitotic cells through this pathway may also be studied. In addition, the intracellular calcium release initiated by IP3 may also be studied. Calcium has recently been shown to help mediate a type of EGFR NCE [329]. Whether this is related to the EGFR NCE we studied in Chapter 3 would be interesting to study.

5.2.2 RhoA

RhoA has been shown to be another important regulators of mitotic cell rounding (MCR) [396–398]. It has been show that EGF can upregulate RhoA through the activation of ERK [399–401]. I have shown that EGF does not activate ERK during mitosis, therefore, this may be a mechanism to avoid aberrant RhoA overactivation during mitosis.

In order to test this hypothesis, an experiment for RhoA activation during mitosis following EGF treatment using a RhoA activation assay could be performed, for example by Rhotekin GST-pulldown assay [402] as used previously in our lab. A next step could be to

express a constitutively active ERK or MEK, and to see whether mitotic RhoA will be deactivated and whether it causes consequences to mitotic cell rounding.

RhoA is also a negative regulator of EGFR CME. Activation of the RhoA effector ROCK phosphorylates endophilin A1 at Thr14 [403]. Endophilin A1 makes up the EGFR-CBL-CIN85 complex that helps form the clathrin coat [404]. Phosphorylation of endophilin A1 prevents its recruitment to the complex and reduces the level of EGFR endocytosis [403]. Since we found that mitotic CME is inhibited, the constant activation of RhoA during mitosis may conceivably play a part in the inhibition.

5.2.3 CDK Inhibitors

The CDK inhibitor p21^{CIP1/WAF1} could be of interest in the future, since p21^{CIP1/WAF1} can arrest cells at G1/S, S, and G2/M [405]. For example, during G1, p21^{CIP1/WAF1} inhibits the CYCLIN D-CDK 4/6 complex and E2F, during S-phase inhibits PCNA leading to DNA replication blockade, and during G2/M inhibits the CYCLIN B1-CDK2 complex [405]. EGFR pathway members RAS, ERK, and AKT can deactivate p21 function [406], meaning activated EGFR could potentially lift p21^{CIP1/WAF1} repression at any phase of the cell cycle. This would mean an expanded role to the EGFR's contribution to tumorigenesis. An experiment to test this would be to induce cell cycle arrest at stage with active p21^{CIP1/WAF1} and seeing whether EGFR activation can lead to cell cycle progression. Activation of p21^{CIP1/WAF1} could be assayed by lack of phosphorylation at Thr145, as this phosphorylation leads to the cytoplasmic localization of p21^{CIP1/WAF1}. This activation could also be visualized by p21^{CIP1/WAF1} localization under IF.

5.2.4 Protein Synthesis

During mitosis, the translation of mRNA is repressed by 25-30% compared to interphase, including cap-dependent translation [407,408]. This includes eIF4E-mediated translation. The eIF4E (eukaryotic initiation factor 4) binds to the mRNA and recruits ribosomal assembly components. Interestingly, eIF4E is indirectly activated by both ERK1/2 and AKT activity, through the activation of MNK1 and the inactivation of 4E-BP1 respectively [409,410]. I showed that AKT2 is activated by EGF stimulation of cells during mitosis. Whether this is sufficient to activate eIF4E-mediated protein synthesis could be explored. In addition, whether constitutively active ERK1/2 or AKT1 activity could cause improper activation of eIF4E, and whether there are consequences to the cell could be examined. For example, new protein synthesis of mitotically-arrested cells could be a mechanism by which cells undergo mitotic slippage. Proteins downstream of ERK1/2 and AKT, such as the aforementioned MNK1 and 4E-BP1 proteins could be studied.

Furthermore, we did not study the effects of EGF stimulation on mTOR activation during mitosis. The mTOR arm of signaling is one of the most important downstream pathways of AKT and RAS. The mTOR complex receives stimulatory signals from growth factors, as well as from nutrient inputs through amino acids, glucose, and oxygen availability, and regulates cell growth and autophagy [117]. mTOR has been shown to initiate the translation of specific mRNAs, translation elongation, and ribosome biogenesis [411]. Due to the complexity of inputs that affect mTOR activity, we did not study it in Chapter 2 since the use of nocodazole could potentially impact mTOR signaling. However, by imaging flow cytometry, it will be possible to better study mTOR, as drug synchronization would not be required and the growth conditions of cells in different cell cycle phases would be kept constant. The activation of mTOR is usually assayed by

4E-BP1 and S6K phosphorylation, and would be logical next steps to explore. How autophagy is regulated could also be studied.

5.3 Figures



Green: H2B Red: ERM

Figure 5.1. Effect of EGF stimulation and PLC-γ1 activation on ERM proteins. A p-ERM Phospho-Ezrin (Thr567)/Radixin (Thr564)/Moesin (Thr558) (41A3) rabbit monoclonal antibody (Cell Signaling, cat: #3149) was used for detection (gift from Dr. Sarah Hughes). (a) EGF-induced ERM dephosphorylation in mitosis. Interphase and nocodazole-arrested mitotic HeLa H2B-GFP cells were stimulated with EGF for the indicated times, with or without U71322, a PLC inhibitor. (b) ERM localization was visualized by indirect IF.

References

- Pines G, Köstler WJ, Yarden Y. Oncogenic mutant forms of EGFR: Lessons in signal transduction and targets for cancer therapy. FEBS Lett 2010;584:2699–706. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2010.04.019.
- [2] Kiyokawa N. Mitosis-specific Negative Regulation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor, Triggered by a Decrease in Ligand Binding and Dimerization, Can Be Overcome by Overexpression of Receptor. J Biol Chem 1997;272:18656–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.30.18656.
- [3] Dangi S, Shapiro P. Cdc2-mediated inhibition of epidermal growth factor activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway during mitosis. J Biol Chem 2005;280:24524–31. doi:10.1074/jbc.M414079200.
- [4] Liu L, Shi H, Chen X, Wang Z. Regulation of EGF-stimulated EGF receptor endocytosis during M phase. Traffic 2011;12:201–17. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01141.x.
- [5] Fisher D a, Lakshmanan J. Metabolism and effects of epidermal growth factor and related growth factors in mammals. Endocr Rev 1990;11:418–42. doi:10.1210/edrv-11-3-418.
- [6] Chia CM, Winston RM, Handyside AH. EGF, TGF-alpha and EGFR expression in human preimplantation embryos. Development 1995;121:299–307.
- [7] Roskoski R. The ErbB/HER family of protein-tyrosine kinases and cancer. Pharmacol Res 2014;79:34–74. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2013.11.002.
- [8] Olayioye M a, Neve RM, Lane H a, Hynes NE. The ErbB signaling network: receptor heterodimerization in development and cancer. EMBO J 2000;19:3159–67. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.13.3159.
- [9] Campbell ID, Bork P. Epidermal growth factor-like modules. Curr Opin Struct Biol 1993;3:385–92. doi:10.1016/S0959-440X(05)80111-3.
- [10] Threadgill DW, Dlugosz a a, Hansen L a, Tennenbaum T, Lichti U, Yee D, LaMantia C, Mourton T, Herrup K, Harris RC. Targeted disruption of mouse EGF receptor: effect of genetic background on mutant phenotype. Science (80-) 1995;269:230–4. doi:10.1126/science.7618084.
- [11] Green MR, Basketter D a, Couchman JR, Rees D a. Distribution and number of epidermal growth factor receptors in skin is related to epithelial cell growth. Dev Biol 1983;100:506–12.
- [12] Zieske JD, Wasson M. Regional variation in distribution of EGF receptor in developing and adult corneal epithelium. J Cell Sci 1993;106 (Pt 1:145–52.
- [13] Fowler KJ, Walker F, Alexander W, Hibbs ML, Nice EC, Bohmer RM, Mann GB, Thumwood C, Maglitto R, Danks JA. A mutation in the epidermal growth factor receptor in waved-2 mice has a profound effect on receptor biochemistry that results in impaired lactation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:1465–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.5.1465.
- [14] Xie W, Paterson a J, Chin E, Nabell LM, Kudlow JE. Targeted expression of a dominant

negative epidermal growth factor receptor in the mammary gland of transgenic mice inhibits pubertal mammary duct development. Mol Endocrinol 1997;11:1766–81. doi:10.1210/me.11.12.1766.

- [15] Wiesen JF, Young P, Werb Z, Cunha GR. Signaling through the stromal epidermal growth factor receptor is necessary for mammary ductal development. Development 1999;126:335–44.
- [16] Yamada M, Ikeuchi T, Hatanaka H. The neurotrophic action and signalling of epidermal growth factor. Prog Neurobiol 1997;51:19–37. doi:10.1016/S0301-0082(96)00046-9.
- [17] Liu B, Neufeld AH. Activation of epidermal growth factor receptors in astrocytes: from development to neural injury. J Neurosci Res 2007;85:3523–9. doi:10.1002/jnr.21364.
- [18] Gómez-Pinilla F, Knauer DJ, Nieto-Sampedro M. Epidermal growth factor receptor immunoreactivity in rat brain. Development and cellular localization. Brain Res 1988;438:385–90.
- [19] Downward J, Yarden Y, Mayes E, Scrace G, Totty N, Stockwell P, Ullrich a, Schlessinger J, Waterfield MD. Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erb-B oncogene protein sequences. Nature 1984;307:521–7. doi:10.1038/307521a0.
- [20] Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam AW, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J. Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. Nature 1984;309:418–25. doi:10.1038/309418a0.
- [21] Olofsson B, Pizon V, Zahraoui A, Tavitian A, Therwath A. Structure and expression of the chicken epidermal growth factor receptor gene locus. Eur J Biochem 1986;160:261–6.
- [22] Gusterson B, Cowley G, Smith JA, Ozanne B. Cellular localisation of human epidermal growth factor receptor. Cell Biol Int Rep 1984;8:649–58.
- [23] Cowley GP, Smith JA, Gusterson BA. Increased EGF receptors on human squamous carcinoma cell lines. Br J Cancer 1986;53:223–9.
- [24] Gusterson B, Cowley G, McIlhinney J, Ozanne B, Fisher C, Reeves B. Evidence for increased epidermal growth factor receptors in human sarcomas. Int J Cancer 1985;36:689–93.
- [25] Veale D, Ashcroft T, Marsh C, Gibson GJ, Harris AL. Epidermal growth factor receptors in non-small cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer 1987;55:513–6. doi:10.1038/bjc.1987.104.
- [26] Wong AJ, Bigner SH, Bigner DD, Kinzler KW, Hamilton SR, Vogelstein B. Increased expression of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in malignant gliomas is invariably associated with gene amplification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987;84:6899–903.
- [27] Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, McGuire WL. Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science 1987;235:177–82. doi:10.1126/science.3798106.
- [28] Richard J, Sainsbury C, Needham G, Farndon J, Malcolm A, Harris A. Epidermal-Growth-Factor Receptor Status as Predictor of Early Recurrence of and Death from Breast Cancer. Lancet 1987;329:1398–402. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(87)90593-9.
- [29] Carpenter CD, Ingraham H a, Cochet C, Walton GM, Lazar CS, Sowadski JM, Rosenfeld MG, Gill GN. Structural analysis of the transmembrane domain of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 1991;266:5750–5.
- [30] Morrow MR, Grant CWM. The EGF receptor transmembrane domain: peptide-peptide interactions in fluid bilayer membranes. Biophys J 2000;79:2024–32. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(00)76450-2.
- [31] Cymer F, Schneider D. Transmembrane helix-helix interactions involved in ErbB receptor signaling. Cell Adhes Migr 2010;4:299–312. doi:10.4161/cam.4.2.11191.
- [32] Walton GM, Chen WS, Rosenfeld MG, Gill GN. Analysis of deletions of the carboxyl terminus of the epidermal growth factor receptor reveals self-phosphorylation at tyrosine 992 and enhanced in vivo tyrosine phosphorylation of cell substrates. J Biol Chem 1990;265:1750–4.
- [33] Stamos J, Sliwkowski MX, Eigenbrot C. Structure of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain alone and in complex with a 4-anilinoquinazoline inhibitor. J Biol Chem 2002;277:46265–72. doi:10.1074/jbc.M207135200.
- [34] Zhang X, Gureasko J, Shen K, Cole PA, Kuriyan J. An Allosteric Mechanism for Activation of the Kinase Domain of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor. Cell 2006;125:1137–49. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.013.
- [35] Lee JC, Vivanco I, Beroukhim R, Huang JHY, Feng WL, DeBiasi RM, Yoshimoto K, King JC, Nghiemphu P, Yuza Y, Xu Q, Greulich H, Thomas RK, Paez JG, Peck TC, Linhart DJ, Glatt KA, Getz G, Onofrio R, Ziaugra L, Levine RL, Gabriel S, Kawaguchi T, O'Neill K, Khan H, Liau LM, Nelson SF, Rao PN, Mischel P, Pieper RO, Cloughesy T, Leahy DJ, Sellers WR, Sawyers CL, Meyerson M, Mellinghoff IK. Epidermal growth factor receptor activation in glioblastoma through novel missense mutations in the extracellular domain. PLoS Med 2006;3:2264–73. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030485.
- [36] Gan HK, Cvrljevic AN, Johns TG. The epidermal growth factor receptor variant III (EGFRvIII): Where wild things are altered. FEBS J., vol. 280, 2013, p. 5350–70. doi:10.1111/febs.12393.
- [37] Schmidt MHH, Furnari FB, Cavenee WK, Bögler O. Epidermal growth factor receptor signaling intensity determines intracellular protein interactions, ubiquitination, and internalization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:6505–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.1031790100.
- [38] Paez JG, Jänne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, Herman P, Kaye FJ, Lindeman N, Boggon TJ, Naoki K, Sasaki H, Fujii Y, Eck MJ, Sellers WR, Johnson BE, Meyerson M. EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. Science (80-) 2004;304:1497–500. doi:10.1126/science.1099314.

- [39] Shigematsu H, Lin L, Takahashi T, Nomura M, Suzuki M, Wistuba II, Fong KM, Lee H, Toyooka S, Shimizu N, Fujisawa T, Feng Z, Roth JA, Herz J, Minna JD, Gazdar AF. Clinical and biological features associated with epidermal growth factor receptor gene mutations in lung cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:339–46. doi:10.1093/jnci/dji055.
- [40] Carey KD, Garton AJ, Romero MS, Kahler J, Thomson S, Ross S, Park F, Haley JD, Gibson N, Sliwkowski MX. Kinetic analysis of epidermal growth factor receptor somatic mutant proteins shows increased sensitivity to the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, erlotinib. Cancer Res 2006;66:8163–71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0453.
- [41] Yun CH, Boggon TJ, Li Y, Woo MS, Greulich H, Meyerson M, Eck MJ. Structures of Lung Cancer-Derived EGFR Mutants and Inhibitor Complexes: Mechanism of Activation and Insights into Differential Inhibitor Sensitivity. Cancer Cell 2007;11:217–27. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.12.017.
- [42] Zhang Z, Stiegler AL, Boggon TJ, Kobayashi S, Halmos B. EGFR-mutated lung cancer: a paradigm of molecular oncology. Oncotarget 2010;1:497–514. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.186.
- [43] Yun C-H, Mengwasser KE, Toms A V, Woo MS, Greulich H, Wong K-K, Meyerson M, Eck MJ. The T790M mutation in EGFR kinase causes drug resistance by increasing the affinity for ATP. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:2070–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0709662105.
- [44] Cohen S, Elliott GA. The stimulation of epidermal keratinization by a protein isolated from the submaxillary gland of the mouse. J Invest Dermatol 1963;40:1–5. doi:10.1038/jid.1963.1.
- [45] Olsen J V., Blagoev B, Gnad F, Macek B, Kumar C, Mortensen P, Mann M. Global, In Vivo, and Site-Specific Phosphorylation Dynamics in Signaling Networks. Cell 2006;127:635–48. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.026.
- [46] Waters KM, Liu T, Quesenberry RD, Willse AR, Bandyopadhyay S, Kathmann LE, Weber TJ, Smith RD, Wiley HS, Thrall BD. Network analysis of epidermal growth factor signaling using integrated genomic, proteomic and phosphorylation data. PLoS One 2012;7:e34515. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034515.
- [47] Conte A, Sigismund S. The Ubiquitin Network in the Control of EGFR Endocytosis and Signaling. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 2016. doi:10.1016/bs.pmbts.2016.03.002.
- [48] Sigismund S, Woelk T, Puri C, Maspero E, Tacchetti C, Transidico P, Di Fiore PP, Polo S. Clathrin-independent endocytosis of ubiquitinated cargos. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:2760–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409817102.
- [49] Kasselberg a. G, Orth DN, Gray ME, Stahlman MT. Immunocytochemical localization of human epidermal growth factor/urogastrone in several human tissues. J Histochem Cytochem 1985;33:315–22. doi:10.1177/33.4.3884705.

- [50] Edwin F, Wiepz GJ, Singh R, Peet CR, Chaturvedi D, Bertics PJ, Patel TB. A historical perspective of the EGF receptor and related systems. Methods Mol Biol 2006;327:1–24. doi:10.1385/1-59745-012-X:1.
- [51] Singh AB, Harris RC. Autocrine, paracrine and juxtacrine signaling by EGFR ligands. Cell Signal 2005;17:1183–93. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.03.026.
- [52] Burgess AW, Cho HS, Eigenbrot C, Ferguson KM, Garrett TPJ, Leahy DJ, Lemmon M a, Sliwkowski MX, Ward CW, Yokoyama S, Parade R. An Open-and-Shut Case ? Recent Insights into the Activation of EGF/ErbB Receptors. Mol Cell 2003;12:541–52. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00350-2.
- [53] Ferguson KM, Berger MB, Mendrola JM, Cho HS, Leahy DJ, Lemmon MA. EGF activates its receptor by removing interactions that autoinhibit ectodomain dimerization. Mol Cell 2003;11:507–17. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00047-9.
- [54] Sato K-I. Cellular Functions Regulated by Phosphorylation of EGFR on Tyr845. Int J Mol Sci 2013;14:10761–90. doi:10.3390/ijms140610761.
- [55] Hunter T, Ling N, Cooper JA. Protein kinase C phosphorylation of the EGF receptor at a threonine residue close to the cytoplasmic face of the plasma membrane. Nature 1984;311:480–3. doi:10.1038/311480a0.
- [56] Pawson T. Specificity in Signal Transduction: From Phosphotyrosine-SH2 Domain Interactions to Complex Cellular Systems. Cell 2004;116:191–203. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01077-8.
- [57] Lowenstein EJ, Daly RJ, Batzer AG, Li W, Margolis B, Lammers R, Ullrich A, Skolnik EY, Bar-Sagi D, Schlessinger J. The SH2 and SH3 domain-containing protein GRB2 links receptor tyrosine kinases to ras signaling. Cell 1992;70:431–42. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90167-B.
- [58] Buday L, Downward J. Epidermal growth factor regulates p21ras through the formation of a complex of receptor, Grb2 adapter protein, and Sos nucleotide exchange factor. Cell 1993;73:611–20. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90146-H.
- [59] Jiang X, Huang F, Marusyk A, Sorkin A. Grb2 regulates internalization of EGF receptors through clathrin-coated pits. Mol Biol Cell 2003;14:858–70. doi:10.1091/mbc.E02-08-0532.
- [60] Batzer AG, Rotin D, Ureña JM, Skolnik EY, Schlessinger J. Hierarchy of binding sites for Grb2 and Shc on the epidermal growth factor receptor. Mol Cell Biol 1994;14:5192–201. doi:10.1128/MCB.14.8.5192.Updated.
- [61] Pelicci G, Lanfrancone L, Grignani F, McGlade J, Cavallo F, Forni G, Nicoletti I, Grignani F, Pawson T, Giuseppe Pelicci P. A novel transforming protein (SHC) with an SH2 domain is implicated in mitogenic signal transduction. Cell 1992;70:93–104. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90536-L.
- [62] Okabayashi Y, Kido Y, Okutani T, Sugimoto Y, Sakaguchi K, Kasuga M. Tyrosines 1148

and 1173 of activated human epidermal growth factor receptors are binding sites of Shc in intact cells. J Biol Chem 1994;269:18674–8.

- [63] Sakaguchi K, Okabayashi Y, Kido Y, Kimura S, Matsumura Y, Inushima K, Kasuga M. Shc phosphotyrosine-binding domain dominantly interacts with epidermal growth factor receptors and mediates Ras activation in intact cells. Mol Endocrinol (Baltimore, Md) 1998;12:536–43. doi:10.1210/me.12.4.536.
- [64] Salcini AE, McGlade J, Pelicci G, Nicoletti I, Pawson T, Pelicci PG. Formation of Shc-Grb2 complexes is necessary to induce neoplastic transformation by overexpression of Shc proteins. Oncogene 1994;9:2827–36.
- [65] Chardin P, Camonis JH, Gale NW, van Aelst L, Schlessinger J, Wigler MH, Bar-Sagi D. Human Sos1: a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Ras that binds to GRB2. Science 1993;260:1338–43. doi:10.1126/science.8493579.
- [66] Li N, Batzer A, Daly R, Yajnik V, Skolnik E, Chardin P, Bar-Sagi D, Margolis B, Schlessinger J. Guanine-nucleotide-releasing factor hSos1 binds to Grb2 and links receptor tyrosine kinases to Ras signalling. Nature 1993;363:85–8. doi:10.1038/363085a0.
- [67] Egan SE, Giddings BW, Brooks MW, Buday L, Sizeland AM, Weinberg RA. Association of Sos Ras exchange protein with Grb2 is implicated in tyrosine kinase signal transduction and transformation. Nature 1993;363:45–51. doi:10.1038/363045a0.
- [68] Rozakis-Adcock M, Fernley R, Wade J, Pawson T, Bowtell D. The SH2 and SH3 domains of mammalian Grb2 couple the EGF receptor to the Ras activator mSos1. Nature 1993;363:83–5. doi:10.1038/363083a0.
- [69] Simon JA, Schreiber SL. Grb2 SH3 binding to peptides from Sos: evaluation of a general model for SH3-ligand interactions. Chem Biol 1995;2:53–60. doi:10.1016/1074-5521(95)90080-2.
- [70] Boriack-Sjodin P a, Margarit SM, Bar-Sagi D, Kuriyan J. The structural basis of the activation of Ras by Sos. Nature 1998;394:337–43. doi:10.1038/28548.
- [71] Brtva TR, Drugan JK, Ghosh S, Terrell RS, Campbell-Burk S, Bell RM, Der CJ. Two distinct Raf domains mediate interaction with Ras. J Biol Chem 1995;270:9809–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.17.9809.
- [72] Xiang X, Zang M, Waelde CA, Wen R, Luo Z. Phosphorylation of 338SSYY341 regulates specific interaction between Raf-1 and MEK1. J Biol Chem 2002;277:44996– 5003. doi:10.1074/jbc.M203953200.
- [73] Zang M, Gong J, Luo L, Zhou J, Xiang X, Huang W, Huang Q, Luo X, Olbrot M, Peng Y, Chen C, Luo Z. Characterization of Ser338 phosphorylation for Raf-1 activation. J Biol Chem 2008;283:31429–37. doi:10.1074/jbc.M802855200.
- [74] Diaz B, Barnard D, Filson A. Phosphorylation of Raf-1 serine 338-serine 339 is an essential regulatory event for Ras-dependent activation and biological signaling. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:4509–16.

- [75] Fabian JR, Daar IO, Morrison DK. Critical tyrosine residues regulate the enzymatic and biological activity of Raf-1 kinase. Mol Cell Biol 1993;13:7170–9.
- [76] Michaud NR, Fabian JR, Mathes KD, Morrison DK. 14-3-3 is not essential for Raf-1 function: identification of Raf-1 proteins that are biologically activated in a 14-3-3- and Ras-independent manner. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:3390–7.
- [77] Muslin AJ, Tanner JW, Allen PM, Shaw AS. Interaction of 14-3-3 with signaling proteins is mediated by the recognition of phosphoserine. Cell 1996;84:889–97. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81067-3.
- [78] Zimmermann S, Moelling K. Phosphorylation and regulation of Raf by Akt (protein kinase B). Science (80-) 1999;286:1741–4. doi:10.1126/science.286.5445.1741.
- [79] Bondzi C, Grant S, Krystal GW. A novel assay for the measurement of Raf-1 kinase activity. Oncogene 2000;19:5030–3. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203862.
- [80] Dhanasekaran N, Premkumar Reddy E. Signaling by dual specificity kinases. Oncogene 1998;17:1447–55. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202251.
- [81] Lefloch R, Pouysségur J, Lenormand P. Total ERK1/2 activity regulates cell proliferation. Cell Cycle 2009;8:705–11. doi:10.4161/cc.8.5.7734.
- [82] Yoon S, Seger R. The extracellular signal-regulated kinase: Multiple substrates regulate diverse cellular functions. Growth Factors 2006;24:21–44. doi:10.1159/000094762.
- [83] Richards S a, Dreisbach VC, Murphy LO, Blenis J. Characterization of regulatory events associated with membrane targeting of p90 ribosomal S6 kinase 1. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:7470–80. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.21.7470.
- [84] Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O, Kolch W. MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007;26:3279–90. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210421.
- [85] Murphy LO, Blenis J. MAPK signal specificity: the right place at the right time. Trends Biochem Sci 2006;31:268–75. doi:10.1016/j.jsg.2005.10.009.
- [86] Stacey DW, Watson T, Kung HF, Curran T. Microinjection of transforming ras protein induces c-fos expression. Mol Cell Biol 1987;7:523–7.
- [87] Quantin B, Breathnach R. Epidermal growth factor stimulates transcription of the c-jun proto-oncogene in rat fibroblasts. Nature 1988;334:538–9. doi:10.1038/334538a0.
- [88] van der Geer P, Wiley S, Ka-Man Lai V, Olivier JP, Gish GD, Stephens R, Kaplan D, Shoelson S, Pawson T. A conserved amino-terminal Shc domain binds to phosphotyrosine motifs in activated receptors and phosphopeptides. Curr Biol 1995;5:404–12. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(95)00081-9.
- [89] Fujioka A, Terai K, Itoh RE, Aoki K, Nakamura T, Kuroda S, Nishida E, Matsuda M. Dynamics of the Ras/ERK MAPK cascade as monitored by fluorescent probes. J Biol Chem 2006;281:8917–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M509344200.

- [90] Dibble CC, Cantley LC. Regulation of mTORC1 by PI3K signaling. Trends Cell Biol 2015;25:545–55. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2015.06.002.
- [91] Whitman M, Downes CP, Keeler M, Keller T, Cantley L. Type I phosphatidylinositol kinase makes a novel inositol phospholipid, phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate. Nature 1988;332:644–6. doi:10.1038/332644a0.
- [92] Bjorge JD, Chan TO, Antczak M, Kung HJ, Fujita DJ. Activated type I phosphatidylinositol kinase is associated with the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor following EGF stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:3816–20. doi:10.1073/pnas.87.10.3816.
- [93] Thorpe LM, Yuzugullu H, Zhao JJ. PI3K in cancer: divergent roles of isoforms, modes of activation and therapeutic targeting. Nat Rev Cancer 2015;15:7–24. doi:10.1038/nrc3860.
- [94] Fruman DA, Cantley LC. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase in immunological systems. Semin Immunol 2002;14:7–18. doi:10.1006/smim.2001.0337.
- [95] Auger KR, Serunian LA, Soltoff SP, Libby P, Cantley LC. PDGF-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation stimulates production of novel polyphosphoinositides in intact cells. Cell 1989;57:167–75. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90182-7.
- [96] Carpenter CL, Duckworth BC, Auger KR, Cohen B, Schaffhausen BS, Cantley LC. Purification and characterization of phosphoinositide 3-kinase from rat liver. J Biol Chem 1990;265:19704–11.
- [97] Vogt PK, Hart JR, Gymnopoulos M, Jiang H, Kang S, Bader AG, Zhao L, Denley A. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase: The oncoprotein. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2010;347:79–104. doi:10.1007/82-2010-80.
- [98] Salmena L, Carracedo A, Pandolfi PP. Tenets of PTEN tumor suppression. Cell 2008;133:403–14. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.04.013.
- [99] Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens L, Hawkins P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012;13:195–203. doi:10.1038/nrm3290.
- [100] Toker A, Newton AC. Akt/protein kinase B is regulated by autophosphorylation at the hypothetical PDK-2 site. J Biol Chem 2000;275:8271–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.12.8271.
- [101] Pearce LR, Komander D, Alessi DR. The nuts and bolts of AGC protein kinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2010;11:9–22. doi:10.1038/nrm2822.
- [102] Stephens L, Anderson K, Stokoe D, Erdjument-Bromage H, Painter GF, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, McCormick F, Tempst P, Coadwell J, Hawkins PT. Protein kinase B kinases that mediate phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5- trisphosphate-dependent activation of protein kinase B. Science (80-) 1998;279:710–4. doi:10.1126/science.279.5351.710.
- [103] Sarbassov DD, Guertin D a, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science 2005;307:1098–101. doi:10.1126/science.1106148.

- [104] Santi S a, Lee H. The Akt isoforms are present at distinct subcellular locations. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2010;298:C580-91. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00375.2009.
- [105] Yang Z, Tschopp O. Protein kinase B alpha/Akt1 regulates placental development and fetal growth. J Biol Chem 2003;278:32124–31.
- [106] Zinda MJ, Johnson MA, Paul JD, Horn C, Konicek BW, Lu ZH, Sandusky G, Thomas JE, Neubauer BL, Lai MT, Graff JR. AKT-1, -2, and -3 are expressed in both normal and tumor tissues of the lung, breast, prostate, and colon. Clin Cancer Res 2001;7:2475–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.8.4240.
- [107] Cariaga-Martinez AE, López-Ruiz P, Nombela-Blanco MP, Motiño O, González-Corpas A, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Lobo MVT, Cortés MA, Colás B. Distinct and specific roles of AKT1 and AKT2 in androgen-sensitive and androgen-independent prostate cancer cells. Cell Signal 2013;25:1586–97. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.03.019.
- [108] Okano J, Gaslightwala I, Birnbaum MJ, Rustgi a K, Nakagawa H. Akt/protein kinase B isoforms are differentially regulated by epidermal growth factor stimulation. J Biol Chem 2000;275:30934–42. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004112200.
- [109] Franke TF, Kaplan DR, Cantley LC, Toker A. Direct regulation of the Akt protooncogene product by phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate. Science 1997;275:665–8. doi:10.1126/science.275.5300.665.
- [110] Datta SR, Dudek H, Xu T, Masters S, Haian F, Gotoh Y, Greenberg ME. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell- intrinsic death machinery. Cell 1997;91:231–41. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80405-5.
- [111] Cardone MH. Regulation of Cell Death Protease Caspase-9 by Phosphorylation. Science (80-) 1998;282:1318–21. doi:10.1126/science.282.5392.1318.
- [112] Tang ED, Nuñez G, Barr FG, Guan KL. Negative regulation of the forkhead transcription factor FKHR by Akt. J Biol Chem 1999;274:16741–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.24.16741.
- [113] Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, Hu LS, Anderson MJ, Arden KC, Blenis J, Greenberg ME. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell 1999;96:857–68. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80595-4.
- [114] Ogawara Y, Kishishita S, Obata T, Isazawa Y, Suzuki T, Tanaka K, Masuyama N, Gotoh Y. Akt enhances Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation of p53. J Biol Chem 2002;277:21843–50. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109745200.
- [115] Zhou BP, Liao Y, Xia W, Zou Y, Spohn B, Hung MC. HER-2/neu induces p53 ubiquitination via Akt-mediated MDM2 phosphorylation. Nat Cell Biol 2001;3:973–82. doi:10.1038/ncb1101-973.
- [116] Feng J, Tamaskovic R, Yang Z, Brazil DP, Merlo A, Hess D, Hemmings BA. Stabilization of Mdm2 via decreased ubiquitination is mediated by protein kinase B/Aktdependent phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2004;279:35510–7.

doi:10.1074/jbc.M404936200.

- [117] Shaw RJ, Cantley LC. Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. Nature 2006;441:424–30. doi:10.1038/nature04869.
- [118] Sala G, Dituri F, Raimondi C, Previdi S, Maffucci T, Mazzoletti M, Rossi C, Iezzi M, Lattanzio R, Piantelli M, Iacobelli S, Broggini M, Falasca M. Phospholipase Cgamma1 is required for metastasis development and progression. Cancer Res 2008;68:10187–96. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1181.
- [119] Lattanzio R, Piantelli M, Falasca M. Role of phospholipase C in cell invasion and metastasis. Adv Biol Regul 2013;53:309–18. doi:10.1016/j.jbior.2013.07.006.
- [120] Rotin D, Margolis B, Mohammadi M, Daly RJ, Daum G, Li N, Fischer EH, Burgess WH, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J. SH2 domains prevent tyrosine dephosphorylation of the EGF receptor: identification of Tyr992 as the high-affinity binding site for SH2 domains of phospholipase C gamma. EMBO J 1992;11:559–67.
- [121] Anderson D, Koch C a, Grey L, Ellis C, Moran MF, Pawson T. Binding of SH2 domains of phospholipase C gamma 1, GAP, and Src to activated growth factor receptors. Science 1990;250:979–82. doi:10.1126/science.2173144.
- [122] Chattopadhyay A, Vecchi M, Ji QS, Mernaugh R, Carpenter G. The role of individual SH2 domains in mediating association of phospholipase C-γ1 with the activated EGF receptor. J Biol Chem 1999;274:26091–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.37.26091.
- [123] Ji QS, Winnier GE, Niswender KD, Horstman D, Wisdom R, Magnuson MA, Carpenter G. Essential role of the tyrosine kinase substrate phospholipase C-γ1 in mammalian growth and development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94:2999–3003.
- [124] Falasca M, Logan SK, Lehto VP, Baccante G, Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J. Activation of phospholipase C gamma by PI 3-kinase-induced PH domain- mediated membrane targeting. EMBO J 1998;17:414–22. doi:10.1093/emboj/17.2.414.
- [125] Nishibe S, Wahl MI, Hernández-Sotomayor SM, Tonks NK, Rhee SG, Carpenter G. Increase of the catalytic activity of phospholipase C-gamma 1 by tyrosine phosphorylation. Science 1990;250:1253–6. doi:10.1126/science.1700866.
- [126] Serrano CJ, Graham L, DeBell K, Rawat R, Veri MC, Bonvini E, Rellahan BL, Reischl IG. A New Tyrosine Phosphorylation Site in PLCγ1: The Role of Tyrosine 775 in Immune Receptor Signaling. J Immunol 2005;174:6233–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.10.6233.
- [127] Gresset A, Hicks SN, Harden TK, Sondek J. Mechanism of phosphorylation-induced activation of phospholipase C-gamma isozymes. J Biol Chem 2010;285:35836–47. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.166512.
- [128] Kang JH, Toita R, Kim CW, Katayama Y. Protein kinase C (PKC) isozyme-specific substrates and their design. Biotechnol Adv 2012;30:1662–72. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.07.004.

- [129] Lund KA, Lazar CS, Chen WS, Walsh BJ, Welsh JB, Herbst JJ, Walton GM, Rosenfeld MG, Gill GN, Wiley HS. Phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor at threonine 654 inhibits ligand-induced internalization and down-regulation. J Biol Chem 1990;265:20517–23.
- [130] Lee CS, Kim KL, Jang JH, Choi YS, Suh P-G, Ryu SH. The roles of phospholipase D in EGFR signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1791:862–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.04.007.
- [131] Kim Y, Han JM, Park JB, Lee SD, Oh YS, Chung C, Lee TG, Kim JH, Park SK, Yoo JS, Suh PG, Ryu SH. Phosphorylation and activation of phospholipase D1 by protein kinase C in vivo: determination of multiple phosphorylation sites. Biochemistry 1999;38:10344–51. doi:10.1021/bi990579h.
- [132] Song J, Jiang Y, Foster D. Epidermal growth factor induces the production of biologically distinguishable diglyceride species from phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylcholine via the independent activation of type C and type D phospholipases. Cell Growth Differ 1994;5:79–85.
- [133] Lu Z, Hornia a, Joseph T, Sukezane T, Frankel P, Zhong M, Bychenok S, Xu L, Feig L a, Foster D a. Phospholipase D and RalA cooperate with the epidermal growth factor receptor to transform 3Y1 rat fibroblasts. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:462–7. doi:10.1128/MCB.20.2.462-467.2000.
- [134] Joseph T, Wooden R, Bryant A, Zhong M, Lu Z, Foster DA. Transformation of cells overexpressing a tyrosine kinase by phospholipase D1 and D2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;289:1019–24. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.6118.
- [135] Lee CS, Kim IS, Park JB, Lee MN, Lee HY, Suh P-G, Ryu SH. The phox homology domain of phospholipase D activates dynamin GTPase activity and accelerates EGFR endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 2006;8:477–84. doi:10.1038/ncb1401.
- [136] Park JB, Lee CS, Jang J-H, Ghim J, Kim Y-J, You S, Hwang D, Suh P-G, Ryu SH. Phospholipase signalling networks in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12:782–92. doi:10.1038/nrc3379.
- [137] Rous P. A Sarcoma of the Fowl Transmissible By an Agent Separable From the Tumor Cells. J Exp Med 1911;13:397–411. doi:10.1097/00000441-191108000-00079.
- [138] Xu W, Harrison SC, Eck MJ. Three-dimensional structure of the tyrosine kinase c-Src. Nature 1997;385:595–602. doi:10.1038/385595a0.
- [139] Williams JC, Weijland a, Gonfloni S, Thompson a, Courtneidge S a, Superti-Furga G, Wierenga RK. The 2.35 A crystal structure of the inactivated form of chicken Src: a dynamic molecule with multiple regulatory interactions. J Mol Biol 1997;274:757–75. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1997.1426.
- [140] Cooper J a, Gould KL, Cartwright C a, Hunter T. Tyr527 is phosphorylated in pp60c-src: implications for regulation. Science 1986;231:1431–4. doi:10.1126/science.2420005.

- [141] Biscardi JS, Maa M-C, Tice D a, Leu T-H, Parsons SJ. c-Src-mediated Phosphorylation of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor on Tyr845 and Tyr1101 Is Associated with Modulation of Receptor Function. J Biol Chem 1999;274:8335–43. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.12.8335.
- [142] Bao J, Gur G, Yarden Y. Src promotes destruction of c-Cbl: implications for oncogenic synergy between Src and growth factor receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:2438–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.0437945100.
- [143] Tice D a, Biscardi JS, Nickles a L, Parsons SJ. Mechanism of biological synergy between cellular Src and epidermal growth factor receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:1415–20.
- [144] Wilson KJ, Gilmore JL, Foley J, Lemmon MA, Riese DJ. Functional selectivity of EGF family peptide growth factors: Implications for cancer. Pharmacol Ther 2009;122:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2008.11.008.
- [145] Maa MC, Leu TH, McCarley DJ, Schatzman RC, Parsons SJ. Potentiation of epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated oncogenesis by c-Src: implications for the etiology of multiple human cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:6981–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.15.6981.
- [146] Poole EM, Curtin K, Hsu L, Kulmacz RJ, Duggan DJ, Makar KW, Xiao L, Carlson CS, Slattery ML, Caan BJ, Potter JD, Ulrich CM. Genetic variability in EGFR, Src and HER2 and risk of colorectal adenoma and cancer. Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet 2011;2:300–15.
- [147] Olayioye MA, Beuvink I, Horsch K, Daly JM, Hynes NE. ErbB receptor-induced activation of Stat transcription factors is mediated by Src tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 1999;274:17209–18. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.24.17209.
- [148] Sato K, Sato A, Aoto M, Fukami Y. c-Src phosphorylates epidermal growth factor receptor on tyrosine 845. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995;215:1078–87.
- [149] Shan Y, Eastwood MP, Zhang X, Kim ET, Arkhipov A, Dror RO, Jumper J, Kuriyan J, Shaw DE. Oncogenic mutations counteract intrinsic disorder in the EGFR kinase and promote receptor dimerization. Cell 2012;149:860–70. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.063.
- [150] Endoh H, Ishibashi Y, Yamaki E, Yoshida T, Yajima T, Kimura H, Kosaka T, Onozato R, Tanaka S, Mitsudomi T, Kuwano H. Immunohistochemical analysis of phosphorylated epidermal growth factor receptor might provide a surrogate marker of EGFR mutation. Lung Cancer 2009;63:241–6. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2008.05.013.
- [151] Chung BM, Dimri M, George M, Reddi a L, Chen G, Band V, Band H. The role of cooperativity with Src in oncogenic transformation mediated by non-small cell lung cancer-associated EGF receptor mutants. Oncogene 2009;28:1821–32. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.31.
- [152] Mattila E, Pellinen T, Nevo J, Vuoriluoto K, Arjonen A, Ivaska J. Negative regulation of EGFR signalling through integrin-alpha1beta1-mediated activation of protein tyrosine

phosphatase TCPTP. Nat Cell Biol 2005;7:78-85. doi:10.1038/ncb1209.

- [153] Baumdick M, Brüggemann Y, Schmick M, Xouri G, Sabet O, Davis L, Chin JW, Bastiaens PIH. EGF-dependent re-routing of vesicular recycling switches spontaneous phosphorylation suppression to EGFR signaling. Elife 2015;4. doi:10.7554/eLife.12223.
- [154] Koppikar P, Choi S-H, Egloff AM, Cai Q, Suzuki S, Freilino M, Nozawa H, Thomas SM, Gooding WE, Siegfried JM, Grandis JR. Combined inhibition of c-Src and epidermal growth factor receptor abrogates growth and invasion of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2008;14:4284–91. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-5226.
- [155] Gargalionis AN, Karamouzis M V., Papavassiliou AG. The molecular rationale of Src inhibition in colorectal carcinomas. Int J Cancer 2014;134:2019–29. doi:10.1002/ijc.28299.
- [156] Bunda S, Heir P, Srikumar T, Cook JD, Burrell K, Kano Y, Lee JE, Zadeh G, Raught B, Ohh M. Src promotes GTPase activity of Ras via tyrosine 32 phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111:E3785-94. doi:10.1073/pnas.1406559111.
- [157] Sorkin A. Internalization of the epidermal growth factor receptor: role in signalling. Biochem Soc Trans 2001;29:480–4. doi:10.1042/bst0290480.
- [158] Wu P, Wee P, Jiang J, Chen X, Wang Z. Differential regulation of transcription factors by location-specific EGF receptor signaling via a spatio-temporal interplay of ERK activation. PLoS One 2012;7:e41354. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041354.
- [159] Lemmon M a, Schlessinger J. Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 2010;141:1117–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.06.011.
- [160] Wiley HS, Herbst JJ, Walsh BJ, Lauffenburger D a, Rosenfeld MG, Gill GN. The role of tyrosine kinase activity in endocytosis, compartmentation, and down-regulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 1991;266:11083–94.
- [161] Wang Y, Pennock S. Endosomal signaling of epidermal growth factor receptor stimulates signal transduction pathways leading to cell survival. Mol Cell ... 2002;22:7279–90. doi:10.1128/MCB.22.20.7279.
- [162] Sigismund S, Argenzio E, Tosoni D, Cavallaro E, Polo S, Di Fiore PP. Clathrin-Mediated Internalization Is Essential for Sustained EGFR Signaling but Dispensable for Degradation. Dev Cell 2008;15:209–19. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.06.012.
- [163] Sigismund S, Algisi V, Nappo G, Conte A, Pascolutti R, Cuomo A, Bonaldi T, Argenzio E, Verhoef LGGC, Maspero E, Bianchi F, Capuani F, Ciliberto A, Polo S, Di Fiore PP. Threshold-controlled ubiquitination of the EGFR directs receptor fate. EMBO J 2013;32:2140–57. doi:10.1038/emboj.2013.149.
- [164] Chen H, De Camilli P. The association of epsin with ubiquitinated cargo along the endocytic pathway is negatively regulated by its interaction with clathrin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:2766–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409719102.

- [165] Capuani F, Conte A, Argenzio E, Marchetti L, Priami C, Polo S, Di Fiore PP, Sigismund S, Ciliberto A. Quantitative analysis reveals how EGFR activation and downregulation are coupled in normal but not in cancer cells. Nat Commun 2015;6:7999. doi:10.1038/ncomms8999.
- [166] Wiley HS. Anomalous binding of epidermal growth factor to A431 cells is due to the effect of high receptor densities and a saturable endocytic system. J Cell Biol 1988;107:801–10. doi:10.1083/jcb.107.2.801.
- [167] Lund KA, Opresko LK, Starbuck C, Walsh BJ, Wiley HS. Quantitative analysis of the endocytic system involved in hormone-induced receptor internalization. J Biol Chem 1990;265:15713–23. doi:1975591.
- [168] Sorkin A, Goh LK. Endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of ErbBs. Exp Cell Res 2009;315:683–96. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.07.029.
- [169] Goh LK, Huang F, Kim W, Gygi S, Sorkin A. Multiple mechanisms collectively regulate clathrin-mediated endocytosis of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Cell Biol 2010;189:871–83. doi:10.1083/jcb.201001008.
- [170] Fortian A, Dionne LK, Hong SH, Kim W, Gygi SP, Watkins SC, Sorkin A. Endocytosis of Ubiquitylation-Deficient EGFR Mutants via Clathrin-Coated Pits is Mediated by Ubiquitylation. Traffic 2015;16:1137–54. doi:10.1111/tra.12314.
- [171] Kaur S, Fielding AB, Gassner G, Carter NJ, Royle SJ. An unmet actin requirement explains the mitotic inhibition of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Elife 2014;2014. doi:10.7554/eLife.00829.001.
- [172] Benesch S, Polo S, Lai FPL, Anderson KI, Stradal TE, Wehland J, Rottner K. N-WASP deficiency impairs EGF internalization and actin assembly at clathrin-coated pits. J Cell Sci 2005;118:3103–15. doi:10.1242/jcs.02444.
- [173] Mayor S, Pagano RE. Pathways of clathrin-independent endocytosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8:603–12. doi:10.1038/nrm2216.
- [174] Haigler HT, McKanna JA, Cohen S. Rapid stimulation of pinocytosis in human carcinoma cells A-431 by epidermal growth factor. J Cell Biol 1979;83:82–90. doi:10.1083/jcb.83.1.82.
- [175] Barbieri MA, Roberts RL, Gumusboga A, Highfield H, Alvarez-Dominguez C, Wells A, Stahl PD. Epidermal growth factor and membrane trafficking: EGF receptor activation of endocytosis requires Rab5a. J Cell Biol 2000;151:539–50. doi:10.1083/jcb.151.3.539.
- [176] Yamazaki T, Zaal K, Hailey D, Presley J, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Samelson LE. Role of Grb2 in EGF-stimulated EGFR internalization. J Cell Sci 2002;115:1791–802.
- [177] Orth JD, McNiven M a. Get off my back! Rapid receptor internalization through circular dorsal ruffles. Cancer Res 2006;66:11094–6. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3397.
- [178] Hinrichsen L, Harborth J, Andrees L, Weber K, Ungewickell EJ. Effect of Clathrin Heavy

Chain- and α-Adaptin-specific Small Inhibitory RNAs on Endocytic Accessory Proteins and Receptor Trafficking in HeLa Cells. J Biol Chem 2003;278:45160–70. doi:10.1074/jbc.M307290200.

- [179] Kirkham M, Fujita A, Chadda R, Nixon SJ, Kurzchalia T V., Sharma DK, Pagano RE, Hancock JF, Mayor S, Parton RG. Ultrastructural identification of uncoated caveolinindependent early endocytic vehicles. J Cell Biol 2005;168:465–76. doi:10.1083/jcb.200407078.
- [180] Cheng Z-J, Singh RD, Sharma DK, Holicky EL, Hanada K, Marks DL, Pagano RE. Distinct mechanisms of clathrin-independent endocytosis have unique sphingolipid requirements. Mol Biol Cell 2006;17:3197–210. doi:10.1091/mbc.E05-12-1101.
- [181] Levkowitz G, Waterman H, Zamir E, Kam Z, Oved S, Langdon WY, Beguinot L, Geiger B, Yarden Y. c-Cb1/Sli-1 regulates endocytic sorting and ubiquitination of the epidermal growth factor receptor. Genes Dev 1998;12:3663–74. doi:10.1101/gad.12.23.3663.
- [182] Levkowitz G, Waterman H, Ettenberg SA, Katz M, Tsygankov AY, Alroy I, Lavi S, Iwai K, Reiss Y, Ciechanover A, Lipkowitz S, Yarden Y. Ubiquitin ligase activity and tyrosine phosphorylation underlie suppression of growth factor signaling by c-Cbl/Sli-1. Mol Cell 1999;4:1029–40. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80231-2.
- [183] Galcheva-Gargova Z, Theroux SJ, Davis RJ. The epidermal growth factor receptor is covalently linked to ubiquitin. Oncogene 1995;11:2649–55.
- [184] Huang F, Zeng X, Kim W, Balasubramani M, Fortian A, Gygi SP, Yates NA, Sorkin A. Lysine 63-linked polyubiquitination is required for EGF receptor degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:15722–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1308014110.
- [185] Huang F, Goh L, Sorkin A. EGF receptor ubiquitination is not necessary for its internalization. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2007;104:16904–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908685106.
- [186] Schmidt MHH, Dikic I. The Cbl interactome and its functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005;6:907–18. doi:10.1038/nrm1762.
- [187] Pennock S, Wang Z. A tale of two Cbls: interplay of c-Cbl and Cbl-b in epidermal growth factor receptor downregulation. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28:3020–37. doi:10.1128/MCB.01809-07.
- [188] Mohapatra B, Ahmad G, Nadeau S, Zutshi N, An W, Scheffe S, Dong L, Feng D, Goetz B, Arya P, Bailey T a, Palermo N, Borgstahl GEO, Natarajan A, Raja SM, Naramura M, Band V, Band H. Protein tyrosine kinase regulation by ubiquitination: critical roles of Cbl-family ubiquitin ligases. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1833:122–39. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.10.010.
- [189] Waterman H, Katz M, Rubin C, Shtiegman K, Lavi S, Elson A, Jovin T, Yarden Y. A mutant EGF-receptor defective in ubiquitylation and endocytosis unveils a role for Grb2 in negative signaling. EMBO J 2002;21:303–13. doi:10.1093/emboj/21.3.303.
- [190] Fukazawa T, Miyake S, Band V, Band H. Tyrosine phosphorylation of Cbl upon

epidermal growth factor (EGF) stimulation and its association with EGF receptor and downstream signaling proteins. J Biol Chem 1996;271:14554–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.24.14554.

- [191] Longva KE, Blystad FD, Stang E, Larsen AM, Johannessen LE, Madshus IH. Ubiquitination and proteasomal activity is required for transport of the EGF receptor to inner membranes of multivesicular bodies. J Cell Biol 2002;156:843–54. doi:10.1083/jcb.200106056.
- [192] Andoniou CE, Thien CBF, Langdon1 WY. Tumour induction by activated abi involves tyrosine phosphorylation of the product of the cbl oncogene. EMBO J 1994;13:4515–23.
- [193] Sargin B, Choudhary C, Crosetto N, Schmidt MHH, Grundler R, Rensinghoff M, Thiessen C, Tickenbrock L, Schwäble J, Brandts C, August B, Koschmieder S, Bandi SR, Duyster J, Berdel WE, Müller-Tidow C, Dikic I, Serve H. Flt3-dependent transformation by inactivating c-Cbl mutations in AML. Blood 2007;110:1004–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-01-066076.
- [194] Kales SC, Ryan PE, Nau MM, Lipkowitz S. Cbl and human myeloid neoplasms: The Cbl oncogene comes of age. Cancer Res 2010;70:4789–94. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-0610.
- [195] Tan YHC, Krishnaswamy S, Nandi S, Kanteti R, Vora S, Onel K, Hasina R, Lo FY, El-Hashani E, Cervantes G, Robinson M, Kales SC, Lipkowitz S, Karrison T, Sattler M, Vokes EE, Wang YC, Salgia R. CBL is frequently altered in lung cancers: Its relationship to mutations in met and EGFR tyrosine kinases. PLoS One 2010;5. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008972.
- [196] Lo F-Y, Tan Y-HC, Cheng H-C, Salgia R, Wang Y-C. An E3 ubiquitin ligase: c-Cbl: a new therapeutic target of lung cancer. Cancer 2011;117:5344–50. doi:10.1002/cncr.26153.
- [197] Thien CBF, Walker F, Langdon WY. RING finger mutations that abolish c-Cbl-directed polyubiquitination and downregulation of the EGF receptor are insufficient for cell transformation. Mol Cell 2001;7:355–65. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00183-6.
- [198] Huang F, Sorkin A. Growth Factor Receptor Binding Protein 2-mediated Recruitment of the RING Domain of Cbl to the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Is Essential and Sufficient to Support Receptor Endocytosis. Mol Biol Cell 2005;16:1268–81. doi:10.1091/mbc.E04-09-0832.
- [199] Goh LK, Sorkin A. Endocytosis of receptor tyrosine kinases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2013;5. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a017459.
- [200] Gruenberg J, Maxfield FR. Membrane transport in the endocytic pathway. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1995;7:552–63. doi:10.1016/0955-0674(95)80013-1.
- [201] Schmid SL. Reciprocal regulation of signaling and endocytosis: Implications for the evolving cancer cell. J Cell Biol 2017;216:2623–32. doi:10.1083/jcb.201705017.
- [202] Sorkin A, Carpenter G. Interaction of activated EGF receptors with coated pit adaptins.

Science 1993;261:612-5. doi:10.1126/science.8342026.

- [203] Ceresa BP. Regulation of EGFR endocytic trafficking by rab proteins. Histol Histopathol 2006;21:987–93.
- [204] Lill NL, Douillard P, Awwad RA, Ota S, Lupher ML, Miyake S, Meissner-Lula N, Hsu VW, Band H. The evolutionarily conserved N-terminal region of Cbl is sufficient to enhance down-regulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem 2000;275:367–77. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.1.367.
- [205] Huang F, Kirkpatrick D, Jiang X, Gygi S, Sorkin A. Differential regulation of EGF receptor internalization and degradation by multiubiquitination within the kinase domain. Mol Cell 2006;21:737–48. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2006.02.018.
- [206] Duan L, Miura Y, Dimri M, Majumder B, Dodge IL, Reddi AL, Ghosh A, Fernandes N, Zhou P, Mullane-Robinson K, Rao N, Donoghue S, Rogers RA, Bowtell D, Naramura M, Gu H, Band V, Band H. Cbl-mediated ubiquitinylation is required for lysosomal sorting of epidermal growth factor receptor but is dispensable for endocytosis. J Biol Chem 2003;278:28950–60. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304474200.
- [207] Ravid T, Heidinger JM, Gee P, Khan EM, Goldkorn T. c-Cbl-mediated ubiquitinylation is required for epidermal growth factor receptor exit from the early endosomes. J Biol Chem 2004;279:37153–62. doi:10.1074/jbc.M403210200.
- [208] Grøvdal LM, Stang E, Sorkin A, Madshus IH. Direct interaction of Cbl with pTyr 1045 of the EGF receptor (EGFR) is required to sort the EGFR to lysosomes for degradation. Exp Cell Res 2004;300:388–95. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.07.003.
- [209] Darzynkiewicz Z, Gong J, Juan G, Ardelt B, Traganos F. Cytometry of cyclin proteins. Cytometry 1996;25:1–13. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0320(19960901)25:1<1::AID-CYTO1>3.0.CO;2-N.
- [210] Pozarowski P, Darzynkiewicz Z. Analysis of cell cycle by flow cytometry. Methods Mol Biol 2004;281:301–11. doi:10.1385/1-59259-811-0:301.
- [211] Nurse P, Thuriaux P, Nasmyth K. Genetic control of the cell division cycle in the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Mol Gen Genet 1976;146:167–78. doi:10.1007/BF00268085.
- [212] Malumbres M, Barbacid M. Cell cycle, CDKs and cancer: a changing paradigm. Nat Rev Cancer 2009;9:153–66. doi:10.1038/nrc2602.
- [213] Cobrinik D. Pocket proteins and cell cycle control. Oncogene 2005;24:2796–809. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208619.
- [214] Rubin SM. Deciphering the retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation code. Trends Biochem Sci 2013;38:12–9. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2012.10.007.
- [215] Hatakeyama M, Brill JA, Fink GR, Weinberg RA. Collaboration of G1 cyclins in the functional inactivation of the retinoblastoma protein. Genes Dev 1994;8:1759–71.

doi:10.1101/gad.8.15.1759.

- [216] Malumbres M, Barbacid M. To cycle or not to cycle: a critical decision in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2001;1:222–31. doi:10.1038/35106065.
- [217] Coverley D, Laman H, Laskey R a. Distinct roles for cyclins E and A during DNA replication complex assembly and activation. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4:523–8. doi:10.1038/ncb813.
- [218] Hannenhalli S, Kaestner KH. The evolution of Fox genes and their role in development and disease. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:233–40. doi:10.1038/nrg2523.
- [219] Sadasivam S, Duan S, DeCaprio JA. The MuvB complex sequentially recruits B-Myb and FoxM1 to promote mitotic gene expression. Genes Dev 2012;26:474–89. doi:10.1101/gad.181933.111.
- [220] Lindqvist A, Rodríguez-Bravo V, Medema RH. The decision to enter mitosis: feedback and redundancy in the mitotic entry network. J Cell Biol 2009;185:193–202. doi:10.1083/jcb.200812045.
- [221] Suzuki K, Kodama S, Watanabe M. Recruitment of ATM protein to double strand DNA irradiated with ionizing radiation. J Biol Chem 1999;274:25571–5. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.36.25571.
- [222] Lee J-H, Paull TT. ATM activation by DNA double-strand breaks through the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex. Sci (New York, NY) 2005;308:551–4. doi:10.1126/science.1108297.
- [223] Mailand N, Falck J, Lukas C, Syljuâsen RG, Welcker M, Bartek J, Lukas J. Rapid destruction of human Cdc25A in response to DNA damage. Science 2000;288:1425–9. doi:10.1126/science.288.5470.1425.
- [224] Xiao Z, Chen Z, Gunasekera AH, Sowin TJ, Rosenberg SH, Fesik S, Zhang H. Chk1 mediates S and G2 arrests through Cdc25A degradation in response to DNA-damaging agents. J Biol Chem 2003;278:21767–73. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300229200.
- [225] Wade Harper J, Adami GR, Wei N, Keyomarsi K, Elledge SJ. The p21 Cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. Cell 1993;75:805–16. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90499-G.
- [226] El-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. Cell 1993;75:817–25. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90500-P.
- [227] Soddu S, Sacchi A. P53 role in DNA repair and tumorigenesis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 1997;16:237–42.
- [228] Dart DA, Adams KE, Akerman I, Lakin ND. Recruitment of the Cell Cycle Checkpoint Kinase ATR to Chromatin during S-phase. J Biol Chem 2004;279:16433–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M314212200.

- [229] Furnari B, Blasina A, Boddy MN, McGowan CH, Russell P. Cdc25 inhibited in vivo and in vitro by checkpoint kinases Cds1 and Chk1. Mol Biol Cell 1999;10:833–45. doi:10.1091/mbc.10.4.833.
- [230] Lee J, Kumagai a, Dunphy WG. Positive regulation of Wee1 by Chk1 and 14-3-3 proteins. Mol Biol Cell 2001;12:551–63. doi:10.1091/MBC.12.3.551.
- [231] O'Connell MJ, Raleigh JM, Verkade HM, Nurse P. Chk1 is a wee1 kinase in the G2 DNA damage checkpoint inhibiting cdc2 by Y15 phosphorylation. EMBO J 1997;16:545–54. doi:10.1093/emboj/16.3.545.
- [232] Peng C, Graves PR, Thoma RS, Wu Z, Shaw AS, Piwnica-worms H. Mitotic and G2 Checkpoint Control: Regulation of 14-3-3 Protein Binding by Phosphorylation of Cdc25C on Serine-216. Science (80-) 1997;277:1501–5. doi:10.1126/science.277.5331.1501.
- [233] Stewart ZA, Pietenpol JA. p53 signaling and cell cycle checkpoints. Chem Res Toxicol 2001;14:243–63. doi:10.1021/tx000199t.
- [234] Lanz HL, Zimmerman RME, Brouwer J, Noteborn MHM, Backendorf C. Mitotic catastrophe triggered in human cancer cells by the viral protein apoptin. Cell Death Dis 2013;4:e487. doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.2.
- [235] Castedo M, Perfettini J-L, Roumier T, Andreau K, Medema R, Kroemer G. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition. Oncogene 2004;23:2825–37. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207528.
- [236] Blagosklonny M V., Pardee AB. The restriction point of the cell cycle. Cell Cycle 2002;1:103–10. doi:10.4161/cc.1.2.108.
- [237] Rescan C, Coutant a, Talarmin H, Theret N, Glaise D, Guguen-Guillouzo C, Baffet G. Mechanism in the sequential control of cell morphology and S phase entry by epidermal growth factor involves distinct MEK/ERK activations. Mol Biol Cell 2001;12:725–38.
- [238] Kobayashi S, Shimamura T, Monti S, Steidl U, Hetherington CJ, Lowell AM, Golub T, Meyerson M, Tenen DG, Shapiro GL, Halmos B. Transcriptional profiling identifies cyclin D1 as a critical downstream effector of mutant epidermal growth factor receptor signaling. Cancer Res 2006;66:11389–98. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2318.
- [239] Reissmann PT, Koga H, Figlin RA, Holmes EC, Slamon DJ. Amplification and overexpression of the cyclin D1 and epidermal growth factor receptor genes in non-smallcell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 1999;125:61–70.
- [240] McIntosh GG, Anderson JJ, Milton I, Steward M, Parr AH, Thomas MD, Henry JA, Angus B, Lennard TW, Horne CH. Determination of the prognostic value of cyclin D1 overexpression in breast cancer. Oncogene 1995;11:885–91.
- [241] Perry JE, Grossmann ME, Tindall DJ. Epidermal growth factor induces cyclin D1 in a human prostate cancer cell line. Prostate 1998;35:117–24. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0045(19980501)35:2<117::AID-PROS5>3.0.CO;2-G.

- [242] Narayanan R, Kim HN, Narayanan NK, Nargi D, Narayanan BA. Epidermal growth factor-stimulated human cervical cancer cell growth is associated with EGFR and cyclin D1 activation, independent of COX-2 expression levels. Int J Oncol 2012;40:13–20. doi:10.3892/ijo.2011.1211.
- [243] Chen SJ, Luan J, Zhang HS, Ruan CP, Xu XY, Li QQ, Wang NH. EGFR-mediated G1/S transition contributes to the multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells. Mol Biol Rep 2012;39:5465–71. doi:10.1007/s11033-011-1347-4.
- [244] Filmus J, Robles AI, Shi W, Wong MJ, Colombo LL, Conti CJ. Induction of cyclin D1 overexpression by activated ras. Oncogene 1994;9:3627–33.
- [245] Albanese C, Johnson J, Watanabe G, Eklund N, Vu D, Arnold A, Pestell RG. Transforming p21(ras) mutants and c-Ets-2 activate the cyclin D1 promoter through distinguishable regions. J Biol Chem 1995;270:23589–97. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.40.23589.
- [246] Liu JJ, Chao JR, Jiang MC, Ng SY, Yen JJ, Yang-Yen HF. Ras transformation results in an elevated level of cyclin D1 and acceleration of G1 progression in NIH 3T3 cells. Mol Cell Biol 1995;15:3654–63.
- [247] Lavoie JN, L'Allemain G, Brunei A, Müller R, Pouysségur J. Cyclin D1 expression is regulated positively by the p42/p44(MAPK) and negatively by the p38/HOG(MAPK) pathway. J Biol Chem 1996;271:20608–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.34.20608.
- [248] Balmanno K, Cook SJ. Sustained MAP kinase activation is required for the expression of cyclin D1, p21Cip1 and a subset of AP-1 proteins in CCL39 cells. Oncogene 1999;18:3085–97. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202647.
- [249] Weber JD, Raben DM, Phillips PJ, Baldassare JJ. Sustained activation of extracellularsignal-regulated kinase 1 (ERK1) is required for the continued expression of cyclin D1 in G1 phase. Biochem J 1997;326 (Pt 1:61–8. doi:DOI: 10.1042/bj3260061.
- [250] Diehl JA, Cheng M, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev 1998;12:3499–511. doi:10.1101/gad.12.22.3499.
- [251] Mayer EL. Targeting Breast Cancer with CDK Inhibitors. Curr Oncol Rep 2015;17. doi:10.1007/s11912-015-0443-3.
- [252] Jones SM, Kazlauskas A. Growth-factor-dependent mitogenesis requires two distinct phases of signalling. Nat Cell Biol 2001;3:165–72. doi:10.1038/35055073.
- [253] Pennock S, Wang ZX. Stimulation of cell proliferation by endosomal epidermal growth factor receptor as revealed through two distinct phases of signaling. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:5803–15. doi:10.1128/Mcb.23.16.5803-5815.2003.
- [254] Ma L, Yan H, Zhou Q. AG1478 inhibits the migration and invasion of cisplatin-resistant human lung adenocarcinoma cells via the cell cycle regulation by matrix metalloproteinase-9. Oncol Lett 2014;8:921–7. doi:10.3892/ol.2014.2224.

- [255] Zhu XF, Liu ZC, Xie BF, Li ZM, Feng GK, Yang D, Zeng YX. EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor AG1478 inhibits cell proliferation and arrests cell cycle in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett 2001;169:27–32. doi:10.1016/S0304-3835(01)00547-X.
- [256] Busse D, Doughty RS, Ramsey TT, Russell WE, Price JO, Flanagan WM, Shawver LK, Arteaga CL. Reversible G1 arrest induced by inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase requires up-regulation of p27(KIP1) independent of MAPK activity. J Biol Chem 2000;275:6987–95. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.10.6987.
- [257] Kiyota A, Shintani S, Mihara M, Nakahara Y, Ueyama Y, Matsumura T, Tachikawa T, Wong DT. Anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody 225 upregulates p27(KIP1) and p15(INK4B) and induces G1 arrest in oral squamous carcinoma cell lines. Oncology 2002;63:92–8.
- [258] Gonzales AJ, Fry DW. G1 cell cycle arrest due to the inhibition of erbB family receptor tyrosine kinases does not require the retinoblastoma protein. Exp Cell Res 2005;303:56– 67. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.08.040.
- [259] Huether A, Höpfner M, Sutter AP, Schuppan D, Scherübl H. Erlotinib induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in hepatocellular cancer cells and enhances chemosensitivity towards cytostatics. J Hepatol 2005;43:661–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2005.02.040.
- [260] Markaverich BM, Vijjeswarapu M, Shoulars K, Rodriguez M. Luteolin and gefitinib regulation of EGF signaling pathway and cell cycle pathway genes in PC-3 human prostate cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2010;122:219–31. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.06.006.
- [261] Ahn SH, Jeong EH, Lee TG, Kim SY, Kim HR, Kim CH. Gefitinib induces cytoplasmic translocation of the CDK inhibitor p27 and its binding to a cleaved intermediate of caspase 8 in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Cell Oncol 2014;37:377–86. doi:10.1007/s13402-014-0198-0.
- [262] Rivard N, Boucher M-J, Asselin C, L'Allemain G. MAP kinase cascade is required for p27 downregulation and S phase entry in fibroblasts and epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1999;277:C652–64.
- [263] Delmas C, Manenti S, Boudjelal a, Peyssonnaux C, Eychène a, Darbon JM. The p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase activation triggers p27Kip1 degradation independently of CDK2/cyclin E in NIH 3T3 cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276:34958–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M101714200.
- [264] Kortylewski M, Heinrich PC, Kauffmann ME, Bohm M, Mackiewicz a, Behrmann I. Mitogen-activated protein kinases control p27/Kip1 expression and growth of human melanoma cells. BiochemJ 2001;357:297–303.
- [265] Y. F, Y. M, J. L, D. Z, Y. Y, H. L, X.-R. W. P27kip1 down-regulates egfr expression via inhibition of JNK/C-JUN transactivation: A novel function of p27kip1 in tumor suppression deficient in metastatic bladder cancer cells. J Urol 2013;189:e463. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2013.02.748.

- [266] Fang Y, Wang Y, Wang Y, Meng Y, Zhu J, Jin H, Li J, Zhang D, Yu Y, Wu X-R, Huang C. A new tumour suppression mechanism by p27Kip1: EGFR down-regulation mediated by JNK/c-Jun pathway inhibition. Biochem J 2014;463:383–92. doi:10.1042/BJ20140103.
- [267] Wu S, Cetinkaya C, Munoz-Alonso MJ, von der Lehr N, Bahram F, Beuger V, Eilers M, Leon J, Larsson L-G. Myc represses differentiation-induced p21CIP1 expression via Miz-1-dependent interaction with the p21 core promoter. Oncogene 2003;22:351–60. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206145.
- [268] Sahin O, Fröhlich H, Löbke C, Korf U, Burmester S, Majety M, Mattern J, Schupp I, Chaouiya C, Thieffry D, Poustka A, Wiemann S, Beissbarth T, Arlt D. Modeling ERBB receptor-regulated G1/S transition to find novel targets for de novo trastuzumab resistance. BMC Syst Biol 2009;3:1. doi:10.1186/1752-0509-3-1.
- [269] Sherline P, Mascardo RN. Epidermal growth factor induces rapid centrosomal separation in HeLa and 3T3 cells. J Cell Biol 1982;93:507–12.
- [270] Mardin B, Isokane M, Cosenza M, Krämer A, Ellenberg J, Fry A, Schiebel E. EGF-Induced Centrosome Separation Promotes Mitotic Progression and Cell Survival. Dev Cell 2013;25:229–40. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2013.03.012.
- [271] Schmidt-Ullrich RK, Mikkelsen RB, Dent P, Todd DG, Valerie K, Kavanagh BD, Contessa JN, Rorrer WK, Chen PB. Radiation-induced proliferation of the human A431 squamous carcinoma cells is dependent on EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation. Oncogene 1997;15:1191–7. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201275.
- [272] Sturla LM, Amorino G, Alexander MS, Mikkelsen RB, Valerie K, Schmidt-Ullrich RK. Requirement of Tyr-992 and Tyr-1173 in phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor by ionizing radiation and modulation by SHP2. J Biol Chem 2005;280:14597– 604. doi:10.1074/jbc.M413287200.
- [273] Ahsan A, Hiniker SM, Davis MA, Lawrence TS, Nyati MK. Role of cell cycle in epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor-mediated radiosensitization. Cancer Res 2009;69:5108–14. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0466.
- [274] Kuroda S, Tam J, Roth JA, Sokolov K, Ramesh R. EGFR-targeted plasmonic magnetic nanoparticles suppress lung tumor growth by abrogating G2/M cell-cycle arrest and inducing DNA damage. Int J Nanomedicine 2014;9:3825–39. doi:10.2147/IJN.S65990.
- [275] Meng X, Laidler LL, Kosmacek EA, Yang S, Xiong Z, Zhu D, Wang X, Dai D, Zhang Y, Wang X, Brachova P, Albitar L, Liu D, Ianzini F, MacKey MA, Leslie KK. Induction of mitotic cell death by overriding G2/M checkpoint in endometrial cancer cells with nonfunctional p53. Gynecol Oncol 2013;128:461–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.11.004.
- [276] Lin S, Yan Y, Liu Y, Gao CZ, Shan D, Li Y, Han B. Sensitisation of human lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells to radiotherapy by Nimotuzumab is associated with enhanced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in the G2/M phase. Cell Biol Int 2015;39:146–51. doi:10.1002/cbin.10342.

- [277] Qu Y yuan, Hu S liu, Xu X ying, Wang R zhi, Yu H yang, Xu J yu, Chen L, Dong G lu. Nimotuzumab Enhances the Radiosensitivity of Cancer Cells In Vitro by Inhibiting Radiation-Induced DNA Damage Repair. PLoS One 2013;8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070727.
- [278] Li J, Deng H, Hu M, Fang Y, Vaughn A, Cai X, Xu L, Wan W, Li Z, Chen S, Yang X, Wu S, Xiao J. Inhibition of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) growth by a novel small molecular inhibitor of EGFR. Oncotarget 2015;6:6749–61. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3155.
- [279] Wee P, Shi H, Jiang J, Wang Y, Wang Z. EGF stimulates the activation of EGF receptors and the selective activation of major signaling pathways during mitosis. Cell Signal 2015;27:638–51. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.11.030.
- [280] Özlü N, Qureshi M, Toyoda Y. Quantitative comparison of a human cancer cell surface proteome between interphase and mitosis. EMBO ... 2014;34:251–65.
- [281] Klein S, Kaszkin M, Barth H, Kinzel V. Signal transduction through epidermal growth factor receptor is altered in HeLa monolayer cells during mitosis. Biochem J 1997;322 (Pt 3:937–46.
- [282] Gomez-Cambronero J. p42-MAP kinase is activated in EGF-stimulated interphase but not in metaphase-arrested HeLa cells. FEBS Lett 1999;443:126–30. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(98)01685-8.
- [283] Kondo T, Hayashi S. Mitotic cell rounding accelerates epithelial invagination. Nature 2013;494:125–9. doi:10.1038/nature11792.
- [284] Citri A, Yarden Y. EGF-ERBB signalling: towards the systems level. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7:505–16. doi:10.1038/nrm1962.
- [285] Pawson T. Protein modules and signalling networks. Nature 1995;373:573–80. doi:10.1038/373573a0.
- [286] Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX. Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:127–37. doi:10.1038/35052073.
- [287] Avruch J. MAP kinase pathways: the first twenty years. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773:1150–60. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2006.11.006.
- [288] Wang Z, Gluck S, Zhang L, Moran MF. Requirement for phospholipase C-gamma1 enzymatic activity in growth factor-induced mitogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 1998;18:590–7.
- [289] Li S, Wang Q, Wang Y, Chen X, Wang Z. PLC-gamma1 and Rac1 coregulate EGFinduced cytoskeleton remodeling and cell migration. Mol Endocrinol 2009;23:901–13. doi:10.1210/me.2008-0368.
- [290] Burgering BM, Coffer PJ. Protein kinase B (c-Akt) in phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signal transduction. Nature 1995;376:599–602. doi:10.1038/376599a0.
- [291] Downward J. Mechanisms and consequences of activation of protein kinase B/Akt. Curr

Opin Cell Biol 1998;10:262-7. doi:10.1016/S0955-0674(98)80149-X.

- [292] Jones SM, Kazlauskas a. Growth factor-dependent signaling and cell cycle progression. FEBS Lett 2001;490:110–6. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02113-5.
- [293] Massagué J. G1 cell-cycle control and cancer. Nature 2004;432:298–306. doi:10.1038/nature03094.
- [294] Astuti P, Pike T, Widberg C, Payne E, Harding A, Hancock J, Gabrielli B. MAPK pathway activation delays G2/M progression by destabilizing Cdc25B. J Biol Chem 2009;284:33781–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.027516.
- [295] Nam HJ, Kim S, Lee MW, Lee BS, Hara T, Saya H, Cho H, Lee JH. The ERK-RSK1 activation by growth factors at G2 phase delays cell cycle progression and reduces mitotic aberrations. Cell Signal 2008;20:1349–58. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2008.03.008.
- [296] Dangi S, Chen FM, Shapiro P. Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in G2 phase delays mitotic entry through p21CIP1. Cell Prolif 2006;39:261–79. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2184.2006.00388.x.
- [297] Liu X, Yan S, Zhou T, Terada Y, Erikson RL. The MAP kinase pathway is required for entry into mitosis and cell survival. Oncogene 2004;23:763–76. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207188.
- [298] Roberts EC, Shapiro PS, Nahreini TS, Pages G, Pouyssegur J, Ahn NG. Distinct cell cycle timing requirements for extracellular signal-regulated kinase and phosphoinositide 3kinase signaling pathways in somatic cell mitosis. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:7226–41. doi:10.1128/mcb.22.20.7226-7241.2002.
- [299] Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Review Hallmarks of Cancer : The Next Generation. Cell 2011;144:646–74. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- [300] Marzo I, Naval J. Antimitotic drugs in cancer chemotherapy: Promises and pitfalls. Biochem Pharmacol 2013;86:703–10. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2013.07.010.
- [301] Wang Q, Zhu F, Wang Z. Identification of EGF receptor C-terminal sequences 1005-1017 and di-leucine motif 1010LL1011 as essential in EGF receptor endocytosis. Exp Cell Res 2007;313:3349–63. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.06.014.
- [302] Boucrot E, Kirchhausen T. Endosomal recycling controls plasma membrane area during mitosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:7939–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.0702511104.
- [303] Golsteyn RM. Cdk1 and Cdk2 complexes (cyclin dependent kinases) in apoptosis: A role beyond the cell cycle. Cancer Lett 2005;217:129–38. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2004.08.005.
- [304] Dhillon AS, Kolch W. Untying the regulation of the Raf-1 kinase. Arch Biochem Biophys 2002;404:3–9.
- [305] Dulla K, Daub H, Hornberger R, Nigg E a, Körner R. Quantitative site-specific phosphorylation dynamics of human protein kinases during mitotic progression. Mol Cell

Proteomics 2010;9:1167-81. doi:10.1074/mcp.M900335-MCP200.

- [306] Wahl M, Carpenter G. Selective phospholipase C activation. Bioessays 1991;13:107–13.
- [307] Kamat A, Carpenter G. Phospholipase C-gamma1: regulation of enzyme function and role in growth factor-dependent signal transduction. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 1997;8:109– 17.
- [308] Choi JH, Park JB, Bae SS, Yun S, Kim HS, Hong W-P, Kim I-S, Kim JH, Han MY, Ryu SH, Patterson RL, Snyder SH, Suh P-G. Phospholipase C-gamma1 is a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for dynamin-1 and enhances dynamin-1-dependent epidermal growth factor receptor endocytosis. J Cell Sci 2004;117:3785–95. doi:10.1242/jcs.01220.
- [309] Gual P, Giordano S, Williams T a, Rocchi S, Van Obberghen E, Comoglio PM. Sustained recruitment of phospholipase C-gamma to Gab1 is required for HGF-induced branching tubulogenesis. Oncogene 2000;19:1509–18. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203514.
- [310] Bivona TG, Pérez de Castro I, Ahearn IM, Grana TM, Chiu VK, Lockyer PJ, Cullen PJ, Pellicer A, Cox AD, Philips MR. Phospholipase Cγ activates Ras on the Golgi apparatus by means of RasGRP1. Nature 2003;424:694–8. doi:10.1038/nature01806.
- [311] Chou J, Burke NA, Iwabu A, Watkins SC, Wells A. Directional motility induced by epidermal growth factor requires Cdc42. Exp Cell Res 2003;287:47–56. doi:10.1016/S0014-4827(03)00119-8.
- [312] Meyer RD, Latz C, Rahimi N. Recruitment and activation of PLC-gamma1 by VEGFR-2 is required for tubulogenesis and differentiation of endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 2003;278:16347–55.
- [313] Matallanas D, Birtwistle M, Romano D, Zebisch A, Rauch J, von Kriegsheim A, Kolch W. Raf family kinases: old dogs have learned new tricks. Genes Cancer 2011;2:232–60. doi:10.1177/1947601911407323.
- [314] Matallanas D, Birtwistle M, Romano D, Zebisch A, Rauch J, von Kriegsheim A, Kolch W. Raf Family Kinases: Old Dogs Have Learned New Tricks. Genes Cancer 2011;2:232– 60. doi:10.1177/1947601911407323.
- [315] Chetram M a, Hinton C V. PTEN regulation of ERK1/2 signaling in cancer. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 2012;32:190–5. doi:10.3109/10799893.2012.695798.
- [316] Torp SH, Helseth E, Dalen A, Unsgaard G. Relationships between Ki-67 labelling index, amplification of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene, and prognosis in human glioblastomas. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1992;117:182–6. doi:10.1007/BF01400618.
- [317] Mukaida H, Toi M, Hirai T, Yamashita Y, Toge T. Clinical significance of the expression of epidermal growth factor and its receptor in esophageal cancer. Cancer 1991;68:142–8.
- [318] Grassart A, Cheng AT, Hong SH, Zhang F, Zenzer N, Feng Y, Briner DM, Davis GD, Malkov D, Drubin DG. Actin and dynamin2 dynamics and interplay during clathrinmediated endocytosis. J Cell Biol 2014;205:721–35. doi:10.1083/jcb.201403041.

- [319] Boulant S, Kural C, Zeeh J-C, Ubelmann F, Kirchhausen T. Actin dynamics counteract membrane tension during clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 2011;13:1124–31. doi:10.1038/ncb2307.
- [320] Fielding AB, Royle SJ. Mitotic inhibition of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Cell Mol Life Sci 2013;70:3423–33. doi:10.1007/s00018-012-1250-8.
- [321] Fielding AB, Willox AK, Okeke E, Royle SJ. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis is inhibited during mitosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2012;109:6572–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1117401109.
- [322] Sager PR, Brown PA, Berlin RD. Analysis of transferrin recycling in mitotic and interphase hela cells by quantitative fluorescence microscopy. Cell 1984;39:275–82. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(84)90005-9.
- [323] Warren G, Davoust J, Cockcroft A. Recycling of transferrin receptors in A431 cells is inhibited during mitosis. Embo J 1984;3:2217–25.
- [324] Okamoto CT, McKinney J, Jeng YY. Clathrin in mitotic spindles. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2000;279:C369-74.
- [325] Royle SJ. Mitotic moonlighting functions for membrane trafficking proteins. Traffic 2011;12:791–8. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0854.2011.01184.x.
- [326] Royle SJ. Protein adaptation: mitotic functions for membrane trafficking proteins. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2013;14:592–9. doi:10.1038/nrm3641.
- [327] Cayrol C, Cougoule C, Wright M. The β2-adaptin clathrin adaptor interacts with the mitotic checkpoint kinase BubR1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;298:720–30. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(02)02522-6.
- [328] Thompson HM, Cao H, Chen J, Euteneuer U, McNiven M a. Dynamin 2 binds gammatubulin and participates in centrosome cohesion. Nat Cell Biol 2004;6:335–42. doi:10.1038/ncb1112.
- [329] Caldieri G, Barbieri E, Nappo G, Raimondi A, Bonora M, Conte A, Verhoef LGGC, Confalonieri S, Malabarba MG, Bianchi F, Cuomo A, Bonaldi T, Martini E, Mazza D, Pinton P, Tacchetti C, Polo S, Di Fiore PP, Sigismund S. Reticulon 3–dependent ER-PM contact sites control EGFR nonclathrin endocytosis. Science (80-) 2017;356:617–24. doi:10.1126/science.aah6152.
- [330] Jiang X, Sorkin A. Epidermal growth factor receptor internalization through clathrincoated pits requires Cbl RING finger and proline-rich domains but not receptor polyubiquitylation. Traffic 2003;4:529–43. doi:109 [pii].
- [331] Tomas A, Futter CE, Eden ER. EGF receptor trafficking: Consequences for signaling and cancer. Trends Cell Biol 2014;24:26–34. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2013.11.002.
- [332] Raja SM, Desale SS, Mohapatra B, Luan H, Soni K, Zhang J, Storck MA, Feng D, Bielecki TA, Band V, Cohen SM, Bronich TK, Band H. Marked enhancement of lysosomal targeting and efficacy of ErbB2-targeted drug delivery by HSP90 inhibition.

Oncotarget 2016;7:10522-35. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7231\r7231 [pii].

- [333] Sambrook J. Calcium phosphate-mediated transfection of eukaryotic cells. Nat Methods 2005;2:319–20. doi:10.1038/nmeth0405-319.
- [334] Subik K, Lee JF, Baxter L, Strzepek T, Costello D, Crowley P, Xing L, Hung MC, Bonfiglio T, Hicks DG, Tang P. The expression patterns of ER, PR, HER2, CK5/6, EGFR, KI-67 and AR by immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer cell lines. Breast Cancer Basic Clin Res 2010;4:35–41. doi:10.4137/BCBCR.S0.
- [335] Uchida A, Hirano S, Kitao H, Ogino A, Rai K, Toyooka S, Takigawa N, Tabata M, Takata M, Kiura K, Tanimoto M. Activation of downstream epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling provides gefitinib-resistance in cells carrying EGFR mutation. Cancer Sci 2007;98:357–63. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.2007.00387.x.
- [336] Yokouchi M, Kondo T, Houghton A, Bartkiewicz M, Horne WC, Zhang H, Yoshimura A, Baron R. Ligand-induced Uubiquitination of the epidermal growth factor receptor involves the interaction of the c-Cbl RING Finger and UbcH7. J Biol Chem 1999;274:31707–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.44.31707.
- [337] de Melker A a, van der Horst G, Borst J. c-Cbl directs EGF receptors into an endocytic pathway that involves the ubiquitin-interacting motif of Eps15. J Cell Sci 2004;117:5001– 12. doi:10.1242/jcs.01354.
- [338] Liao H-J, Carpenter G. Cetuximab/C225-induced intracellular trafficking of epidermal growth factor receptor. Cancer Res 2009;69:6179–83. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0049.
- [339] Madshus IH, Stang E. Internalization and intracellular sorting of the EGF receptor: a model for understanding the mechanisms of receptor trafficking. J Cell Sci 2009;122:3433–9. doi:10.1242/jcs.050260.
- [340] Stang E, Blystad FD, Kazazic M, Bertelsen V, Brodahl T, Raiborg C, Stenmark H, Madshus IH. Cbl-dependent Ubiquitination Is Required for Progression of EGF Receptors into Clathrin-coated Pits. Mol Biol Cell 2005;15:3591–604. doi:10.1091/mbc.E04.
- [341] De Melker AA, Van Der Horst G, Borst J. Ubiquitin ligase activity of c-Cbl guides the epidermal growth factor receptor into clathrin-coated pits by two distinct modes of Eps15 recruitment. J Biol Chem 2004;279:55465–73. doi:10.1074/jbc.M409765200.
- [342] Seong MW, Ka SH, Park JH, Park JH, Yoo HM, Yang SW, Park JM, Park D, Lee ST, Seol JH, Chung CH. Deleterious c-Cbl exon skipping contributes to human glioma. Neoplasia 2015;17:518–24. doi:10.1016/j.neo.2015.06.003.
- [343] Chung BM, Tom E, Zutshi N, Bielecki TA, Band V, Band H. Nexus of signaling and endocytosis in oncogenesis driven by non-small cell lung cancer-associated epidermal growth factor receptor mutants. World J Clin Oncol 2014;5:806–23. doi:10.5306/wjco.v5.i5.806.
- [344] Shtiegman K, Kochupurakkal BS, Zwang Y, Pines G, Starr A, Vexler A, Citri A, Katz M,

Lavi S, Ben-Basat Y, Benjamin S, Corso S, Gan J, Yosef RB, Giordano S, Yarden Y. Defective ubiquitinylation of EGFR mutants of lung cancer confers prolonged signaling. Oncogene 2007;26:6968–78. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1210503.

- [345] Han W, Zhang T, Yu H, Foulke JG, Tang CK. Hypophosphorylation of residue Y1045 leads to defective downregulation of EGFRvIII. Cancer Biol Ther 2006;5:1361–8. doi:10.4161/cbt.5.10.3226.
- [346] Grandal M V., Zandi R, Pedersen MW, Willumsen BM, van Deurs B, Poulsen HS. EGFRvIII escapes down-regulation due to impaired internalization and sorting to lysosomes. Carcinogenesis 2007;28:1408–17. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgm058.
- [347] Savio MG, Wollscheid N, Cavallaro E, Algisi V, Di Fiore PP, Sigismund S, Maspero E, Polo S. USP9X Controls EGFR Fate by Deubiquitinating the Endocytic Adaptor Eps15. Curr Biol 2016;26:173–83. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2015.11.050.
- [348] Lancaster O, LeBerre M, Dimitracopoulos A, Bonazzi D, Zlotek-Zlotkiewicz E, Picone R, Duke T, Piel M, Baum B. Mitotic Rounding Alters Cell Geometry to Ensure Efficient Bipolar Spindle Formation. Dev Cell 2013;25:270–83. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2013.03.014.
- [349] Rosenblatt J. Mitosis: Moesin and the Importance of Being Round. Curr Biol 2008;18. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2008.02.013.
- [350] Stewart MP, Helenius J, Toyoda Y, Ramanathan SP, Muller DJ, Hyman A a. Hydrostatic pressure and the actomyosin cortex drive mitotic cell rounding. Nature 2011;469:226–30. doi:10.1038/nature09642.
- [351] Boucrot E, Kirchhausen T. Mammalian cells change volume during mitosis. PLoS One 2008;3. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001477.
- [352] Dephoure N, Zhou C, Villén J, Beausoleil SA, Bakalarski CE, Elledge SJ, Gygi SP. A quantitative atlas of mitotic phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:10762– 7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0805139105.
- [353] Sharma K, D'Souza RCJ, Tyanova S, Schaab C, Wiśniewski J, Cox J, Mann M. Ultradeep Human Phosphoproteome Reveals a Distinct Regulatory Nature of Tyr and Ser/Thr-Based Signaling. Cell Rep 2014;8:1583–94. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.036.
- [354] Olsen J V, Vermeulen M, Santamaria A, Kumar C, Miller ML, Jensen LJ, Gnad F, Cox J, Jensen TS, Nigg EA, Brunak S, Mann M, Martin L, Jensen LJ, Gnad F, Cox J, Jensen TS, Nigg EA, Brunak S, Mann M. Quantitative phosphoproteomics reveals widespread full phosphorylation site occupancy during mitosis. Sci Signal 2010;3:ra3. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000475.
- [355] Jeffery CJ. Moonlighting proteins. Trends Biochem Sci 1999;24:8–11. doi:10.1016/S0968-0004(98)01335-8.
- [356] Garay C, Judge G, Lucarelli S, Bautista S, Pandey R, Singh T, Antonescu CN. Epidermal growth factor-stimulated Akt phosphorylation requires clathrin or ErbB2 but not receptor endocytosis. Mol Biol Cell 2015;26:3504–19. doi:10.1091/mbc.E14-09-1412.

- [357] Lucarelli S, Pandey R, Judge G, Antonescu CN. Similar requirement for clathrin in EGFand HGF- stimulated Akt phosphorylation. Commun Integr Biol 2016;9:e1175696. doi:10.1080/19420889.2016.1175696.
- [358] Harper J V. Synchronization of cell populations in G1/S and G2/M phases of the cell cycle. Methods Mol Biol 2005;296:157–66. doi:1-59259-857-9:157 [pii].
- [359] Matsui Y, Nakayama Y, Okamoto M, Fukumoto Y, Yamaguchi N. Enrichment of cell populations in metaphase, anaphase, and telophase by synchronization using nocodazole and blebbistatin: a novel method suitable for examining dynamic changes in proteins during mitotic progression. Eur J Cell Biol 2012;91:413–9. doi:10.1016/j.ejcb.2011.12.008.
- [360] Jansen-Dürr P, Meichle a, Steiner P, Pagano M, Finke K, Botz J, Wessbecher J, Draetta G, Eilers M. Differential modulation of cyclin gene expression by MYC. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:3685–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3685.
- [361] Tacheva-Grigorova SK, Santos AJM, Boucrot E, Kirchhausen T. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis persists during unperturbed mitosis. Cell Rep 2013;4:659–68. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.07.017.
- [362] Bayer N, Schober D, Prchla E, Murphy RF, Blaas D, Fuchs R. Effect of Bafilomycin A1 and Nocodazole on Endocytic Transport in HeLa Cells: Implications for Viral Uncoating and Infection. J Virol 1998;72:9645–55.
- [363] Baravalle G, Schober D, Huber M, Bayer N, Murphy RF, Fuchs R. Transferrin recycling and dextran transport to lysosomes is differentially affected by bafilomycin, nocodazole, and low temperature. Cell Tissue Res 2005;320:99–113. doi:10.1007/s00441-004-1060-x.
- [364] Liu W, Fan LX, Zhou X, Sweeney WE, Avner ED, Li X. HDAC6 Regulates Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Endocytic Trafficking and Degradation in Renal Epithelial Cells. PLoS One 2012;7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049418.
- [365] Li H, Duan Z-W, Xie P, Liu Y-R, Wang W-C, Dou S-X, Wang P-Y. Effects of paclitaxel on EGFR endocytic trafficking revealed using quantum dot tracking in single cells. PLoS One 2012;7:e45465. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045465.
- [366] Hamm-Alvarez SF, Sonee M, Loran-Goss K, Shen WC. Paclitaxel and nocodazole differentially alter endocytosis in cultured cells. Pharm Res 1996;13:1647–56. doi:10.1023/A:1016432505275.
- [367] Holt LJ, Tuch BB, Villén J, Johnson AD, Gygi SP, Morgan DO. Global analysis of Cdk1 substrate phosphorylation sites provides insights into evolution. Science (80-) 2009;325:1682–6. doi:10.1126/science.1172867.
- [368] Olsen J V, Vermeulen M, Santamaria A, Kumar C, Miller ML, Jensen LJ, Gnad F, Cox J, Jensen TS, Nigg E a, Brunak S, Mann M. Quantitative phosphoproteomics reveals widespread full phosphorylation site occupancy during mitosis. Sci Signal 2010;3:ra3. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000475.

- [369] Zeive G, Turnbull D, Mullins J, McIntosh J. Production of large numbers of mitotic mammalian cells by use of the reversible microtubule inhibitor nocodazole. Exp Cell Res 1980;126:397–405.
- [370] Bjursell G, Reichard P. Effects of thymidine on deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate pools and deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 1973;248:3904–9.
- [371] Whittaker SR, Walton MI, Garrett MD, Workman P. The Cyclin-dependent Kinase Inhibitor CYC202 (R-Roscovitine) Inhibits Retinoblastoma Protein Phosphorylation, Causes Loss of Cyclin D1, and Activates the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway. Cancer Res 2004;64:262–72. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-0110.
- [372] Lara-Gonzalez P, Westhorpe FG, Taylor SS. The spindle assembly checkpoint. Curr Biol 2012;22:R966-80. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.006.
- [373] Li R, Murray AW. Feedback control of mitosis in budding yeast. Cell 1991;66:519–31. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(81)90015-5.
- [374] Holloway SL, Glotzer M, King RW, Murray AW. Anaphase is initiated by proteolysis rather than by the inactivation of maturation-promoting factor. Cell 1993;73:1393–402. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)90364-V.
- [375] Hornig NCD, Knowles PP, McDonald NQ, Uhlmann F. The dual mechanism of separase regulation by securin. Curr Biol 2002;12:973–82. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00847-3.
- [376] Waizenegger IC, Giménez-Abián JF, Wernic D, Peters JM. Regulation of human separase by securin binding and autocleavage. Curr Biol 2002;12:1368–78. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(02)01073-4.
- [377] Filby A, Perucha E, Summers H, Rees P, Chana P, Heck S, Lord GM, Davies D. An imaging flow cytometric method for measuring cell division history and molecular symmetry during mitosis. Cytometry A 2011;79:496–506. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.21091.
- [378] Zielke N, Edgar BA. FUCCI sensors: Powerful new tools for analysis of cell proliferation. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol 2015;4:469–87. doi:10.1002/wdev.189.
- [379] Singh AM, Trost R, Boward B, Dalton S. Utilizing FUCCI reporters to understand pluripotent stem cell biology. Methods 2016;101:4–10. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.09.020.
- [380] Duch A, De Nadal E, Posas F. Dealing with transcriptional outbursts during s phase to protect genomic integrity. J Mol Biol 2013;425:4745–55. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2013.08.019.
- [381] Chong CR, Jänne PA. The quest to overcome resistance to EGFR-targeted therapies in cancer. Nat Med 2013;19:1389–400. doi:10.1038/nm.3388.
- [382] Lurje G, Lenz H-J. EGFR Signaling and Drug Discovery. Oncology 2009;77:400–10. doi:10.1159/000279388.
- [383] Tong CWS, Wu WKK, Loong HHF, Cho WCS, To KKW. Drug combination approach to

overcome resistance to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors in lung cancer. Cancer Lett 2017;405:100–10. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2017.07.023.

- [384] Sano T, Takeuchi S, Nakagawa T, Ishikawa D, Nanjo S, Yamada T, Nakamura T, Matsumoto K, Yano S. The novel phosphoinositide 3-kinase-mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor, BEZ235, circumvents erlotinib resistance of epidermal growth factor receptor mutant lung cancer cells triggered by hepatocyte growth factor. Int J Cancer 2013;133:505–13. doi:10.1002/ijc.28034.
- [385] Donev IS, Wang W, Yamada T, Li Q, Takeuchi S, Matsumoto K, Yamori T, Nishioka Y, Sone S, Yano S. Transient PI3K inhibition induces apoptosis and overcomes HGFmediated resistance to EGFR-TKIs in EGFR mutant lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2011;17:2260–9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1993.
- [386] Yang W, Chung M, Kudo T, Meyer T. Competing memories of mitogen and p53 signalling control cell-cycle entry. Nature 2017. doi:10.1038/nature23880.
- [387] Kotak S, Busso C, Gönczy P. NuMA interacts with phosphoinositides and links the mitotic spindle with the plasma membrane. EMBO J 2014;33:1815–30. doi:10.15252/embj.201488147.
- [388] Brill JA, Wong R, Wilde A. Phosphoinositide function in cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2011;21. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.10.001.
- [389] Ben-Aissa K, Patino-Lopez G, Belkina N V., Maniti O, Rosales T, Hao JJ, Kruhlak MJ, Knutson JR, Picart C, Shaw S. Activation of moesin, a protein that links actin cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane, occurs by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) binding sequentially to two sites and releasing an autoinhibitory linker. J Biol Chem 2012;287:16311–23. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.304881.
- [390] Carreno S, Kouranti I, Glusman ES, Fuller MT, Echard A, Payre F. Moesin and its activating kinase Slik are required for cortical stability and microtubule organization in mitotic cells. J Cell Biol 2008;180:739–46. doi:10.1083/jcb.200709161.
- [391] Solinet S, Mahmud K, Stewman SF, El Kadhi K Ben, Decelle B, Talje L, Ma A, Kwok BH, Carreno S. The actin-binding ERM protein Moesin binds to and stabilizes microtubules at the cell cortex. J Cell Biol 2013;202:251–60. doi:10.1083/jcb.201304052.
- [392] Kunda P, Pelling AE, Liu T, Baum B. Moesin controls cortical rigidity, cell rounding, and spindle morphogenesis during mitosis. Curr Biol 2008;18:91–101. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.051.
- [393] Machicoane M, de Frutos CA, Fink J, Rocancourt M, Lombardi Y, Gare S, Piel M, Echard A. SLK-dependent activation of ERMs controls LGN-NuMA localization and spindle orientation. J Cell Biol 2014;205:791–9. doi:10.1083/jcb.201401049.
- [394] Hao JJ, Liu Y, Kruhlak M, Debell KE, Rellahan BL, Shaw S. Phospholipase C mediated hydrolysis of PIP2 releases ERM proteins from lymphocyte membrane. J Cell Biol 2009;184:451–62. doi:10.1083/jcb.200807047.

- [395] Canals D, Roddy P, Hannun Y a. Protein phosphatase 1 alpha mediates ceramide-induced ERM dephosphorylation: a novel mechanism independent of PIP2 and myosin/ERM phosphatase. J Biol Chem 2012:13–5. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.306456.
- [396] Narumiya S, Yasuda S. Rho GTPases in animal cell mitosis. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006;18:199–205. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2006.02.002.
- [397] Vasiliev JM, Omelchenko T, Gelfand IM, Feder HH, Bonder EM. Rho overexpression leads to mitosis-associated detachment of cells from epithelial sheets: a link to the mechanism of cancer dissemination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:12526–30. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404723101.
- [398] Maddox AS, Burridge K. RhoA is required for cortical retraction and rigidity during mitotic cell rounding. J Cell Biol 2003;160:255–65. doi:10.1083/jcb.200207130.
- [399] Nakashima M, Adachi S, Yasuda I, Yamauchi T, Kawaguchi J, Hanamatsu T, Yoshioka T, Okano Y, Hirose Y, Kozawa O, Moriwaki H. Inhibition of Rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase enhances the activation of epidermal growth factor receptor in pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Cancer 2011;10:79. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-10-79.
- [400] Cao X, Voss C, Zhao B, Kaneko T, Li SS-C. Differential regulation of the activity of deleted in liver cancer 1 (DLC1) by tensins controls cell migration and transformation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:1455–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.1114368109.
- [401] Tong J, Li L, Ballermann B, Wang Z. Phosphorylation and activation of RhoA by ERK in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. PLoS One 2016;11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0147103.
- [402] Arthur WT, Burridge K. RhoA inactivation by p190RhoGAP regulates cell spreading and migration by promoting membrane protrusion and polarity. Mol Biol Cell 2001;12:2711– 20. doi:10.1091/mbc.12.9.2711.
- [403] Kaneko T, Maeda A, Takefuji M, Aoyama H, Nakayama M, Kawabata S, Kawano Y, Iwamatsu A, Amano M, Kaibuchi K. Rho mediates endocytosis of epidermal growth factor receptor through phosphorylation of endophilin A1 by Rho-kinase. Genes to Cells 2005;10:973–87. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2443.2005.00895.x.
- [404] Soubeyran P, Kowanetz K, Szymkiewicz I, Langdon WY, Dikic I. Cbl–CIN85–endophilin complex mediates ligand-induced downregulation of EGF receptors. Nature 2002;416:183–7. doi:10.1038/416183a.
- [405] Jung YS, Qian Y, Chen X. Examination of the expanding pathways for the regulation of p21 expression and activity. Cell Signal 2010;22:1003–12. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2010.01.013.
- [406] Wee P, Wang Z. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Cell Proliferation. Cancers (Basel) 2017:1–45. doi:10.3390/cancers9050052.
- [407] Pyronnet S, Dostie J, Sonenberg N. Suppression of cap-dependent translation in mitosis. Genes Dev 2001;15:2083–93. doi:10.1101/gad.889201.

- [408] Le Breton M, Cormier P, Bellé R, Mulner-Lorillon O, Morales J. Translational control during mitosis. Biochimie, vol. 87, 2005, p. 805–11. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2005.04.014.
- [409] Hou J, Kam F, Proud CG, Wang S, Lam F, Proud CG, Wang S. Targeting Mnks for cancer therapy. Oncotarget 2012;3:118–31. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.453.
- [410] Mamane Y, Petroulakis E, Rong L, Yoshida K, Ler LW, Sonenberg N. eIF4E from translation to transformation. Oncogene 2004;23:3172–9. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207549.
- [411] Laplante M, Sabatini DM. MTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 2012;149:274–93. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.017.